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PREFACE.

OR some years past I, in common with many
others, have felt that all letters of interest and
accessible facts in connection with the early history
of the Truemans should be collected and put in per-
manent form, not because there is anything of interest
to the general public in the records of a family whose
members have excelled, if at all,in private rather
than in public life, but in order that the little
knowledge there is of the early history of the family
might not pass forever out of the reach of later
generations with the death of those whose memory
carries them back to the original settlers. In getting
together material necessary for the work, numbers of
interesting facts concerning other families came
inevitably to light. In order to preserve these facts,
and at the same time give the book a slightly wider
interest, I decided to write o short history of those
families connected by marriage with the first and
second gencrations of Truemans, and also, as far as
material was available, of the first settlers in the old
township of Cumberland, which now includes the
settlements of Fort Lawrence. Westmoreland Point,
Point de Bute, Jolicure, Bay Road, Bay Verte, Upper
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Tidnish and Port Elgin. Finally, as a kind of set-
ting for the whole, I have prefaced these records
with a brief outline of the early history of the Isthmus.

That the work falls far below the ideal goes with-
out saying. Anyone who has made the effort to
collect facts of local history knows how difficult it is
to get reliable information. In almost every case
where there was a conflict of opinton I have en-
deavored to verify my facts by light thrown on them
from different directions; but doubtless mistakes
will be found. By keeping the work in preparation
for a longer timne, more matter of interest could
certainly be added, and perhaps corrections made;
but to this there is no end, as the discovery of every
new item of interest reveals a whole series more to
investigate.

To all who have given me assistance warmest
thanks are tendered. To Dr. Ganong, of Northamp-
ton, Mass.; Judge Morse, Amherst; W. C. Milner,
Sackville; and Dr. Steel of Amherst, grateful ac-
knowledgment is especially due for their ready and
cheerful help. To Murdoch’s Nova Scotia, Hannay’s
Acadia and to Dixon's and Black’s family histories I
have also been indebted.



INTRODUCTION.,

HIS book needs no introduction to the people of

the Isthmus, whom it will inost interest. I shall

therefore attempt only to point out the plan the

present work will take in the general history of East-
ern Canada.

Mr. Trueman does not profess to have attempted a
complete history of the Isthmnus. The earlier periods,
prior to the coming of the Yorkshiremen, are so
replete with interest that a many times larger work
than the present would be necessary for their full
consideration, but Mr. Trueman has treated them with
sufficient fulness to show the historical conditions of
the country into which the Yorkshiremen came. Itis
the history of these Yorkshiremen and their descend-
ants which Myx. Trueman treats so fully and author-
itatively, and withal, from a local standpoint, so
interestingly ; and his work is the more valuable for
the reason that hitherto but little has been published
upon this subject. Some articles have appeared in
local newspapers, and there are references to it in the
provincial histories, but no attempt has hitherto been
made to treat the subject as it deserves. Those of us
who are interested in history from a more scientific
standpoint will regret that the material, particularly
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of the earlier part of the Yorkshire immigration
could not have been more documentary and less tradi-
tional, but that it is as here given is not Mr. Trueman’s
fault but a result of the nature of the case. It is not
impossible, by the way, that such documents may yet
be discovered, perhaps in some still unsuspected
archives. It is to be remembered, however, that to a
local audience, documents are of less interest than
tradition, and the genealogical phases of history, here
so fully treated, ave most interesting of all. Mr. True-
man seems to have sifted the traditicns with care, and
he certainly has devoted to his task an unsurpassed
knowledge of his subject, much loving labor, and no
small enthusiasm. I believe the local readers of hig
work will agree with me that this history could not
have fallen into more appropriate hands.

It does not seem to me that Mr. Trueman has
exaggerated the part played by the Yorkshiremen and
their descendants in our local history. Whileit is
doubtless too much to say that their loyalty saved
Nova Scotia (then including New Brunswick) to
Great Britain by their steadfastness at the time of the
Eddy incident in 1776, there can be no doubt that it
contributed largely to that result and rendered easy
the suppression of an uprising which would have
given the authorities very great trouble had it
succeeded. But there can be no question whatever as
to the value to the Chignecto region, and hence to all
this part of Canada, of this immigration of God-fear-
ing, loyal, industrious, progressive Yorkshiremen.
Although theyand their descendants have not ocecupied
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the places in life of greatest prominence, they have
been none the less useful citizens in contributing as
they have to the solid foundations of the upbuilding
of a great people.

It is of interest in this connection to note that
Mr. Trueman’s book, although preceded in Nova Scotia
by several county histories, is for New Brunswick,
with one or two exceptions (in Jack’s “ History of the
City of St. John,” and Lorimer’s pamphlet “ History of
the Passamaquiddy Islands”) the first history of a
limited portion of the Provinee to appear in book
form, although valuable newspaper series on local
history have been published. May it prove the leader
of a long series of such local histories which, let us
hope, will not cease to appear until every portion of
these interesting Provinces has beenadequately treated.

W. F. GANONG.
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THE CHIGNECTO ISTHMUS

CHAPTER L
THE CHIGNECTO ISTHMUS.

THE discovery of America added nearly a third

2 to the then known land surface of the earth,
and opened up two of its richest continents. If such
an extent of territory were thrown into the world’s
market to-day, the rapidity with which it would be
exploited and explored, and its wealth made tributary
to the world’s requirements, would astonish, if they
were here, the men who pioneered the settlement of
the new country and left so royal a heritage to their
descendants. To those who cross the Atlantic in the
great ocean linexs of our time, and think them
none too safe, the fleet with which Sir Humphrey
Gilbert crossed the sea to plant his colony in the new
land must seem a frail protection indeed against the
dangers of the westera ocean.

Perhaps in no way can the progress made since the
beginning of the nineteenth certury be more forcibly
brought before the mind than by comparing the
immense iron steamships of the present day with the
small wooden vessels with which commerce was
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carried on and battles were fought and won a hundred
and fifty years ago.

The Isthmus of Chignecto separates the waters of
the Bay of Fundy from those of Bay Verte, and con-
stibutes the neck of land which saves Nova Scotia
from being an island. It is seventeen miles between
the two bays at the narrowest point, and considering
the town of Amherst the south-eastern limit, and the
village of Sackville the north-western, it may be put
down as & little less than ten miles in width.

The southern slope is drained by four tidal rivers
or creeks, namely, La Planche, Missiquash, Aulac
and the Tantramar. These rivers empty into Cum-
berland Basin,and their general course is from north-
east to south-west. In length they are from twelve
to fifteen miles, and run through narrow valleys, the
soil of which is made up largely from a rich sediment
carried by the tide from the muddy waters of the
basin. These valleys are separated from each other
by ridges of high land ranging from one hundred to
one hundred and fifty feet above the sea level.

The Tidnish River, and several streams emptying
into the Bay Verte, drain the Isthmus on its northern
slope. The Missiquash and Tidnish rivers, each for
some part of its course, form the boundary between
the Provinces of Nova Scotia and New Brunswick.
The tides at the head of the Bay of Fundy rise to
the height of sixty feet, or even higher, and are said
to be the highest in the world. The mud deposit
from the overflow of these tidal waters, laid down
along the river valleys, is from one foot to eighty feet
deep, varying as the soil beneath rises and. falls.
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Between Sackville and Amherst there is an area of
some fifty thousand acres of these alluvial lands, re-
claimed and unreclaimed. Some of this marsh has
been cutting large crops of hay for one hundred and
fifty years, and there is no evidence of diminished
fertility, although no fertilizer has been used in that
time ; other sections have become exhausted and the
tide has been allowed to overflow them. This treat-
ment will restore them to their original fertility.

Cartier was the first of the early navigators to
drop anchor in & New Brunswick harbor. This was
in the sumimer of 1534, and the place was on the Gulf
of St. Lawrence, near the mouth of the Miramichi
River. This was on the 30th of June. Landing the
next day and finding the country well wooded, he
was delighted and spoke of it in glowing terms.

The first white men to visit the Isthmus with a
view to trade and settlement came from Port Royal
in the summer of 1612.

In 1670, Jacob Bourgeois, a resident of Port Royal,
and a few other restless spirits, were the first to make
a permanent secttlement. These were followed by
another contingent under the leadership of Pierre
Arsenault.

In 1676, the King of France gave a large grant of
territory in Jdeadia to a Freneh nobleman, Michael
Le Neuf, Sicur de La Valliere.  This grant included
all the Chigneeto Isthmus. Tonges Island, a small
islet in the marsh near the mouth of the Missquash
River, is ealled Isle La Vullitre on the old maps, and
was probably accupied by La Vallitre himsel{ when
he lived on the Isthmus.
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From this date Chignecto began to take a promi-
nent place in the history of Acadia, and continued for
a2 hundred and fifty years to be one of the principal
centres of influence under the rule both of France
and Great Britain.

It was here that France made her last stand for
the possession of Acadia. It was here that Jonathan
Eddy, twenty ycars later, raised the standard of the
revolted colonies, and made a gallant but unsuccessful
effort to carry Nova Scotia over to the rebel cause.

From 1713 to 1750 was the most prosperous
period of the French occupation. The population
inereased rapidly for those times. The market at
Louisbourg furnished an outlet for the surplus pro-
duce of the soll. The wants of the people were few.
The Acadians were thrifty and frugal, the rod and
gun supplying a large part of the necessaries of
life in many a home. The complaint was made by
these who at that time were intercsted in the circu-
lation of the King's silver that the people hoarded it
up, and once they got posse.sion of it the public were
never allowed to see it again. The houses were smail
and descitute of many of the furnishings their de-
scendants now think indispensable, but perhaps they
enjoyed life quite as well as those of later generations.

Bayx Verte at this time was a place of considerable
importance. The Abbt Le Loutre lived here a part
of the time, and owned a store kept by an agent.
The trade between Quelice and Louishourgr and the
settlements on the Isthmus was carrivd on through
the Port of Bay Verte, and from here the farmers of
Chigmecto shipped their cattle and farm products.
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The Acadians were quick to see the benefits that
would arise from reclaiming the rich river valleys,
and they drew their revenues chiefly from this land.
They did not readily take to the cutting down of the
forests and preparing the upland for growing crops;
they were more at home with the dyking-spade than
the axe. A description of their methods of dyking
and constructing aboideaux, written in 1710, is
interesting to those who are doing the same work
now.

The writer of 1710 says: “They stopped the cur-
rent of the sea by creating large dykes, which they
called aboideaux. The method was to plant five or
six large trees in the places where the sea enters the
marshes, and between each row to lay down other
trees lengthways on top of each other, and £l
the vacant places with mud so well beaten down
that the tide could not pass through it. In the
middle they adjusted w flood-gate in such a way as
to allow the water from the marsh to flow out at . w
water without permitting the water from the sea to
flow in at high tide” The writer adds that the
work was cxpensive, but the second year's crop re-
paid them for the outlay. This is more than can he
said for present-day experience in the same kind of
work.

The land reclaimed on the Aulac was confined
principally to the upper portion of the river. The
Abbi* Le Loutre saw that the benefit would be great
if this river were dammed near its mouth, and he was
at work at a large aboideau, for which he had re-
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ceived money from France, when the fall of Beau-
séjour forever put a stop to his enterprise.

Wheat seems to have grown very abundantly on
the warsh when it was first dyked, judging from the
census reports of those days and the traditions
handed down. .

The old French maps of 1750 and earlier show
settlements at Beaubassin (Fort Lawrence), Cont
2 Buot (Point de Bute), Le Lac (Jolicure), We-He-
Kauk (Westeock), We-He-Kauk-Chis (Little West-
cock), Tantramar (Upper Sackville), Pré Du Bourge
(Middle Sackville), We-He-Kage (Amherst Point) and
Amherst or Upper Amherst, Vill-La-Butte, and La
Planche. There were settlements also at Macean,
Nappen and Minudic. The statcment that the vil-
lage of Beaubassin, in 1750, contained & hundred and
forty houses, and a population numbering a thousand,
scems improbable under the circumstances.

Fort Lawrence, the site of old Beaubassin, contains
to-day less than forty houses, and not more than three
hundred inhabitants, yet more land is under culti-
vation now than in any previous time in its history.
It is highly probable thet the whole population on
the south side of the Isthmus was reckoned as be-
longing to Beaubassin. |

There is gond reason for saying that the popu-
Iation of the distriet embraced in the parish of,
Westmoreland, exeepting Port  Elgin, was  much
larger from 1730 to 1755 than it has cver heen
sinee.

The Scigneur La Vallitre was, no doubt, the most

14
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prominent man, politically, on the Isthmus during
the French period. He was appointed commandant
of Acadia in 1678, by Count Frontenac, and just
missed being made governor. He was a man of
broader views than most of his contemporaries.
He encouraged trade, and was willing that others
beside his own countrymen should reap the benefits
if they were ready to pay the price. He antici-
pated the modus vivendi system now in force
between this country and the United States in
dealing with the fisheries, and instead of keeping a
large fleet to patrol the coast and drive the English
from the fishing ground, he charged them a license
fee of five pistoles (about twenty-five dollars) for each
vessel, thus giving them a free hand in the business.

La Vallitre’s farm was probably on the island
marked on the old maps, “ Isle La Vallitre,” and here
he lived when not in other parts of the colony on
public business. He had a son called Beaubassin,
who was always ready to take a hand in any expe-
dition that required courage and promised danger.
In 1703, this Beaubassin was the leader of a party of
French and Indians that attacked Casco and would
have captured the place but for the timely arrival of
a British man-of-war.

On the 11th April, 1713, the Treaty of Utrecht
was signed. This gave all Nova Scotia, or Acadia,
comprehended within its ancient houndaries, as also the
city of Port Royal, now called Annapolis Royal, to
the Queen of Great Britain.  The English elaimed this
to include all the territory cast of a line drawn from



THE CHIGNECTO ISTHMUS, 19

porth of the Kennebee River to Quebee, taking in all
the south shore of the St. Lawrcence, Gaspe, the
Island of St John, and Cape Breton. The French
contended that Acadia only included the southern
half of the present Province of Nova Scotia. Views
so divergent held by the contracting partics to an
agreement, could scarcely fail to produce irritation
and ultimately result in war.

In 1740, the Abb¢é Le Loutre, Vicar-General of
Acadia, under the Bishop of Quebee, and missionary
to the Miemacs, came to Acadia to take charge of his
mission. It soon became apparent that the Rev.
Father was more anxious to advance the power and
prestige of the King of France than he was to
minister to the spiritual elevation of the benighted
Indians. The course pursued by the Ablé defeated
the end he had in view. His aim was to make
Acadia a French colony : but in reality he helped to
make it the most loyal British territory in North
America.

The successful raid of de Villiers, in the winter of
1747, convinced the English that so long as Chignecto
was in possession of the French, and was used as a
base of operations te defy the English Government,
there could be no lasting peace or security for settlers
of British blond.  Taking this view of the matter,
Governor Cornwallis determined to take measures to
drive the French from the Isthimus,  The unsettled
state of the French population through the Frovinee
contributed to this decision.

In November; 1754, Governor Lawrence wrote to
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Shirley, at Boston, that he had reason to believe the
French were contemplating ageressive measures ab
‘Chignecto, and he thought it was quite timne an effort
was made to drive them fromn the north side of the
Bay of Fundy. Col. Monckton carried this letter to
Governor Shirley. The governor entirely agreed
with the suggestion it contained, and had already
taken some steps to bring about so desirable an end
to the troubles the Government was experiencing on
the Isthmus.

The matter was kept as secret as possible, but
efforts were immediately made to raise a force to
capture Fort Beauséjour, the new fort built by the
French on the high ground overlooking Beaubassin,
on the north-west side of the Missiquash. So sue-
cessful were they in getting up the expedition that,
on the 23rd of May, everything was ready and the
force set sail from Boston.

The expedition numbered two thousand men, under
the command of Lieut.-Col. Monckton, with Lieu-
tenants Winslow and Scott under him. They called
at Annapolis, and were joined there by three hun-
dred regulars of Warburton’s regiment, and got a
small train of artillery. Fort Lawrence* was reached

*The fort at Fort Lawrence, was situnate on the high land that
separates the valleys of the Missiquash and La Planche rivers,
a little less than two miles distant from Fort Beauséjour. It
was constructed in the month of September, 1750,  Licutenant-
Colonel Lawrence arrived at the Isthmus with a strong force,
consisting of the 48th Regiment, and three hundred men of the
4ith Regiment.  *The Indians and some of the French were
rash enough to oppuse the landing of so formidable a body of
troops, but they were driven off after a sharp skivmish, in which
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on 2nd June, and the next day all the troops were
landed and camped around the fort.

Vergor, the French General in command at Beausé-
jour, called on all the Acadians capable of bearing
arms to come into the fort and assist in its defence.
The Acadians, however, would not obey this ovder
unless Vergor would make a refusal to comply pun-
ishable with death. Thiswould give them an excuse
with which to meet the English if the fort were
taken.

On the 4th June, the English broke camp and
marched north from Fort Lawrence, a distance of
about two miles along the ridge of high land; then,
entering the Missiquash valley, they crossed over to
Pont & Buot, or Buot’s Bridge, which spanned the
Missiquash River. This bridge was near what is now
Point de Bute Corner. Here the French had a block-
house garrisoned with thirty men. There was also a
breastwork of timber. This place was defended for
an hour by the French, and then, setting fire to the
little fort, they left the English to cross over without
opposition. The victorious force camped that night
on the Point de Bute side of the Missiquash River.

At this day it is difficult to account for the slight
value the Acadian seemed to place upon his home.
He appears to have been always ready to set it on
fire at the least danger of its falling into the hands
of the English. The sixty houses that stood between

the English lost about twenty killed and wounded.™ A short dis-
tance from where they landed Colonel Lawrence erected a picketal
fort with block-bouses, which was named for himself. A garrison
of six hundred men was maintained here until the fall of Beauséjour.
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Buot’s Bridge and Beauséjour all went up in flame
that night, fired by the French soldiers as they
retived before the English.

From the 4th until the 13th of June the English
were engaged in cutting roads, building bridges,
transporting cannon, and getting these into position
north of the fort, on the high ground, within shelling
distance. During this time the French had been
strengthening their defences and making other ar-
rangements for withstanding a seige. The Abbé Le
Loutre ceased work on his “abatean” and set his men
to assist at the fort.

Scouting parties from either camp met once or
twice, and the Indians captured an English officer
named Hay, who was passing from Fort Lawrence to
the English camp.

On the 13th the English threw a few shells into
the fort, and continued to shell the place on the 14th,
without much apparent result. On that day Vergor
received tidings that no help could be sent from
Louisbourg. This news was more disastrous to the
TFrench than the English shells. The Acadians lost
all heart and began to slip away into the woods
and the settlements to the northward.

The next day, the 15th, larger shells were thrown,
some falling into the fort. One shell killed the Eng-
lish officer, Hay, who was a prisoner, and several
TFrench officers, while they were at breakfast. This
decided the matter. Vergor sent an officer to Monck-
ton asking for a suspension of hostilities. That
afternoon the following terms of surrender were
agreed upon :
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“1st. The commandant, officers, staff and others
employed for the King and garrison of Beauséjour,
shall go out with arms and baggage, drums beating.
2nd. The garrison shall be sent to Louisbourg at the
expense of the King of Great Britain. 8rd. The
Governor shall have provisions sufficient to last them
until they get to Louisbourg. 4th. As to the Aca-
dians, as they were forced to bear arms under pain
of death, they shall be pardoned. 5th. The garrison
shall not bear arms in America for the space of six
months. 6th. The forcgoing are granted on con-
dition that the garrison shall surrender to the troops
of Great Britain by 7 p.an. this afternoon. Signed,
Robert Monckton. At the camp before Beauséjour,
16th June, 1755.”

As soon as the British were in possession at
Beausdjour, Monckton sent a detachment of three
hundred men, under Col. Winslow, to demand the
surrender of the fort at Bay Verte. Capt. Villeray
accepted the same terms as Vergor, and on the 18th
of June, 1755, the Isthmus passed for ever out of the
possession of the King of France. A large amount
of supplies was found in both forts.

Monckton changed the name of Fort Beauséjour to
Fort Cumberland, in honor of the Royal Duke who
won the victory at Culloden, and as it was a much
better fort than the one on the south side of the Mis-
siquash, the troops were ordered to remain at Fort
Cumberland.

This fort stands in a commanding position on the
south-west summit of the high ridge of upland that
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senarates the Missiquash from the Aulac valley. It
was a fort of five bastions, with casemates, and was
capable of accommodating eight hundred men. It
mounted thirty guns. After it fell into the hands of
the English it was greatly improved. A stone
magazine (a part of which is still standing) was built
outside the southern embankment. The moat was
excavated to a much greater depth. Of late years
the place has been shamefully neglected. On account
of its historic associations many yearly visit the
“Qld Fort,” and efforts have been made to enclose
the grounds and make them more presentable.

The Acadians were still to be dealt with. Whether
they should remain in the country and in the pos-
session of their lands depended entirely on whether
they would take the oath of allegiance to the Crown
of Great Britain. This one condition accepted, they
would be guaranteed all the privileges and immu-
nities of British subjects. They refused, and the
Expulsion followed. It was a hard and cruel measure,
but they had had forty years of grace, and those
who had thus long borne with them now decided
their day of grace had ended.

One hundred and fifty years have since passed,
but we find the Acadians are still here and are
exercising an influence in Canada that is felt in all
its Provinces. They are British subjects now, how-
ever, and while they have not lost their love for the
country from which they sprang, nor for the flag for
which their ancestors sacrificed so much, they are
ready to stand by the Empire of Britain in war as

" well as in peace.
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CHAPTER II.

THE NEW ENGLAND IMMIGRATION.

1755-1770.

HE expulsion of 1755 left the population of old
Acadia so depleted that the Governor and
Council felt that something must be done at once to
add to its numbers. The first move in this direction
was to offer exceptional advantages to the New
England soldiers, who constituted the largest part of
the force at the taking of Beauséjour, if they would
remain in the country. Very few, however, accepted
the offer, and as the unsettled state of the country
between 1755 and 1760 was most unfavorable to
immigration, but little progress was made till the
next decade.

Daring these years wandering bands of Acadians
and Indians harrassed the English, shooting and sealp-
ing whenever opportunity offered. At Bay Verte,
in the spring of 1753, nine soldiers, belonging to a
party under Lieutenant Bowan, were shot and
scalped while out getting wood for the fort. Colonel
Scott, commandant at Cumberland, immediately sent
two hundred of the New England men to Bay Verte
with a sergeant and ten men of the regulars. The
sergeant veplaced the men who were killed, and
caused three weeks’ supply of wood to be laid in.
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Shortly after this one of the regulars was killed, and
one of the New England men was taken prisoner.
These men had strayed in the woods down as far as
the Tantramar with these unfortunate results.

In 1759, Governor Lawrence wrote from Halifax
to the Board of Trade that “five soldiers had been
killed and scalped near Fort Cumberland, and that a
provision vessel had been boarded by French and
Indians in the Bay of Fundy and carried up the
River Petitcodiac.” The five men were ambushed and
killed in Upper Point de Bute, near a bridge that
crossed a ravine on the farm now owned by Amos
Trueman.

Up to this time the government of Nova Scotia
was vested in a governor and council. This year,
1758, it was decided by the Home Government to
allow the Province a Legislative Assembly. The
Assembly was to consist of twenty-two members,
twelve to be elected by the Provinee at large, four
for the township of Halifax, four for the towuship
of Lunenburg, one for Dartmouth, one for Lawrence-
town, one for Anmnapolis, and one for Cuwanberland.
Fifty qualified electors would constitute a township.
The township elections were to continue during two
days, and those for the Province four days.

The Assembly met for the first time on October
2nd, 1758. Nineteen members were present. This
makes the Legislature of Halifax the oldest in the
Dominion of Canada. This year, also, Governor
Lawrence issued his first proclamation inviting the
New Englanders to come to Nova Scotia and settle
on the vacated Acadian farms.

-
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This proclamation created a great deal of interest
and inquiry, and finally led to a considerable number
of New England farmers settling in different parts
of the Province, Chignecto getting a good share of
them. The first proclamation had, however, to be
supplemented by a second, in which full liberty of
conscience and the right to worship as they pleased
was secured to Protestants of all denominations.
This guarantee was not included in Lawrence’s first
invitation to the New Englanders, and the descend-
ants of the Puritans had not read in vain the his-
tory of the sacvifices made by their forefathers to
worship in their own way.

In July, 1759, Edward Mott, representing a com-
mittee of agents from Connecticut, arrived at Halifax
and was given a schooner to proceed to Chignecto, to
examine that part of the Province with a view to
settlement. Mr. Mott and his party returned some
months later and suggested some changes in the pro-
posed grants, which were conceded by the Govern-
ment.

It was estimated at this time that two thousand fam-
ilies could be comfortably settled in the distriets of
Chignecto, Cobequid, Pisquid, Minas and Annapolis.
This wvear (1759) persons in (‘onnecticut and Rhode
Island sent Major Dennison, Jonathan Harris, James
Otis, James Fuller, and John Hicks, to Halifax to
look out for desirable locations for settlement in the
Province. Messrs. Hicks and Fuller decided to tuke
up lands at Pisquid or Windsor.

From this time till 1766 the desire shown by resi-
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dents of New England to settle in Nova Scotia was
very marked, and resulted in adding considerably to
the population of the Province.

In May, 1761, Captain Dogget was directed to
bring twenty families and sixty head of cattle. The
cattle were to be brought from the eastern part of
New England to Liverpool, N.S, at the expense of
the Government. Thirty-five pounds also was granted
to transport twenty families with seventy-nine head
of cattle to the township of Amherst. In 1763, a
number of families came to Sackville and were given
grants of land by the Government. These Sackville
emigrants were adherents of the Baptist Church and
brought their minister with them. The denomina-
tion is still strong in that locality. A number of these
emigrants, however, returned at the beginning of the
Revolutionary War, and others after the war was
over.

The townships of Cumberland, Amherst, and Sack-
ville were established in 1763. The township of
Cumberland had an area of 100,800 acres. It included
all the territory between the La Planche and Aulac
Rivers, and extended east to Bay Verte and south-
west to the Cumberland Basin. Old Beauséjour, now
Fort Cumberland, was within the township of Cum-
berland.

Ambherst township is said to have had a population
at this time of thirty families, and Cumberland of
thirty-five families. The township of Cumberland of
was given 18,800 acres of marsh, and Sackville had
1,200 acres of marsh and 8,700 acres of woodland.
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In 1763, a number of the leading mem in Cumber-
land met together and appointed a committee to
draft a memorial to the Governor, asking the privi-
lege of sending a representative to the Assembly at
Halifax. The request was granted, and Joshua
Winslow was chosen as the first representative of the
township. Colonel Fry had previous to this time
represented Cumberland in the Assembly, but he was
not elected by the people. The following is the text
of the memorial :

“To the Honourable Montague Wilmot, Esquire,
Lieutenant-Governor and Commander-in-Chief of His
- Majesty’s Province of Nova Scotia, and Colonel of
one of His Majesty’s regiments of foot, ete., ete., ete.

“The inhabitants of the town of Cumberland, in
Nova Scotia, beg leave to congratulate Your Honour
on your appointment by His Majesty to the chief
command of this Province and in your safe arrival
therein.  Although remote from the Capital,. and
perhaps last in our addresses, yet we flatter ourselves
not the least sincere in assuring Your Honour of the
happiness we feel in finding ourselves under your
government,.

“It would give us particular satisfaction was it in
your power to look upon ourselves in the same light
with the other towns in the Province. But as we
are yet destitute of that sanction which would put us
on the same footing with our neighbours, we cannot
help presuming upon the liberty of signifying to
Your Honour our regret thereat, and praying that
you will be pleased to permit the solution of our
affairs to be laid before you, not doubting but upon a
Jjust representation thereof you will be pleased to
think we are deserving in common with the other
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settlements of Your Honour’s countenance and pro-
tection.  We beg to rely on your goodness therein.

“ By desire of the inhabitants,

“ (Signers),

Jolm Huston (Ch.).  Elijjah Ayer.
Wi Allen. Josiahh Throop.
J. Winslow. Jos. Morse.
Abel Richardson.

“ CUMBERLAXD, Nov. Ist, 1763.”

Although thirty-five families had settled in Cum-
berland at this time, and six hundred aeres of land
had been cleared of tiuber, the larger part of the
land was still held by the Government.  Application
was therefore made in this year by the following
persons for grants of land in Cumberland :

GRANTEES NAMES.

Joseph Morse.
Elijah Ayoen
Josiah Throop.
John Huston.
James Law.
Sara Jones,
Obedialt Ayer.
Willinm How.

Arch. Hinshelwod,

Samuel Danks.
Zelulonn Rowe
Henry King.

Joshaa Winslow.
Jesse.Bent.
Gamaliel Smethurst.
Sennacherib Martyn.
Abel Richardson.
William Best, Sr.
Willinm Neshit.
Windser Eager.
Gideon”Gardner.
Thomas Dickson,
John King.

Joshua Best.

—
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Jonathan Cole.
Jonathan Eddy.
Alex. Huston,
Thomas Proctor.
William Allan.
Daniel Gooden.
Ebenezer Storer.
Benine Danks.
John Allan.
Charles Qulton.
David
Daniel Earl.
Anthony Burk.
John Fillmore.

Samuel Raymond

John Collins.
Thomas Clews.
Abel Richardson.

Winkworth Allen.

Lifty Chappell.
The Glebe.
The School.

Elicu Gardner.
William Huston.
Simeon Charters.
Brouk Watson.
Jonathan Gay.
Martin Peck.

John Walker.
Henry M. Bonnell.
Amos Fuller.
Samnuel Gay.
Assell Danks.
Isaae Danks.
Ebenczer
Rohert Watson.

Williamm Welch.

William Sutherland.
Nehemiah Ward.

Joseph Ayer.

William Milluarn.

George Allan

Jabez Chappell.

The Presbyterian Minister

Col. Joseph Morse was a native of Delham, Mass,
and took an active part in the Seven Years’” War
He lost heavily in the expedition against Oswego,
In crossing the Atlantic he was captured by the
French, and obtained a good taste of the quality of
Freneh dungeons, in which his health hecame shattered.
He was exchanged, after which he visited Loudon
and reevived many marks of personal favor at the
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hands of George II, amongst these a pension, and
tracts of land in Virginia and Nova Scotia. His last
days were spent in Fort Lawrence, where he settled
after the expulsion of the French. He left one son,
Alpheus, and a daughter, Olive. The former married
Theodora, o sister of Col. Jonathan Crane the father
of Hon. Wm. Crane; the latter married Col. Wm.
Eddy, of Revolutionary fame, who was afterwards
killed in the British attack on Machais, and the Fort
Lawrence property inherited by his wife was
escheated to the Crown. After Alpbeus Morse’s
death his widow married Major How, an officer in
Eddy’s command. Upon the failure of vhe rebellion,
Mrs. How and Mrs. Eddy fled to the United States.
Alpheus Morse’s sons were Alpheus, James, Joseph,
Silas, and John. The two first lived in Cumberland,
where their descendants are still found. Judge
Morse and Dr. Morse, of Amherst, are sons of James.
Joseph emigrated to Ohio, where his descendants
now live. Silas married & sister of Judge Alexander
Stewart, C.B. Among his descendants are Sir Charles
Tupper’s family, Rev. Richards Simmonds’ family, and
Charles Fullerton, K.C. John Morse married a
daughter of Sheriff Charles Chandler, the father of
Lieutenant-Governor Chandler. Among his descend-
ants are the family of the late Judge Morse of Dal-
housie, and the C. Milner family of Sackville. A
daughter of Alpheus Morse married Judge Stewart.
Among his descendants are Judge Townsend of
Halifax, and Senator Dickey's famnily of Amherst.
There were three Ayers—Elijah, Obedialh and

——
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Joseph—who came with the emigration of 1763 and
settled in Sackville. Obediah joined the Eddy
rebels in 1776, and was made a commodore by the
Continental Congress after he left Cumberland. The
Ayers in Sackville are descendants of these grantees.

Josiah Throop was an engineer in the British
army. He surveyed the township of Cumberland,
and Throop’s plan is still referred to. His grant was
in Upper Point de Bute, where some of his descend-
ants still live. He represented the township in the
Halifax Assembly in 1765.

There were three Hustons—John, Williamm and
Alexander. They lived near Fort Cumberland. The
name occurs still in the county of Cumberland.

Joshua Winslow, as we have stated, was the
first representative sent from Cumberland to the
Legislature at Halifax, and was a member of the Wins-
low family, so distinguished in colonial history. He
was engaged at Chignecto with Capt. Huston, in the
commissary business. The latter in one of his
trips to Boston picked up a waif in the person of
Brook Watson, a young man who had had one of his
legs bitten off by a shark in West-Indian waters.
Watson was trained under Winslow, and the founda-
tion of his success was hereby laid. General Joshua
was Commissary-General of the British in Nova
Scotia. He left Fort Cumberland in 1783. He was
paymaster of the troops in Quebec in 1791 and died
there ten years later. A grandson of his, a Mr.
Trott, lives at Niagara Falls in a fine old colonial
mansion full of treasures of the Colonial period, with

many relics and personal effects of General Winslow.
3
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The Bents were from New England. There were
two brothers, John and Jesse. John settled in Am-
herst and Jesse in Fort Lawrence. There are a Jarge
aumber of their desecendants in the country.

Gamaliel Smethurst represented the county of
Cumberland at Halifax, in 1770. He returned to
England and published a book in London, in 1774,
deseribing a voyage from Nepisiquit to Cumberland.
None of this name, so far as we know, now reside in
the country.

Sennacherib Martyn was a captain in Winslow’s ex-
pedition to capture Fort Beauséjour. He brought
with him to Westmoreland Point, as slaves, a negro
family, to whom he afterwards gave their freedom,
and gave them also his name (now spelled Martin).
Captain  Martyn married the widow Oulton and
settled in Jolicure. He was godfather to George and
Elizabeth, the children of Col. William Allan.

James Law was a commissary at the fort and a
colonel of militia. He was a large property owner
in Point de Bute on both sides of the ridge. Reverses
of fortune came, and finally he died a parish charge.

Benoni Danks represented the county of Cumber-
land at the Halifax Asse ubly. Tradition says his
death was caused by falling into the hold of a vessel.
The Danks left the country about the year 1830.

Thomas Dickson was born in Dublin, and came to
Connecticut when an infant.  He married & Wethered.

The Kings were from New England.  They scttled
in Fort Lawrence, and from there removed to dif-
ferent parts of the country.
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Jonathan Cole lived on Cole’s Island and gave his
name to the place. He had two sons, Martin and
Ebenezer, the former of whom settled at Rockport
and the latter at Dorchester. The name is still in
the county.

William Allan was a Scotchman who came to Hali-
fax with the party that founded that place in 1749.
He soon after came to Cumberland. John and Wink-
worth Allan were his sons. His grant was in Upper
Point de Bute, where his son John lived when he was
sheriff of (fumberland.

George Allan was a son of William Allan. He had
a gson George, and all the other Allans are the de-
scendants of the first William. Winkworth Allan
went back to England end Lecame a rich merchant.

Brook Watson lived with lis Uncle Huston for ¢
time, and was emplo ed by the Government to assist
in the Expulsion. He afterwards left the country,
going to London, where he was remarkably successful
in business, and among other honors became Lord
Mayor of the city.

Jonathan and Samuel Gay were brothers. Jona-
than returned to New England, but Samuel remained
in the country settling near the old Fort Beauséjour.
He was a very large man, measuring six feet six
inches i..  zight, and broad in proportion. Samuel
was afterwards made a judge. It is said that Judge
Gay’s daughter Fanny was in Boston at the time of
the sea duel between the Nrannon and the Chesa-
peake, and was with the erowd that lined the shore
awaiting the resull. When the news came that the
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British had won, she threw up her bonnet and
cheered for the victors, greatly to the annoyance of
the Americans.

Daniel Gooden was a soldier in the British army,
and after his discharge settled in Bay Verte, where
numbers of his descendants still live.

Charles Oulton remained in Cumberland, and a
large number of his descendants are still living in the
county of Westmoreland.

David Burnham remained, and a number of his
descendants lived in Sackville and Bay Verte for a
good many years. The name has now disappeared.

John Fillmore was from New England, and settled
in Jolicure. He had a large family of sons and they
settled in different parts of the Province. The name
is still in frequent evidence.

The descendants of Samuel Raymond live in
King’s County.

The two Chappells, Liffy and Jabez settled in
Bay Verte and Tidnish. The name is still common in
these localities.

John Walker’s grant was on Bay Verte Road,
where the name was found until quite recently.

The Bonnells remained in the county for a time,
but afterwards removed to King’s County, where the
name still caists.

Amos Fuller remained and the name is yet found
in the county of Cumberland.

The Watsons settled in Fort Lawrence and were
very successful in business. The Eddy rebels, under
Commodore Ayer, sacked Mr. Watson’s premises one



Q‘h-.‘i_

THE NEW ENGLAND IMMIGRATION. 37

night and took the old gentleman prisoner, com-
pelling him to carry a keg of rum to the vessel for
the benefit of the sailors.

William Welch remained in the country, and his
descendants are still here.

The Wards were from New England, and remained
in the country. Nehemiah lived in Sackville and kept
a tavern near the IFour Corners.

Simeon Charters was from New England and re-
mained in the country. The name is still in the
Province.

The Abel Richardson family came from New Eng-
land. The Yorkshire family of Richardson, whose
descendants are still in Sackville, did not settle there
until some years later.

The Bests were a New England family and the
name is still in the country.

William Nesbit remained and the name is -.ow
found in Albert County.

Axchibald Hinshelwood left the country.

The Roe name is still in Cumberland.

William How was probably son of the How that
was shot by the Indians under a flag of truce.

None of the Proctor family now remain in the
county.

There is no information about any of the follow-
ing grantees: Gideon Gardner, Sara Jones, Ebe-
nezer Storer, Daniel Earl, Anthony Burk. Windser
Eager was from Dumfries, Scotland.

It is a matter of surprise that so many names to
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be found in the lists of a hundred years ago have so
completely disappeared.

A large number of families who came from New
England abt this time settled on the St. John River.
They called their settlement Maugerville. The name
Suubury was subsequently given to the whole of the
Province west of Cumberland County.

The Hon. Charles Burpee, of Sheffield, writes me
that there were about two hundred families who at
this time found homes along the river. Some of their
names were: Perley, Barker, Burpee, Stickney, Smith,
Wasson, Bridges, Upton, Palmer, Coy, Estey, Esta-
brooks, Pickard, Hayward, Nevers, Hartt, Kenney,
Coburn, Plummer, Sage, Whitney, Quinton, Moore,
McKeen, Jewett.

Simonds and White came to St. John some three or
four years Lefore the others. The Rev. Mr. Noble
was there before the Revolution, but he did not come
with the first settlers.

Laxgely through the influence of the Loyalists, in
1784, the Province of New Brunswick was set off
from Nova Scotia, and the Missiquash River made
the boundary between the two Provinces. This
division cut the old township of Cumberland into two
halves. Those who conducted the business for New
Brunswick wanted the line at La Planche, or further
east, while the Nova Scotians wanted it at the Aulac or
further west. They compromised on the Missiquash.*

*The establishment of the Missiynash as the boundary between
the two Provinces was eminently satisfactory to New Brunswick,
but not so to Nova Scotiy, as the latter Provinee at once vigovously
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This division made some trouble in nomenclature and
has puzzled a good many persons since that date. The
part of the old township of Cumberland on the west
of the Missiquash became the parish of Westmoreland,
in the county of Westmoreland. Fort Cumberland was
in this distriet, and between Fort Cumberland and the
old township of Cumberland, and the still older
county of Cumberland, which once embraced the
present Westmoreland and Albert counties, and the
present county of Cumberland in Nova Scotia, there
was a good deal of confusion. A number of years
passed before Cumberland Point came to be called
Westmorecland Point.

The following facts are taken from the anniversary
number of the Chignecto Post, 1895 :

“On the 15th August, 1761, Captain Benoni Danks,

protested against it, and did not seem inclined to give up agitating
for a change.  In 1792 the House of Assembly of Nova Scotia pre-
sented an address to the Licutenant-Governor, in which they say
““there is a very pressing necessity of an alteration in the division
line, between this and the neighboring Provinee of New Brunswick.”
This agitation for a change in the houndary was kept up for several
years, and in the correspondence, three other lines are suggested by
Nova Scotia as being preferable to the one that had been alveady
chosen.

The first of these was one from the head of the tide on the Petit-
codiae to the head of the tide on the Restigouche River. A second
from the head of the tide on the Memramcook by a certain magnetic
line to the salt water of Cocagne Harbor, and the third by the
course of the Aulac River to its head, and thenee by a given compass
line to the Gulf of St. Lawrence.

The present line was last surveyed by Alex. Munroe in 1839,
under Commissioner James Steadman, Ex., acting for New Bruns-
wick, and Joseph Avard, Esj., for Nova Scotia.  The line is thus
described by the Comnissioners : Commencing at the mouth of the
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Messrs, William Allan, Abeil Richardson, John
Huston and John Oates were appointed to divide the
forfeited lands in the township of Cumberland.

“On the 19th August of the same year Captain
Winckworth Tonge, Joshua Winslow, John Huston,
John Jencks, Joshua Sprague, Valentine Estabrooks
and William Maxwell were appointed a committee to
admit persons into the township of Sackville.

“The first town meeting, or meeting of the com-
mittee, for Sackville township, toolk place on 20th
July, 1762. It was held at the house of Mrs. Charity
Bishop, who kept an inn at Camberland. There were
present Captain John Huston, Doctor John Jencks,
Joshua Sprague, Valentine Estabrooks, William Max-
well and Joshua Winslow. Captain Huston was
made chairman and Ichabod Comstock clerk.

Missiquash River, in Cumberland Bay, and thence following the
several courses of the said river to a post near Black Island, thence
north fifty-four degrces, twenty-five minutes cast, crossing the south
end of Black Island, two hundred and eighty-cight chains to the
south angle of Trenholm’s Island, thence south thirty-seven
degrees east, cighty-five chains and eighty-two links to a post,
thence south seventy-six degrees cast, forty-six chains and twenty
links to the portage, thence south sixty-five degrees, forty-five
minutes east, three hundred and nincty-four chains and forty links
to Tidnish Bridge, then following the several courses of said river,
along its northern upward bank to its mouth, thence following the
north-westerly channel to the deep water of the Bay water, giving
to Nova Scotia the controlof the navigable waters on Tidnish River.

Those wishing to get fuller information relating to this or any of
the boundaries of New Brunswick, will find the subject treated
exhaustively in a work just published, entitled ““A Monograph of the
Evolution of the Boundaries of the Province of New Brunswick,”
by William F. Ganong, M.A., Ph.D., from which the above facts
are taken.
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“ The conditions and locations of the proposed new
grant of Sackville were of the first interest to the
newly arrived scttlers, and the proceedings were
largely taken up with settling such matters. It was
resolved that a family of six, and seven head of
cattle, should have one and a half shares, or 750 acres.

“ At the next meeting, held on 3lst August, Mr.
Elijah Ayers’ name appears as a committeeman.

“At a town meeting, held on 18th April, 1770,
Robert Scott was appointed moderator and Robert
Foster, clerk.  They, with John Thomas, were ap-
pointed a committee to settle with the old committee
for the survey of the lands.

About 178¢, the inhabitants of Sackville made a
return of the state of the settlement to the Govern-
ment to show that if a proposed escheat was made it
would be attended with great confusion,as but few of
the grants had not been improved. The actual
settlers at that date, as set forth in the return, appear
to have been as follows:

LErTER A.
Samuel Bellew. John Peck.
Joscph Brown. John Barns.
Samuel Rogers. Ebenezer Burnham.
Samuel Saunders. Simon Baisley.

Valentine Estabrooks. Wm. Carnforth.
Andrew Kinnear. Abial Peck.

James Jincks. Nathaniel Shelding.
Eleazer Olney. Job Archernard.

Nathan Mason. Jonathan Burnham.
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LETTER B.

Charles Dixon.
John Richardson.
John Fawecett.
George Bubner.
Thowmas Bowser.

Joseph Delesdernier.

Michael Burk.
Samuel Seamans.
Joseph Tower.
Joseph Thompson.
Mark Patton.
Nchemiah Ayer
James Cole.
Hezekiah King.

Gilbiert Seaman.
Joseph Read.
Win. Carnforth.
John Wry.
Moses Delesdernier.
Daniel Tingley.
Wi Laurence.
Ben Tower.
Eljjah Ayer.
John Thompson.
Eliphalet Read.
Josiah Tingley.
Jonathan Cole.

Valentine Estahrooks.

Lerter C.

Wm. Estalwooks.
Daniel Stone.
Pickering Snowdon.
Nehemiah Ward.
John Filhnove.
John Grace.

Angus Melhe
Win. Faweett.
Jonathan Eddy.

Gideon Smith.
Patton Estabrooks.
Thomas Potter.
John Weldon.

Jos. C. Lamb.
Josiah Hicks.
Joseph Sears.
Benjamin Emmerson.
Titus Thornton.



CHAPTER IIL
THE YORKSHIRE IMMIGEATION.

JORKSHIRE is grouped as one of the six north-
err counties of England. Jackson Wray calls

it “one of the bonniest of English shires.” It has an
aress of 6,076 syuare miles, making it the largest
county in England. Its present population is a trifle
over three millions. A coast-line of one hundred
miles gives its prople a fine chance to look out on the
North Sea. The old town of Hull is the laraest <hip-
ping port.  Scarboro, on the coast, is the great water-
ing-place for the north of England.  Leeds, Shetheld,
Hull and Bradford ave the largest towns. It is the
principal scat of the woollen manufacture in Great
Britain. The people are self-reliant and progressive.
In Yorkshire to-day ave to be found the oldest co-
operative corn-nills and the oldest co-operative stores
in England. The jaactice of dividing jarofits among
purchasers in proportion to their trade at the store
was first aldopted by a Yorkshive society. This is
Just what might be expreted from the prople whe, in
1793, passed the followinge resolution : * Resolved, that
moncpolies are ineonsistent with the true prineiples
of eomnerer, beeause they restrain at once the spirit
of enterprise and the fremlom of competition, and are
injurious to the -ountry where they exist, Leeause
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the monopolist, by fixing the rate of both sale and
purchase, can oppress the public at discretion.”

Another resolution passed by the same corporation,
but earlier in the century, shows our ancestors in a
somewhat different light. A day of thanksgiving
was appointed for the success of the British forees.
The corporation attended divine service in the parish
chureh, after which it was agreed to meet at Mrs.
Owen’s, “at five of the clock, to drink to His Majesty’s
health and further good suceess,” the expense of the
evening to be at the corporation’s charge.

The old Yorkshire men liked a good, honest horse-
race, and fox-hunting was a favorite sport with them.
It is told of a Mr. Kirkton that he followed the
hounds on horseback until he was eighty, and from
that period to one hundred he regularly attended the
unkennelling of the fox in his single chair. Scott’s

“ Dandy Dinmont ” could scarcely overtop that. No.

one can read the “Anmnals of Yorkshire” without
being struck with the number of persons who at
their death left hequests to the poor, widows getting
a large share of this bounty.

John Wesley, very soon ufter he began his life-
work, found his way to Yorkshire, and nowhere had
he more sincere or devoted followers, many of whom
were among the first emigrants to Nova Scotia.  To
the England of the eighteenth century America must
have presented great attraction, especially to the
tenant-farmer and the day-laborer. The farmer in
that country could never hope to own his farm, and
the wages of the agricultural laborer were so small
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that it was only by the strictest economy and the
best of health that he could hope to escape the work-
house in his old age. In America land could be had
for the asking. The continent was simply waiting
for the hands of willing workers to make it the
happy home of millions. The reaction in trade after
the Scven Years’ War made the prospeet for those
just starting in life gloomier than ever, and many a
father and mother who expected to end their days in
the Old Land, decided, for the sake of their children, to
fuce the dangers of the western ocean and the trials
of pioneer life.

Charles Dixon, one of the first of the Yorkshire
emigrants, writes of England before he left: “I saw
the troubles that were hefalling my native country.
Oppressions of every kind abounded, and it was very
difficult to earn bread and keep a conscience void of
offence.” Under these cireumstances, Mr. Dixon and
a number of others decided to emigrate. It is not
surprising, then, that when Governor Franklin, at the
invitation of the Duke of Rutland, went down to
Yorkshire in 1771, to seek emigrants for Nova Scotia,
he found a soodly nunber of persons ready to try their
fortunes in the new land.

Governor Franklin did not stay long in the north-
¢rn district, but left agents who, judging Ly the
number that came to Nova Scotia during the few
ensuing years, must have done their work well.

Amonyg the first of the Yorkshire emigrants to sail
for Nova Seatin was a party that left Liverpool in
the gond ship Doke of Yook, on the 16th of March,
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1772. The voyage lasted forty-six days, and at the
end of that time the sixty-two passengers were all
landed safely at Halifax. From that port they went
by schooner to Chignecto, landing at Fort Cumber-
land on the 21st of May.

Charles Dixon, with his wife and four children,
were passengers on the Duke of York. Mr. Dixon’s
is the only record I have seen of this voyage, and it is
very concise indeed. He writes: “ We had a rough
passage. None of us having been to sea before, much
sea-sickness prevailed. At Halifax we were received
with much joy by the gentlemen in general, but were
much disrouraged by others, and the account given
us of Cumberland was enough to make the stoutest
give way.”

Mr. Dixon does not scem to have allowed these
discouraging reports to influence him greatly, for by
the Sth of June he had made a purchase of 2,500
acres of land in Sackville, and moved his family
there.

Other vessels followed the Duke of York during
1773 and the two following years, the largest number
coming in 1774 By May of that year, two brigan-
tines moored at Halifax with 280 passengers, and
three more vesscls were expected. By the last of
June nine passenger vessels had arrived. The ship
ddugaat at this time was the regular packet
between Halifax and Great Britain.

As one of the passenger vessels was from Aberdeen,
it is not likely that all the immigrants this year were
from Yorkshire. At Halifax, the women and children
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going to Cumberland were put on board a schooner
bound for Chignecto, and the younger men started to
make the journey on foot. The latter took the usual
road to Fort Edward; from there they went by boat
to Parrsboro’, and then followed the high ridge of
land called the “ Boar’s Back,” to River Hebert. At
Minudie they found boats to carry them to Fort
Cumberland, where they were given a right royal
Yorkshire welcome by their wives and children, who
had reached the fort before them. From Fort Com-
berland the immigrants quickly began to look around
the country for suitable locations.

Those by the name of Black, Freeze, Robinson,
Lusby, Oxley and Forster bought farms at Amherst
and Awmherst Point. Keilor, Siddall, Wells, Lower-
son, Trueman, Chapman, Donkin, Read, Carter, King,
Trenholm, Dobson and Smith were the names of
those who scttled at Westmoreland Point, Point de
Bute and Fort Lawrence. Thenames of the Sackville
contingent were Dixon, Bowser, Atkinson, Anderson,
Bulmer, Harper, Patterson, Fawcett, Richardson,
Humphrey, Cornforth and Wry. Brown, Lodge, Rip-
ley, Shepley, Pipes, Coates, Harrison, Fenwick and
others settled at Nappan, Macean, and River Hebert.

Hants and King's County, in Nova Seotia, got a
part of this immigration. Those who came to Cum-
berland were too late to sccure any of the vacated
Acadian farms before others had got possession, these
lands having been pre-empted by the New Englanders
and the traders who followed the army.  These who
had the means, however, scemm to have found no
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difficulty in purchasing from the owners, and very
quickly set to work to adjust themselves to the new
conditions. So effectually did they do this, that
almost every man of them succeeded in making a
comfortable home for his family.

The local historians of those times claim that these
English settlers, arriving as they did just before the
Revolutionary war, saved Nova Scotia to the British
Crown. If that is the correet opinion, and we are more
disposed to believe itis true than to question its accur-
aey, then the British Empire is more indebted to these
loyal Yorkshire immigrants than history has ever
given them credit for. The Eddy rebellion proved that
the New Englanders, who constituted a large part of
the inhabitants of Chignecto previous to the arrival
of the English, sympathized very generally with the
revolutionists, and were ready to help their cause to
the extent of taking up arms, if necessary, on its
behalf. These English immigrants were not soldiers;
mosb of them were farmers and mechanics who had
talen little part in the discussions of public questions,
but they were loyal subjects of the King of Great
Britain. They always had been, and they always
expected to be, loyal. The headquarters of the rebel-
lion was in Cumberland, and it was in Cumberland
that the largest number of these Englishmen settled.

In 1776, Mr. Avbuthnot writes, “ There is an ab-
solute necessity for troops to be sent to Fort Cum-
berland, Annapolis Royal, and a few to Fort Edward
and Windsor for protection, with the help of His
Majesty’s loyal subjeets who consist of English far-
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mers. A sober, religious people, though ignorant of
the use of arms, will afford every assistance.” He
says the others are from New England and will join
in any rebellion. Murdock thinks that Arbuthnot
did not judge the New England men fairly; that
many of them were loyal subjects of Great Britain,
and did not want to be mixed up in the trouble and
discussion between Great Britain and her older
colonies.

Whether this English immigration did for Nova
Scotia what is claimed for it or not, their suec-
cess in the new country as farmers and sebtlers
forever removed from the English mind the belief
that Nova Scotia was a cold, barren and inhospit-
able country, “fit only as a home for convicts and
Indians” And thus it opened the way for future
settlers. It is not claiming too much to say these
northern Englishmen were a superior class of men.
Industrious, hardy, resourceful and God-fearing, they
were made of the right material to form the ground-
work of prosperous communities, and wherever this
element predominated it was a guarantee that justice
and order would be maintained. They were not all
saints—perhaps none of them were—but there was a
homely honesty and a fixedness of principle about
the majority of them that “made for rightcousness”
wherever they were found.

The most considerable addition to the population
of Nova Scotia after the Yorkshire immigration was
in 1783 and 1784, when the United Empire Loyalists

came to the Province. They left New England as
4
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the French left Acadia, without the choice of remain-
ing. The story of their removal and bitter experi-
ences has been told by wore than one historian.
They were the right stamp of men, and have left
their impress on the provinces by the sea. Among
the names of those who settled at the old Chignecto
were : Fowler, Knapp, Palmer, Purdy, Pugsley. After
the Loyalists there was no marked cmigration to the
Maritime Provinces till after the battle of Waterloo.
The hard times in England following the war turned
the attention of the people of Great Britain again to
America, and from 1815 to 1830 there was a steady
stream of emigrants, particularly from Secotland to
the Provinees. Northern New Brunswick received a
large share of these Scotch settlers. The Mains,
Grahams, Girvins, McElmous, and the Braits of
Galloway and Richibucto, in Kent County, and the
Scotts, Murrays, Grants, and Blacklocks of Botsford,
Westimoreland County, came at this time.

An aceount of the wreck of a ship in 1826, in the
Gulf of St. Lawrence, is yet told by the descendants
of some of those who were coming as settlers to
Richibucto.

In the spring of 1826 a lumber vessel bound for
Richibucto, N.B,, carried a number of passengers for
that port. When off the Magdalen Islands the
vessel was stove in with the ice, and the crew and
passengers had to take to the boats. There was no
time to secure any provisions, and a little package of
potato starch that a lady passenger had been using
at the time of the accident, and carried with her, was
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the only thing eatable in the boats. Among the pas-
sengers was James Johnstone, of Dumfries, Scotland,
and his daughter Jean, sixteen years old. For three
days and nights the boats drifted. Mr. Johustone,
who was an old man, died from the cold and expo-
sure, and at the time of his death his daughter was
lying apparently unconscious in the bottom of one of
the Loats. On the morning of the fourth day a
vessel bound for Miramichi discovered them and took
all on board. After landing safely at Miramichi they
took passage for Richibucto. Miss Johnstone mar-
ried John Main, of Richibucto, and was the mother
of a large family. Mrs. Main was never able to
overcome her dread of the sea after this dreadful
experience.

The last immigrants who came to the vicinity of the
Isthmus were from Ireland. They arrived in the
deecade between 1830 and 1840, and settled in a dis-
trict now called Melrose. Until recently their settle-
ment was known as the Emigrant Road. Some of
the names of this immigration were: Lane, Carroll,
Sweeney, Barry, Noonen, Mahoney and Hennessy.
They proved good settlers, industrious and saving,
and many of the second generation are filling promi-
nent positions in the country. Ex-Warden Mahoney,
of Melrose, and lawyers Sweeney and Riley, of Mone-
ton, and Dr. Hennessy, of Bangor, Maine, are de-
scended from this stock.




CHAPTER IV.
THE EDDY REBELLION.

HE Eddy Rebellion does not oceupy much space
in history, but it was an important event in the
district where it occurred, and in the lives of those
who were responsible for it. The leaders were
Colonel Jonathan Eddy, Sheriff John Allan, or “Rebel
John,” as he was afterwards called, William Howe,
and Samvuel Rogers. Eddy, Rogers and Allan had
been, or were at that time members of the Assembly
at Halifax. Allan was a Scotsman by birth, the
others were from New England.

The pretext for the rebellion was the militia order
of Governor Legge; the real reason was the sympathy
of the New Englanders with their brother colonists.
It was represented at the Continental Congress that
six hundred persons in Nova Scotia, whose names
were given, were ready to join any army who might
come to their help. If these six hundred names
represented those who were of an age to bear arms,
then the statement of Arbuthnot that the New
Englanders were all disloyal was correct.

The first step taken in opposition to Governor
Legge’s order was to petition agaiust its enforee-
ment. The petition from Cumberland referred to
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the destruction of the fort on the St. John River as
“prather an act of inconsideration than otherwise,”
and then said, “those of us who belong to New Eng-
land, being invited into this Provinee by Governor
Lawrence’s proclamation, it must be the greatest piece
of eruelty and imposition for them to be subjected to
march into differcat parts in arms against their friends
and relations. The Acadians among us being also
under the same situation, most, if not all, havine
friends distributed in ditterent parts of America, and
that done by order of His Majesty.”

This petition was signed by sixty-four persons in
Cumberland, the Amherst petition was signed by
fifty-eight, and the Sackville one by seventy-three.
Fifty-one of the petitioners were Acadians. The date
was December 23rd, 1775.

Governor Legge took no other action on these peti-
tions than to send them at once to the British Gov-
ernment as evidence of the disloyalty of the Provinee,
and at the same time he wrote to the Earl of
Dartmouth that some persons had spread the report
that he was trying to draw the militia to Halifax
that he might transport them to New England and
make soldiers of them. He also adds, “ The con-
sequence of such reportsinfluenced the whole country,
so that many companies of the militia have refused
to assemble, ending in these remonstrances which
here in a public manner have been transmitted to
your Lordship.”

As soon as it became known to the petitioners that
Governor Legge would not cancel the militia order,
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and that the petitions had been forwarded to Down-
ing Street, it was decided to clect delegates to meet
in Cumberland to take into consideration what steps
should next be taken. Accordingly, representatives
appointed by the petitioners met at Inverma, the
home of Sheriff’ Allan. Jonathan Eddy and Sheriff
Allan were there as members of the convention, and
took especial pains to urge upon the ecting that
the time had arrived for decided action. Either
they must cast in their lot with their friends in
Massachusetts and Connecticut, or they must be loyal
to the British Government. They also made it clear
that they could not hold the country against the
British without help from their friends. The decision
must have have been in favor of independent action,
as almost immediately Colonel Eddy started for New
England with the intention of securing help from
that quarter. Allan remained for a while longer in
the country, but his outspoken sympathy with the
rebel cause wags soon reported to the Government and
steps were taken to have him arrested.

About this time Rogers’ and Allan’s seats in the
Legislature were declared vacant, and a reward of
two hundred pounds was offered for the apprehension
of Eddy and one hundred pounds each for Allan,
Rogers, and Howe. Allan’s biographer, in writing of
this period in his life, says, “His life being now in
danger, he resolved to leave the Province for the
revolted colonies; but previous to his departure he
made several excursions among the Indians to the
northward and by his influence secured for the rebel
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provinces the co-operation of a large number of the
Micmac tribe””  He left Cumberland in an open hoat
on August 3vd, 1776, and coasting along the Bay
of Fundy, reached Passammaquoddy Bay on the 11th.
In Machias Bay, which he entered on the 13th, he
found Col. Eddy with twenty-eight others in a
schooner on their way to the Bay of Fundy to
capture Fort Cumberland. Allan tried to induce
Eddy to abandon the expedition for the present,
urging that it was impossible to accomplish anything
with so small a force. Colonel Eddy was headstrong
and sanguine, and kept on his way. He was sure
more men would follow him, and he expected to get
a large addition to his force when he reached the
St. John River.

Allan, in the meantime, pushed on to Machias, and
after spending a few days there, went as far as the
Piscataquis River by water, and thence he took the
stage to Boston. From DBoston he proceeded to
Washington’s headquarters, giving New York, which
was then in possession of the British, a wide berth.
He dined with Washington, and talked over the
situation. On the 4th of January he was introduced
to the Continental Congress, where he made a full
statement of matters in Nova Scotia.

After some deliberation, Congress appointed him
Superintendent of the Fastern Indians and a colonel
of infantry. He received his instructions from Hon.
John Hancock, and left at once for Boston. While
there he urged upon the members in council the
necessity of protecting the eastern part of Maine, and
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showed the advantage it would be to the rebels if, by
sending out an armed force, they could take posses-
sion of the western part of Nova Scotia. This the
Council promised to do.

After giving this advice, Allan himselt set out to
show what could be done by raiding the loyal settlexs
on the River St. John. This expedition was not very
suceessful, and Colonel Allan was glad to get back to
Maine, and take up the duties of his new position as
Superintendent of the Eastern Indians. He made
Machias his headgnarters, and to the end of his life,
which came in the year 1803, he remained a resident
of the State of Maine.

Beamish Murdoch, the historian of Nova Scotia, in
a letter to a relative of Colonel John Allan, says: “If
the traditions I have heard aliout John Allan are cor-
rect, he could not have been much over twenty-one
years old in 1775. As he had no New England
ancestors, his cseapade must he attributed to ambi-
tion, romance, or pure zeal for what he thought was
Jjust and right. For the feclings against the Crown in
Nova Scotia in 1775 were confined to the Acadian
French, who resented the ennquest, the Indians who
were attached to them by habit and creed, and to the
settlers who were emigrants from New England.”

Mr. Murdoch was mistaken in the age of Allan.
John Allan was horn in Edinhargh Castle at about
“half after eme” of the clock, on January 3rd, 1746
(0. 8)), and was haptized on the 5th by Mr. Glasgow,
He thus must have heen in his 30th year when he
Joined the Eddy rebels
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After Colonel Eddy’s interview with Colonel Allan
in Machias Bay, he pushed on to Cumberland, and
landed in Petiteodiae.  His little army had increased
considerably since he left Machia<. At the mouth of
the Petitcodiac River he stationed a small foree to
wateh for any reinforecements that might be coming
to Fort Cmwberland. With the main body of his
followers he started overland for Chignecto, after he
had supplied his commissariat from the loyal settlers
along the river.

They crossed the Memrameonk well up to the head
of that river, and took a straight course for Point
Midgic. Then going through the woods above the
Jolicure Lakes, they came to the home of Colonel
Allan, in Upper Point de Bute. Mrs. Allan and her
children were still there, and there was no disposition
on the part of the inhahitants of Jolicure to interfere
in any measure against the rebels.

At Allan’s it was learned that a vessel with pro-
visions had been sven in the bay, heading for Fort
Cumberland. Iy sent a number of seouts down,
with instructions to capture the vessel. Under the
cover of Jdarkness and a thick fom, they were able to
locate the sloop in Cumberland Creck without heing
seen by the men on the look-out.  In the carly morn-
ing. when the leadvr of the seouts suddenly levelled
his gun at the oue man on deck, and ealled out, =« If
you move you are adead man,” the surprise was com-
pete, and the wan obeyed orders. The rebels hoarded
the sloop, and soen had all hands in drons As it
grew lighter, and the fog cleared away, Captain
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Baron and missionary Beleston from the fort came
down to the vessel, saspecting nothing, and were
both made prisoners. Egleston was taken to Boston,
and remamed a prisoner for eighteen months. As
svon as the tide turneld the vessel floated out of
Cumberland Creek, and headed for the Missiquash.
The Union Jack was hauled down and the Stars and
Stripes run up in its place.

This capture greatly clated the rebels, furnishing
them, as 1t did, with sup.plies, of which they probably
stood in considerable neel.  The sloep could run up
the Missijuash near to the farms of the Eddys,
Jonathan and William, who at the time owned most
of the upper part of Fort Lawrence.

Colonel Eddy now decided to lose no time, but
attack the fort at once. His army camped at Mount
Whatley, ncar where the residence of David Carter
now stanls.  Mount Whatley was ealled Camp Hill for
a number of years after this.

While these things were heing done by the rebels
the English were not idle. A hundred and fifty
regulars, under Colenel Gorham, had been sent to
assist the garrison and strengthen the defences of the
fort.  When ali was ready in the rebel camp, Coloned
Eddy sent the following summons to Licutenant-
Colomel Gorha, dewsmading his surrender:

“To Joseph Gorhans. Esq., Lirat-Colonel Comman:lt
of the Royal Feneibles Americans. Commanding
Fort Camberland:

“The already too plentiful Effusion of Human
Blood inn the Unhappy Contest between Great Britain
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and the Colunies, calls on every one engaged on either
side, to use their utmost Efforts to prevent the Un-
natural Carnage, but the Importance of the Cause on
the side of America has made War necessary, and its
Consequences, though in some Cases shocking, ave yet
unavoidable. But to Evidence that the Virtues of
humanity are carcfully attended to, to temper the
Fortitude of a Soldier, I have to smmmon you in the
Name of the United Colonies to surrender the Fort
now under your Command, to the Army sent under
me hy the States of America. I do promise that if
you surrender Yourselves as Prisoners of War youn
may depenl upon being treated with the utmost
Civility and Kind Treatment; if you refuse 1 am
determined to storme the Fort, and you must abide
the conseyuences.

“ Your answer is expected in four Hows after you

receive this and the Flag to Return safe.

“I am Sir,
“Your most obedt. Hble. Servt.,
“Joxa Eppy,

“Commanding Oflicer of the

United Forees.
“Nov. 10, 1776.”

He received the following in reply :

“Fort CrMBERLAND, 10th Nov., 1776.

“SIn,

*Tacknowledge the receipt of a Letter (under eoular
of a Flagyg of Truee) Signed by one Jonan Liddy, Com-
wanding officer, expressing a coneern at the unhappy
Contest at present Subsisting Letween Great Britain
andd the Colonyy, and recommending these engaged on
cither side to use their Endeavors to prevent the
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too Plentiful effusion of human Blood, and further
Suminoning the Commanding oflicer to surrender this
garrison.

“FromtheCommencementof these Contest I havefelt
for my deluded Brother Subjects and Countrymen of
Awerica, and for the many Innocent people they have
wantonly Involved in the Horrors of an Unmatural
Rebellion, and entertain cvery humane principle as
well as an uttev aversion to the Unnecessary effusion
of Christian Blood. Therefore Command you in His
Majesty’s name to disaria yourseld and party Imme-
diately and Swmrender to the King’s Merey, and
further desire you would communicate the Inclosed
Manifests to as many of the Inhabitants you can, and
as Speedily as possible to prevent their being involved
in the Same dangerous and Unhappy dilemma.

“ Be assured, Sir, [ shall never dishonour the char-
acter of a Soldier by Surrendering my command to any
Power except to that of my Sovercign from whenee
it originatud. T am, Sir,

“Your most hble servt,

“Jos. GORHAM,
“Lit.-Col., Com’at, R. F. A,
“ Commanding Officer at Fort Cumberland.”

The following is Colonel Eddy’s own account of the
tirst attack on Fort Cumberland, given in “ Eastern
Maine " (Kidder, p. 69): “ Upon Colonel Gorham’s
Refusal to surrender we attempted to storm the Fort
in the Night of the 12th Nov. with our scaling
Ladders and other Accontrements,Imt finding the Fort
to be stronger than we imagined {occasioned by late
Repairs),we thought fit to Relinqguish our Design after
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a heavy firing from their Great Guns and small Arms,
with Intermission for 2 Hours, which we Sustained
without any Loss (except one Indian heing wounded),
who behaved very gallantly, and Retreated in good
Order to our Camp.”

Previous to the first attack on the place, Eddy had
arranged with an Indian to sneak into the fort and
open the main gate ; he would have his men ready to
rush in and take the place by assault. While the
attack was in progress the Indian got into the place
and was in the act of unbarring the gates when he
was discovered by Major Dickson. The major spoiled
the little scheme by slashing the Indian’s wrm with
his sword, which left him maimed for life. The as-
sailants soon after this retreated without any very
serious loss.

In another attack, made a few days later, the large
barracks on the south-east side of the fort were set
on fire, in the hope that it would communicate with
the magazine. It is said a traitor in the rebel camp
warned the English of the sceond attack. This also
failed, but the barracks and a number of houses near
the fort wexre burned.

Before the rebels had a chance to make a third
attack, a sloop of war arrived in the Basin with four
hundred men to reinforee the garrison.  Colonel
Eddy scems not to have heard of the arrival of these
troops.  Their presence, however, enabled (ol Gor-
ham to take the offinsive, and the rebel camp was
attacked.  Eddy did not wait to try the mettle of his
men, but got away with the loss of one man.  With
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as many of his followers as he could hold together he
hastened toward Bay Verte. A short distance
beyond the Inverma Farm, a squad took ambush in a
thicket near a bridge, and when the regulars in pur-
suit were crossing the bridge the party fired a volley,
killing several of the soldiers and wounding others.
This so incensed the troops that they returned and
set fire to Sheriff Allan’s house, which was burned to
the ground together with a number of other build-
ings in the nemhbm hood. Murs. Allan and her chil-
dren escaped to the woods, where they remained
until hunger compelled them to come out. She was
found some days after this by her father, Mark
Patton, having lived for some time on baked potatoes
picked up around the burned dwelling, and was taken
to his home not far from the fort. Mrs. Allan was
not allowed to remain long with her father, but was
carried a prisoner to Halifax. She remained only in
Halifax a few months when she was given her liberty
and rejoined her husband at Machais.

Eddy, after going in the direction of Bay Verte
for some time, finding he was not pursued, turned his
steps toward Point Mulo'lc where he had called while
on his march to Chignecto. From there he made his
way back to Machais. Just what route he pursued, or
how great the difficulties he met with in this long,
tiresome journey, has mnever been given to the
public.  Machais, until the close of the war, was
the rendezvous of privateers and all manner of
adventurers, both before and after the arrival of
Eddy and Allan.  Colonel Eddy’s escape from Chig-
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necto ended the rebellion in that district so far as
any hope remained of a successful attempt to hand
over the government of the country to the New
Englanders, but the differences of opinion among
neighbors, the raids of rebel bands in the district,
together with the burning of a number of buildings,
created a strong feeling that it took years to allay.

Mr. James Dixon, in the “ History of the Dixons,”
speaking of this period says:

“ The rebels found more congenial employment in
raiding the homes of the Joyal and peaceable inhabi-
tants, plundering them of such articles as they were
in need of, and destroying or carrying away any
guns or ammunition they might find. Mr. Dixon’s
home did not escape their unwelcome notice. His
house was robbed of many valuable articles, some of
which he kept for sale. For a considerable period
the loyal inhabitants, notably the English settlers,
were subjected to a state of anxiety, and lived in
dread of a repetition of such unwelcome visits. On
one occasion, when some of these people were ap-
proaching the house, Mrs. Dixon hastily gathered up
her silverware and other valuables and deposited them
in a barrel of pig feed, where they quite escaped the
notice of the visitors. On a later oceasion, when
somewhat similar troublous times existed, Mr. Dixon,
with the aid of his negro servant, Cleveland, hid his
money and other valuables in the carth, binding his
servant by a solemn oath never to divulge to any-
one the place of concealment.”

Nor was all the destruction of property chargeable
to the rebels. At this time a number of the loyal
settlers, who, it is said, had been drinking freely, sur-
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rounded the house of Mr. Obediah Ayer, who was in
sympathy with the rebels, and set fire to his place,
intending to burn the inmates. Mrs. Ayer was
warned by her neighbors and escaped to the woods with
her baby in her arms. After the raiders departed she
with her children found a temporary home with a
neighbor. Her husband did not dare appear for
many days, but hid in the woods by day and visited
his family at night.

The raid of Allan on the St. John gave the Govern-
ment uneasiness in that quarter for some time longer.
As mentioned before, there were two Eddys, Jonathan
and William. They owned adjoining farms in Fort
Lawrence. The upper road leading from Fort
Lawrence to Ambherst still bears the name of the
“Eddy Road.” It was probably made through the
Eddy grant, and the Eddys may have been instru-
mental in its construetion.

It is related that William Eddy, after the rebellion,
came back to Fort Lawrence to settle his business
and take his wife and family out of the country. To
escape being made a prisoner at that time he kept hid
in a hay-stack in the day-time and visited his home
during the night. One night the soldiers who were
watching saw him enter the house and at once sur-
rounded the place, sending in two of their number
to bring out the prisoner. Mrs. Eddy would give no
knowledge of her husband’s whereabouts. The house
was thoroughly searched, but the man could not be
found. The soldiers were dumbfounded. The fact is,
that when Mrs. Eddy saw the soldiers coming, she
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told her husband to cover himself in a bin of grain
in the chamber and place his mouth close to a crack
on the side of the bin over which had been tacked a
piece of list to prevent the grain from coming out.
She would tear off the list and that would give him
air to breathe. Her husband did as directed. When
the officer who was making the search came to the
gmih-bin he thrust his sword into it, and said, * He is
not there.” Mr. Eddy said afterwards that the sword
went between his body and arm, s0 near was he being
made a prisoner.

Inverma, the home of Sherift’ Allan, is now owned,
in part, by Councillor Amos Trueman, and is still
called by that name. It consisted at that time of
three hundred and forty-eight acres of marsh and
upland and was no doubt part of the Allan grant of
1763. Besides the Sheriff’s own house there were six
or seven small houses occupied by Acadian families
as tenants, also two large barns and four smaller ones.

Allan’s wife was Mary Patton, the daughter of
Mark Patton, who was at one time a large property-
owner on the Isthmus. Patton Point, in the Missiquash
valley, still goes by his name. His home farm joined
the glebe lands of the parish, and was afterwards
bought by William Trueman and given to his son,
Thomas. I find the following entry in William True-
man’s journal, referred to elsewhere :

«Qld Mrs. Patton was buried at the burying-ground
by Thomas Trueman, July 31st, in the 92nd year of
her age.”

This lady was no doubt Mrs. Allan’s mother. She
5
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had continued to live at the old place after Thomas
Trueman had taken possession, and as this was in the
year 1808, she had lived thirty-two years after her
daughter left the country.

The question has been asked, would it not have been
better for the northern half of this continent if the
Eddy rebellion had succeede! and what is now
Canada had become one country with the United
States? The name Americans could then fairly have
been claimed by the citizens of the great Republic
and a people whose interests and aspirations are
identical, and whose religion, language and customs
are the same, would have been united in carrying out
the destiny of the Anglo-Saxon in America This
may sound very well, but events have transpired in
the last hundred and twenty-five years that point
unmistakably to the conclusion that the God of
history intended this northern land called Canada to
worlk out its own destiny independent of the southern
Republic. At the period of the Eddy rebellion Nova
Scotia was still in the eradle and had no grievances
to redress. New Brunswick as a Province had no
existence. Never in all history had a conquered
country been treated so justly by the victors as
had Quebee. Ontario at this time was but a western
wilderness, It will thus be seen that there would
have been no justification for the new settlers in this
northern land to have joined hands with the thirteen
older colonies.

Another preliminary objection can be found in the
situation of the Loyalists of 1783, from the fact that
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one of the grandest band of exiles that was ever
driven from fireside and country would have found
no place on the continent to malke new homes for
themselves. This would have placed them in infinitely
worge circumstances than that body of noble :nen
and women of another race that twenty-cight years
earlier in the century had been driven out as exiles
to wander in hardship and want on that same New
England coast. These Loyalists brought to Canada
the sterling principle, the experience in local Govern-
ment, the sturdy, independent manhood and business
experience and energy which this northern land
neceded to malke it one of the most prosperous and
best governed countries in the world. To think what
Canada would have been without the Loyalists helps
one to see more clearly how fortunate it was that the
Eddy rebellion was crushed.

The British Empire may owe more to the loyal
Yorkshire emigrants than has ever been fairly
accorded to them. Canada as a coterie of colonies
furnished Great Britain with a training school for
her statesmen that she did not otherwise possess.
In this way DBritish North America has been the
prime factor in placing Great Britain first among the
nations of the world in the government of colonies.
It is true English ministers and English governors
made mistakes and had much to learn before the
present system was fully adopted, but the descend-
ants of the Loyalists and those who remained true
to the Crown during the stormy ycars of the Revolu-
tion were not likely to stir up strife without a just
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cause. And is it claiming too much to say that to
Canada’s remaining loyal in 1776 is due to a very
large extent the proud position Great Britain holds
to-day as the mother of nations, the founder of the
greatest colonial empire the world has yet seen?

There are those who believe that the principle of
equality and fraternity, of government by the people
and for the people, the freedom for which the Pilgrim
Fathers faced the stormy Atlantic and for which
Washington fought against such odds, has been
worked out in fuller measure and juster proportions
in Canada than in the United States. Canada has
helped greatly to emphasize the truth, only yet half
understood by the world, that it makes little differ-
ence whether the chief ruler of a country is called
president, king or emperor, or whether the govern-
ment is called a monarchy or republic. These are but
incidents. What is important, what is essential, if
freedom is to be won and maintained, is that the
people understand their rights and have the courage
to maintain them at any sacrifice. It was the leaven
of freedom working in the lump of the British people
that gave the world the Magna Charta, Montford’s
rebellion, Cromwell and the Commonwealth, the
Revolution of 1688, and the still greater Revolution
of 1776.

This last cvent broke from the parent stem one of
the strong branches of the Anglo-Saxon family, and
gave each an opportunity to work out in different
ways the ideals after which both were striving.
And who will say that the descendants of Crom-

Ve
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wellians and Quakers, Nonconformists and Chureh-
men, whose ancestors, from foree of circumstances or
love of country remained in their island home, ave
not to-day breathing the air of freedom as pure and
unadulterated as their cousins on the banks of the
Charles or in the valleys of the historic Brandy-
wine. At any rate, we who live in this northern
country, that escaped the cataclysm of 1776, feel that
Canada has been no unimportant factor in helping
to work out the great problem of government for and
by the consent of the governed.



CHAPTER V.
THE FIRST CHURCHES OF THE ISTHMUS

HE spiritual interests of the people of old Chig-
necto have always been well-looked after.

One of the first white men to visit the Isthmus with
a view to settlement was a priest, and the man who
wielded the largest influence in and around Fort
Beauséjour during the last years of the French occu-
pation was a priest, the vicar-general of Canada. In
more than one instance the assistance promised to the
colonists in Acadia by the wealthy was provisional
upon the conversion of the Indians to Christianity.
During the French period three chapels were erected
on the Isthmus—one at the Four Corners, Tantramar,
one at Fort Beauséjour, and one at Beaubassin. These
chapels were burned during the taking of Beauséjour
and the expulsion of the Acadians. The bell on the
chapel at the Four Corners was buried by the Aca-
dians at the intersection of two lines drawn from four
springs to be seen in that locality yet. Some years
after a party of Acadians, on getting the consent of
Wm. Fawcett, who in the meantime had come into
possession of the land, dug up the bell and carried it
to Memramecook. The late Father Lefebre exchanged
it for a larger one. It is believed that the bell from
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the Beauséjour chapel is the one now wused in
St. Mark’s church, Mount Whatley. This bell is
ornamented with scrolls and fleur-de-lis and has the
following inscription :

AD HONOREM DEI

FECIT F. M. GROS,

A ROCHEFORT,

1734.

The first Protestant ministers on the Isthmus were
Episcopalians. Mr. Woods, a clergyman of that de-
nomination, was at Fort Lawrence in 1752, 1754 and
1756. In 1759 Rev. Thos. Wilkinson was at Fort
Cumberland, and in 1760 it is recorded that Joshua
Tiffs baptized Winkworth Allan at the fort. Between
that date and the arrival of Rev. John Egleson no
record has been found. Mr. Egleson was born a
Presbyterian, and was educated for that Church. He
was ordained, but afterwards changed his views, and
joined the Anglicans. He was reordained by the
Bishop of London, and sent, in 1769, to Chignecto, by
the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in
Foreign Parts.

Reference is made in another part of this book to
Mr. Egleson’s capture by the Eddy rebels in 1776.
He seems to have been the first to take possession of
the glebe lands of the parish, and the farm was for
many years called the “Egleson farm.” The parish
register containing the earliest records has been lost
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or destroyed, so that from the arrival of Mr. Egleson
down to 1794 very little is known of the local history
of the denomination.

In 1794 a meeting was held on the 27th February,
at or near Fort Cumberland, and the following
business was transacted : «“ Mesgrs. Gay, Siddall and
Brownell were appointed a committee to prepare
plans for a church, to be erected at once on the town
plot, and to obtain subscriptions.” The new church
was to be 46 feet long and 34 feet wide, with 19-foot
posts. Messrs. Gay, McMonagle and McCardy to be
the Building Committee. This is the old St. Mark’s
Church, that stood so long at Mount Whatley. The
first list of subscribers were :

Williain Allen, £3, in pine lumber.
Samuel Gay, £3, in timber.

Ralph Siddall, £3, in timber.

Titus Knapp, £3, in drawing stone.
James Law, £3, in drawing stone.

Jerry Brownell, £1 10s., in timber.

The cost of the church, when finished, was £310. Of
this amount the people subscribed £170. The Bishop
of Nova Scotia gave £70, and there remained a debt
of £70.

Having succeeded so well in building the church, a
meeting was called, at the request of Rev. Mr.
Willoughby, to provide a house for the clergyman.
His request was granted, and in 1795, Mr. Milledge
being then the resident minister, the church-wardens
agreed to pay two-thirds of the amount of rent for
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the house in which he was living until the parsonage
was built.

At a meeting of the vestrymen in 1796, the school
lands of the parish were rented to Spiller Fillimore
for £7 5s. These lands now bring an annual rental
of $200. In 1810 the church-wardens of St. Mark’s
church were:

Amos Fowler. Samuel Gay.
James Ryan. John Trenholm.
Harmon Trueman. Chas. Oulton.
Samuel McCardy. Jas. Hewson.
William Copp. William Tingley.
Geo. Wells. Thos. Trueman.

Bill Chappell.

At a meeting held Nov. 2nd, 1818, it was resolved
to take down the church and rebuild, making the
width thirty feet. Noreason is given for this strange
proceeding.  The contractors for the work were
Wm. Jones, Henry Chapman, and Thos. Trenholm.
This building stood until 1880, when a new build-
ing of more modern architecture was erected on the
same site, where it stands to-day. The names of the
clergymen who have been resident or had the over-
sight of the church in Westmoreland since 1752, as
far as can be found, are given below :

Mr. Wood, 1752-6. J. W. D. Gray.
Thos. Wilkinson, 1759.  R. B. Wiggins, 1831.
Joshua Tiffs, 1760. G. S. Jarvis.

John Egleson, 1769. R. B. Wiggins.

Mr. Willoughby, 1794. Geo. Townshend.
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John Milledge, 1795. Robert Donald.
Mr. Perkins, 1805. Richard Simonds.
Rev. C. Milner, 1822. Chas. Lee.

Donald Bliss, 1852-1902.

The following cntries referring to church matters
are from Mr. Wm. Trueman’s Journal:

“July 26th, 1803—Rev. Mr. Gray preached at the
church, from Proverbs 6 ¢, 3 v., « Humble thyself and
make sure thy friend.”” Mr. Gray was probably a
visiting clergyman.

“ July, 1806, Oct. 16th—Wiuiam Allan was buried
at the church-yard at Camp Hill, attended by a large
concourse of people. Mr. Milledge preached a sermon.”

“ December 25th, 1806 (Christmas Day)—2Mr. Bam-
ford preached at Stone Meeting House (Methodist),
and after, Mr. Perkins administered the sacrament.
The house was full of people.”

As far asis known there was not a resident Epis-
copal clergyman in Amherst until 1823.  Christ
Church was erccted that year on the county court-
house ground. In 1542, through the efforts of Canon
Townshend, a new church was built on the present
site.  Rev. J. W. D. Gray was the first clergyman.
The Rev. Canon Townshend eame to Ainherst in 1834,
and held the rectorship until his death.

METHODISTS.

A letter written from KEngland to Mr. Wm. True-
man, Prospect, in 1776, asks if the adherents of the
Methodist societies have any place of worship to go
to, or do they meet among themselves according to
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the usual way of the Methodists. The reply would
Le that they met amongst themselves, as there is no
record of a “meeting house” until some years later.

The Methodists of the early Yorkshire emigration
at first met quietly at the home of one of their num-
ber for their services. In 1779 religious interest
deepened, and a wide-spread revival began. Meet-
ings were held, followed by encouraging results.
Among the new converts was Win. Black, of Ambherst,
afterwards Bishop Black. It is recorded that at a
quarterly meeting held, in 1780, at Wm. Trueman’s,
Wm. Black received a great blessing, and although
only a young man, he took from that time a promi-
nent part in the meetings of the necighborhood.
Three young men, Scurr, Wells, and Fawkender,
agreed with Wm Black to visit in turn, each Sabbath,
the scttlements of Prospect, Ifort Lawrence, and
Amberst. Trom 1780 until affer the first Methodist
Conference of the Maritime Provinces, in 1786,
Wm. Black had charge of the Cumberland Cireuit,
which included from Wallace (then Ramshag) to
Petitcodiac, taking in Bay Verte and Cape Tormentine.
In 1782 the membership of the circuit numbered
eighty-two. In 1786 the first Conference was held at
Halifax.

Shortly before Conference Mr. Black, with his
family, moved to Halifax, leaving in his place, at
Cumberland, Mr. Graudin, of New Jersey. M.
Graudin was sent back to Comberland by the Con-
ference. He was assisted by John Black, of Amherst,
brother of Wm. Black. In 1787 Mr. Graudin was
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removed aml his place taken by Mr. James Mann.
That year land was bought on which to build a
chapel, and in 1788 the fivst Methodist chuveh in
Canada was built at Point de Bute. Ii stood some-
what back from the road in the present cemetery.
The house was of stone, with a roof of thateh. The
following is the deed of the property on which the
house was builé :

“This Indenture, made this cighteenth day of Sep-
tember, one thousand seven hundred and eighty-eight,
and in the twenty-eighth year of His Majesty’s reign,
between Wiiliam Chapman, of Point de Bute, of the
one part, and the Rev. Mr. John Wesley, of London, of
the other part, witnesseth, that in consideration of
five shillings curreney, by the said John Wesley to
the said William Chapman, truly paid before the
sealing and delivering hereof, the receipt whereof
the said William Chapman doth hereby acknowledge
and for divers other cousiderations him thereunto
moving, the said William Chapman hath granted,
bargained and sold, and by these presents doth
bargain and sell unto the said John Wesley and his
successors in the Methodist line forever, one acre of
land, situated and lying in the County of Westmore-
land, and Province of New DBrunswick, bounding on
the west on land belonging to James Law, Esq., and
on the south on the main road leading from Fort
Cumberland to the Bay Verte, together with all
privileges to the said premises appertaining and all
the profits thereof with the right, title and interest
in Law and Equity, to have and to hold the said acre
of land, to him the said John Wesley and his succes-
sors in the Methodist Line forever, and to be appro-
priated for a preaching House and burying-ground,
and other conveniences that shall be judged neces-
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sary to accommodate the same under the inspection and
direction of the general assistant or the preacher by
Conference stationed on the Cireuit, together with
Wi, Wells, Thomas Watson, Esq., Richard Lowerison,
George Ialkinther, Wim. Trueman, jun., Stephen Read,
and James Metealf to be Trustees to act in coneert, and
those to be only Trustees as long as they adhere to
the Doctrine and Discipline of the said John Wesley
and his conneetion, and in case of death or failure of
any of these particulars the preacher is tonominate one
in hisroom. Furthermore, the said William Chapman,
for himself, his heirs, executors and administrators,
doth covenant to and with the said Joln Wesley and
his suceessors, the before mentioned demised premises,
against the lawful claim or demand of any person or
persons whatsoever, to warrant and secure and defend
by these presents, in witness whercof I have hereunto
set my hand and seal.  Bargained year before . ritten.
“Signed, sealed and delivered, in presence of

JAMES Law, WiLLiaM CHAPMAN.
SaLLY Law, JANE CHAPMAN.

«JaMeEs Wray, Missionary.”

James Wray, an Englishman, ordained and sent
out by Wesley, arrived in 1788. He was the first
ordained Methodist minister in Camberland.  Previous
to this the sacrament of the Lord’s Supper was
administered by the Episcopal clergyman.  This
same year Mr. Black, Mr. John Mann, and Mr. James
Mann went to Philadelphia and were ordained.  Mr.
Mann and Mr. Wray were hoth on the Cumberland
circuit for a year, and Mr. James Mann remained in
charge until 1794, when he was followed by M.
Whitchead.  From 1793 until 1797 Mr. Early, M,
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John Black and Mr. Bepjamin Wilson were each at
times preaching in the Stone Chapel. Mr. Wilson was
alone in 1798, and assisted by Mr. Cooper in 1799.
In 1800 Joshua Marsden came out from England and
was sent to the Cumberland circuit, where he labored
for three years.

The following are from the journal before referred
to:

“1802, May 9th—Mr. Marsden preached his farewell
sermon at the Stone Meeting House.

“May 10th—DMr. Marsden set out for Conference.”

Mr. Wm. Bennet followed Myr. Maisden, coming
directly from England to Cumberland, arriving at
Mr. Trueman’s on June 26th.

“June 26th—>Mr. Bennet arrived at our house and
went to Tantramar.

“27th—DMr. Bennet preached his first sermon ab
Tantramar.

“July 8th—This day was appointed by the Govern-
ment as a day of thanksgiving for the blessings of
peace. Mr. Bennet preached at the Ambherst Court-
House from Romans 12¢. 1v. to a crowded and atten-
tive audience.”

The church at this time was in a fairly good
financial condition. Point de Bute was then head-
quarters for the ministers, it and Sackville being the
most important places in the circuit. Mr. Mann
visited Point de Bute in 1803, preaching at the Stone
House on May 2nd, also June 16th.

“June 16th, Mr. Mann preached at Mr. Wells'”

“June 26th—Mr. Mann preached at the Stoune
House morning and evening to a crowded house.”
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Mr. Bennet's place was taken, in 1806, by Mr.
Stephen Bamford, a local preacher sent out from
England. He was afterwards ordained and remained
three years.

“July Gth, 1806—}Mr. Bamford preached at the
Stone House for the first time.”

On June 3rd, 1808, Mr. and Mrs. Wm. Black paid a
visit to Point de Bute, making their home at Mr.
Wm. Trueman’s. It was a great joy to the church
there to have Mr. Black with them again. In 1809-
10-11, Mr. Knowlan was on the Cumberland Cireuit,
and in 1812 Mr. Benunet returned, followed by Mr.
Dunbay, in 1815.

Mr. Dunbar remained three years and his place
was taken by Mr. Priestly. During Mr. Priestly’s
stay the new church was built at Point de Bute. It
stood in front of the spot occupied by the old Stone
House, and was opened by Mr. Priestly in 1822.

Mr. Stephen Bamford was on the circuit 1823 to
1825 ; Wm. Temple in 1826 and 1827; Wm. Webb in
1828 and 1829 ; Wm. Smithson from 1830 to 1833.

In 1833, Rev. Alexander McLeod was sent to Cum-
berland as assistant. He made his home in Point
de Bute, and was there most of the time until 1836.
Rev. Richardson Douglas had charge of the cireuit
in 1834 and 1835. Mr. Jos. Bent came in 1836, and
the house on the farm now owned by Mr. Burton
Jones was rented for a parsonage. During M.
Bent’s ministry there was a large revival at Point
de Bute, and about sixty members were reecived into
the church. Mr Bent was followed by Richard
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Williams, who remained two years. In 1840 the
Sackville District was divided, the Point de Bute
Circuit consisting of Point de Bute, Fort Lawrence,
Bay Verte and Cape Tormentine. The Cumberland
Circuit had been divided before this (as early as 1830),
but the exact date cannot be found.

Below is a list of the ministers who have been
resident in the Point de Bute Cireuit since 1840 :

W, Leggit, 1840-1842,

Geo. Millar, 1842-1843. Parsonage built.

R. Williams, 1843-1844.

Sampson Busby, 1844-1847.

‘Wm. Smithson, 1847-1850.

Geo. Johnson, 1850-1853.

Wm. Smith, 1853-1856.

T. H. Davies, 1856-18G0.

John Snowball, 1860-1861. Point de Bute Circuit
again divided.

Michael Pickles, 1861-1863.

Chas. Stewart, 1863-1865.

Geo. Butcher, 1865-1866.

Robert Duncan, 1866-1868.

Wm. Wilson, 1868-1870.

Jas. G. Angwin, 1870-1873. Present parsonage
built.

Douglas Chapwan, 1873-1876.

Edwin Mills, 1876-1879.

Geo. W. Fisher, 1879-1882. Present church built

= in 1881.
Thos. Marshall, 1882-1884.
W. W. Lodge, 1884-1885.
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S. R. Ackman, 1885-1888.
Jas. Crisp, 1888-1891.

F. H. W. Pickles, 1891-1894.
J. A. Clark, 1894-1596.

T. L. Williams, 1896-1897.
Jos. Seller, 1897-1898.

D. Chapman, 1898-1901.
Thos. Marshall, 1901.

The first Methodist church in Sackville stood a
little north of Philip Palmer’s farm. It was
opened in 1790 by Rev. James Mann. Previous to
that date the preaching place had been a small school-
house, which ctood near the place where J. L. Black’s
store now stands. The new building served its pur-
pose for twenty-eight years. Then another was
built at Crane’s Corner, on the same site as the present
church.

The following extracts from the Sackville Cireuit
Book of 1801-1811 may prove interesting :

“ QUARTERLY MEETING.

“PoInT DE BUTE, August 2Sth, 1802.

“(1) @ Who is the general steward for the cir-
cuit? 4. William Trueman. Elected.

“(2) (). Who is steward for Sackville? 4. John
Faweett. Elected.

“(3) ). Who is steward for Dorchester? 4. John
Weldon. Elccted.

“(4) . Who 1is steward for Amherst and the

Rivers. 4. Thomas Rouach. Elected.
6
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“(5) (). How shall Mr. Bennett’s expenses to New
York be paid? 4. Let it be approvel by the next
Conference.

“(6) (. When and where shall the next quarterly
meeting be held? .. At W. Fawecett’s, Sackville,
January 9th, 1503.”

“ QUARTERLY MEETING.
“December 3rd, 1810.

“(. Where shall a house be built for the cireuit
preacher ¢ A. In Sackville, on the lands given by
C. Dixon, Esq., and John Harris.

“()- How shall the cxpenses be horne ¢ 4. By a
subseription begun first in Sackville.

“(J). Of what material shall the said house be built ?
A. Of brick, except the cellar wall, which shall be
made of stone.

“Q. Who shall be appointed to provide stone and
timber during the winter previous to the next quar-
terly meeting ?  .l. Charles Dixon and Rich. Bowser
to sec it provided out of the subscription. The said
timber to be got for a house 34 by 24.

“(). Shall the collections made in the Stone Chapel
go to the discharging of the debt due to M. True-
man for the care of the said chapel ¢ 4. Yes, and
also to the providing of wood for said chapel.”

“ QUARTERLY MEETING.
“SAcKVILLE, March 9th, 1S11.

* . Shall the minutes of Dee. Q. M., 1810, respeet-
ing preacher’s house be agreed to by this Q. M. 4.
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Yes, we are agreed that the house shall be built upon
the grounds given by Messrs. Dixon and Harris.

“ ). Who shall be the trustees of the said house?
2. John Faweett, Jr., Chas. Dixon, Jr., Edwin Dixon,
Esq., Rich. Bowser and Thomas Roach, Isq.

“() Who shall we employ to build the house ? 4.
Chas. Dixon, Jr.,, who has engaged to finish itin a
workmanlike manner for £200, according to plan,
N. B, 35 ft. by 24, one story and half high and of
brick.”

Baerists.

In 1763 a Baptist church at Swansea, Mass., left in
a body and settled in Sackville, bringing their pastor
with them. They numbered thirteen members. Al-
most all of them returned to Massachusetts in 1771.
The Baptists were the first Protestant denomination
in Sackville, but had no church building until
about the year 1800. That year Joseph Crandall
organized the church, and they at once proceeded to
erect a building in which to worship. The site chosen
was at the Four Corners. The church which replaced
this one in 1830 was called Beulah.

The first Baptist association for New Brunswick
and Nova, Scotia met in Sackville in 1810. Sackville
was represented by Elders Jos. Crandall and Jonathan
Cole, and by Messrs. Wim. Lawrence and Jos. Read.
There were twenty-two clders and messengers present,
representing fourteen churches.  Amongst the repre-
sentatives were Fathers Mwray and Harding,
and Peter Crandall, Nathan Cleveland and Elijah
Estabivooks. A letter published in August, 1810, by
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Rev. David Merrill, in the American Baptist Muaga-
zine, reports his visit to the Association, in Sackville,
as a member of the Lincoln Association, Maine. He
is jubilant with hope for the new work and exclaims
in triumph, “Babylon appears to Le in full retreat.”
Itissaid that at a revival service in the Beulah Church,
in 1822, conducted by Fathers Crandall, Tupper and
McCully, twenty-five persons were Immersed in
Morris’s millpond.  During the serviece a woman
stood up to exhort, handing her infant of six months
to a bystander. * The woman was Mrs. Tupper, and
the infant the future Sir Charles Tupper. This must
have been Sir Charles’s first appearance in public life.

The Baptist Church in Amherst was organized
about 1510, or perhaps a year or two earlier, by the
Rev. Jos. Crandall.  To the Association in Sackville
they sent two messengers, Thos. S. Black and Wm.
Freeman, reporting a membership of fifteen. The
Rev. Chas. Tupper was the first pastor, ordained in
1817. He had charge of the church, with occasional
relief, until 1851.

The Baptists of Westmoreland did not ereet a church
building until 1825. The late Wm. Tingley, of Point
de Bute, gave the site and also the largest subserip-
tion. The following clause in the subseription paper
is worth transcribing, as showing the liberality in
religious matters which existed at that time.  The
Presbyterians of Jolicure assisted in the building, and
were given “the right to hold service in proportion to
the amount they subscribed, and when it is not in use
by cither Baptists or Preshyterians, if wanted
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occasionally by other denominations of Christians, it
shall be open and free for such service”  Although
the building was erected in 1825 theve was no church
organized until 1850.

The first minister was Rev. Willard Parker, and the
deacons Rufus Fillimore and Henry Ward. The
ministers who have been in charge from that date
down to the present time arve:

William Parker. Trueman Bishop.

John Roe. Chas. A. Eaton.

David Lawson. T. D Skimner.

W. A. Coleman. J. D. Wilson.

G. F. Miles. H. Lavers.

David McKeen. D. A. Stecle.
PRESBYTERIANS.

The Presbyterians were organized and had a
church building in Amherst as early as 1788, but it
was not until the Rev. Alexander Clark arrived, in
1827, that they had a regular minister stationed with
them. Previous to this several ministers had been
with them, but only a very short time.

In the grant of the Cumberland township of 1763
land was given to the Presbyterian Church on which
to build a manse, but there is no existing rccord to
show that it was ever taken possession of by that
body. The first church in the township was crected
in Jolicure about the year 1830. The land was given
by Thos. Copp, and the Brownells and Copps of that
place were very active in the work of building. Rev.
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Alexander Clark, of Amherst, was the minister in
charge of the congregation. Dr. Clark spent his life
in preaching the Gospel to the same people and to their
children, with whom he began his mission when he
first came to the country in 1827 or 1828. His
circuit extended from Maccan to Pugwash, and from
there along the Northumberland Straits to Shemogne,
including Ambherst, Jolicure, and Sackville. He was
a fine type of the Scoteh-Irish minister, who spoke
what he believed was the truth, whatever the conse-
quence might be.
Ep1scoPALIAN.

The first Episcopal Church in the Sackville Parish
was built at Westeock in 1817. The rectors have
been as follows:

John Burnyeot, 1818-1820.
Christopher Milner, 1820-1836.
John Black, 1836-1847.

T. DeWolfe, 1847-1860.

G. G. Roberts, 1860-1873.
David Nickerson, 1873-1875.
J. D. B. Brown, 1875-1878.

R. J. Uniacke, 1878-1879.

C. P. Mulvaney, 1879-1880.

C. F. Wiggins, 1880-

St. Paul’s Church, Saclkville, was commenced in
1856, and consecrated in 1858. The late Joseph F.
Allison was largely instrumental in building this
church. As the two churches, St. Paul’s and St. Ann’s,
Westeock, were in the same parish, they were under
the charge of one rector.
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CHAPTER VL

THE TRUEMANS.

ILLIAM TRUEMAN was born in Yorkshire,
England, in the year 1720, and emigrated to
America with his family in the year 1775. They
were probably passengers in the ship Jennie, Captain
Foster, which came to Halifax that spring with a
number of emigrants from Yorkshire. The family
consisted of William Trueman, his wife Ann, and
their son William, an only child, a young man in his
twenty-fourth year.

Billsdale* was the name of the township they left
in the Old Country. They were Methodists in re-
ligion, but had been members of the Episcopal Church
and brought with them the prayer-books and com-
mentaries of that communion.

In addition to his business as a farmer, William
Trueman, senior, had taken the legal steps nccessary
in England to enable him to work as a joiner if he
were so inclined. The son William had been engaged
in the dry goods business a year or two before com-
ing to Nova Scotia.

* Billsdale, Westside Township, is a long moorland township
of widely scattered houses on the west side of the Rye, extending
from six to cight miles N.N.W, from Helmsley, and is mainly the
property of the Barl Haversham. Its arca is 4,014 acres ; its land
rises on lofty fells at Rydale Head. Hawnby parish includes the

five townships of Hawnby, Arden, Billsdale, Westside, Dale Town,
and Snillsby, the area of the parish being 24,312 acres.
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After landing at Halifax they came by schooner to
Fort Cumberland, and very soon after settled about
four miles from the fort at Point de Bute, then called
Prospect.

There does not seem to have been many of the name
left in Yorkshire at this time, and those who were in
Billsdale and vicinity shortly moved to other parts of
the country. A nephew of the first William, named
Harmon, moved to another township, married, and
had a family of ten children. Mary, Harmon’s
youngest daughter, married a man named Brown,
and they called one of their sons Trueman Brown.
Charles, a son of Trueman, spent a year at Prospect
in the eighties, and Harmon, a brother of Charles,
visited the home in 1882-83. I have not been able to
trace the family in Yorkshire in any but this one
branch. There is a photograph at Prospect of John
Trueman, a son of the Harmon here mentioned,
which shows a strong likeness to some of the family
in this country.

A family of Truemans living in Ontario came to
Canada about the year 1850, but we have not been
able to trace any relationship.

The first purchase of land by the Tiuemans in
Nova Scotia was from Joshua Mauger. This pro-
perty was conveyed to William Trueman, sen. The
deed reads: “I, Joshua Mauger, Esq., of London, in
Great Britain, Esq. member of Parliament, of the town
of Poole, in the county of Dorsctshire, for and in
consideration of the sum of ninety pounds lawful
money of the Province of Nova Scotia,” ete., ete.
This ninety pounds was paid for eighty acres of
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upland and fifty-four acres of marsh adjoining a
wood lot on Bay Verte Road, and a right in the great
division of woodland, so-called. The deed was signed
at Halifax by the Hon. John Butler, as attorney for
Joshua Mauger, on the Sth September, 1777, and the
money paid the same day. Thomas Scurr and J. B.
Dight were the witnesses, it was proved at Fort
Cumberland on the 3lst of Sept., 1777, by Thomas
Scurr, and registered in New Brunswick by James
Odell, May 3rd, 1785.

The next purchase of real estate was made from
Thomas Scurr, the place now called Prospect Farm.
Six hundred and fifty pounds lawful moncy of the
Province of New Brunswick was the amount paid.
Between the first and second purchase the Province
had been divided, and that part of the township of
Cumberland in which the Truemans settied had gone
to New Brunswick. The number of acres in this last
purchase was cstimated at eight hundred, including
nearly five hundred acres of wilderness land. The
deed was witnessed by Thomas Chandler and Amos
Botsford. Mrs. Scurr did not sign the deed, and the
following is the copy of a document found very care-
fully laid away among the old papers at Prospect :

“ VIRGINIA, PrINCESS ANN CoUNTY
b
“ June 25th, 1789.

“On this day personally appeared before me,
Dennis Dooley, Justice of the Peace of the said county
of the commonwealth of Virginia, Elizabeth Scurr,
and voluntarily relinquished her right of a dower in a
certain tract or piece of land in the town of West-
moreland and Province of New Brunswick, viz.:
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Three eighty-acre lots, Nos. sixteen, eighteen and
twenty, with the marsh and wilderness thereto be-
longing. All in division letter B, and described fully
in a deed from Thomas Scurr to William Trucman
and on record in Westmoreland, No. 142.

“Given under my hand and seal this day as above.

“ DENNIS DooLEY.

“The within Elizabeth Seurr doth hereby volun-
tarily subscribe her name to the within contents.

“EL1ZABETH SCURR.”

Dennis Dooley, Justice of the Peace of the common-
wealth of Virginia in the year 1789, was a good penman.

James Law owned Prospect Farm before Thomas
Scurr. The deed conveying the property from Law
to Scurr is still among the documents at Prospect.
As Law was early in the country after the expulsion,
it is probable he was the first to get possession after
the removal of the Acadians.

Thomas Securr, sen., left the country soon after
selling Prospect Farm. The old chronicles say he
was a man very much esteemed for his piety. He
represented Cumberland township, for one session at
least, in the Legislature at Halifax. In 1785, “in
opposition to the advice of a friend against going
from a place where he was wanted to a place where
he was not wanted,” he removed to the South, and
purchased an estate near Norfolk, Virginia. He
repented too late, for nearly all the members of his
large family fell vietims to diseases peculiar to
southern climates.

There was another Thomas Scurr in the country at
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this time, probably a son of Thomas Scurr, sen., who
married Elizabeth Cornforth, of Sackville, in Angust,
1787. Mrs. Scu.r lived only a week after giving
birth to a son. The boy was called Benjamin, and
was taken care of by his aunt, Mrs. Jonathan Burn-
ham. Thomas Seurr, after the death of his wife,
left Sackville with the intention of going to the West
Indies, and was never heard from after. It was
supposed he was lost at sea. The Scurrsin Sack-
ville are descendants of the boy Benjamin.

William Trueman, sen., was above the average
height, and rather stout, with head, shoulders and
face that indicated strong character. In personal
appearance his grandson Robert much resembled him.
He was fifty-five years of age when he came to Nova
Scotia. His wife was eight years his senior. She,
too, was tall, with a countenance showing a great deal
of reserve power.

William, the son, was a small man, with round
features and dark hair. His son John was said to
resemble him closely. He must have retained his
youthful appearance well into mature life, for after
he had been in this country some years he went to
Fort Lawrence to poll his vote and was challenged
for age by the opposing candidate. His youthful
appearance had led to the belief that he had not
arrived at the age tc entitle him to exercise the
franchise. His left arm was partially withered, or
had not grown to its full size, from an injury received
in childhood through the carelessness of a nurse.
The family brought with them from England some
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furniture. There is still the old arm-chair at
Prospect, and the old clock keeps good time for the
fifth generation.

There is no record of the impression the new
country made upon the family, but judging from a
letter reccived by William Trueman, sen., the year
after his arrival, and copied below, it must have been
favorable :

“ SNILLSWORTH, February 9th, 1776.

“ DEAR BROTHER AND SISTER,—

“These are with our love to you and to let you
know that we are in a tolerable state of health at
present.

“We have many of us been poorly, but are much
better. We received a letter from you last Novem-
ber, which gave a great deal of satisfaction of mind on
your account, becouse we had been informed that you
had nowhere to settle in, but as you have given us a
particular account concerning your situation aud how
you were settled and that you liked Nova Seotia and
was all in good health of body it was much to our
satisfaction, and I hope you will let us hear more
particularly from you how your chattle and corn
answers thee, and how and what product your ground
doth bring forth, and what sort of grains your
ground answers best for, and what chattle you keep,
and what you can make of your chattle and how
much milk your cows give and what is the most
profitable things you have.

“Now, dear brother, let me know the truth and

‘nothing but the truth when you write.

“T desire that you would let me hear from you at
any opportunity whenever it suits your convenience
for I think we shall never have the opportunity to
see each other’s face any iaore here below, but I
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desire to hear from thee and I hope thee will do the
same by me as Jong as our lives shail be on this side
eternity.

“ Farewell, I conclude with my love.  Sarah Bently
and John Bakers are in good health and send love to
you all.”

The following extract from another letter reccived
at Prospect about the same time, will be interesting
to some :

“ SNILLSWORTH, Feb. 19th, 1776.
“DrEAR BROTHER AND SISTER AND NEVY,—

“ These are salututions of love to you all, expecting
they may find you in good health as they leave us at
present.

“We reccived your letter November last and was
glad to hear from you, but more especially that you
were all in good health of body and that you like
‘Nove’ (Ncva Scotia) very well because we have
had many slight acconts that you were in a very
poor situation, but heard nothing to our satisfaction,
and that you would have rcturned back to Old
England but had nothing to pay your passage with,
which gave us both me and my wife a great deal of
distraction of mind. So we consulted with sister
Sarah Bently and more of our friends that we would
raise money to pay your passage to Old England, but
dear brother and sister, as we have had a few lines
from your own hand that you like the country well,
so it has put an end to that consultation.”

It would be difficult to answer at once some of the
questions asked in these letters. They had only
arrived in America the previous summer, and unless
they purchased cows on their arrival, they could not
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at this date have had much experience in dairying,
and it would be the same with grain. There is a
tradition that the stock, ten cows and a number of
other cattle, were purchased with the Scurr farm,
but this farm was not bought until some years after.
The Truemans probably followed the course talken
by many of the first settlers at that time, which was
to leasc a farm for a term of years,in that way
gaining experience in the country before finally pur-
chasing land themselves. After the family had been
two years in the country, William Trueman, jun,
married Elizabeth Keillor, a daughter of Thomas
Keillor, of Cumberland Point, or No. 1, now called
Fowler’s Hill. The Keillors came from Skelton,
Yorkshire, to Nova Scotia in 1774, and settled on the
farm at present occupied by a great-great-grandson,
Charles Fowler.

It was near the date of this marriage that the
Eddy rebels were terrorizing the settlers around Fort
Cumberland, and shortly after the event Mr. and
Mrs. Trueman went to Mr. Keillor’s to spend the
Sabbath. During the day the house was surrounded
by the rebels, and the inmates kept prisoners until
the next day, when the rebels dispersed, and the
young couple made their way home as quickly as
possible, to relieve the anxiety at Prospect.

The Keillors and Truemans had been friends in
England, and were related in some degree. Elizabeth
Keillor was but nincteen when she consented to take
charge of a home of her own, and, as subsequent
years proved, well did she discharge the duties that
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devolved upon her in that relationship. Though
below medium size, she had a nervous force and will-
power that enabled her to accomplish more than
many of stronger build. It is told of her that on a
Sabbath, when the family were all at church, she
noticed something wrong with the cattle, and on
going to see what caused the trouble, she found a
cow so badly injured by some of the larger animals,
that to make the carcass of any value it would have
to be slaughtered at once.  Mrs. Trueman went to the
house, got the butcher-knife, and bled the cow to
death.

*Nervous force, like any other force in man or
woman, has its limif, and if used too fast it will not
be there when wanted in old age. Mrs. Trueman did
not live to be very old, and her last years were full
of suffering. Overtaxed nature had given way, and
the penalty had to be paid.

The family never separated, but all moved into the
house on the Scurr farm, and began in earnest to face
the battle of life in the New World.

Halifax was at that time the market for butter and
beef, so after the wants of the scttlers and the commis-
sariat at Fort Cumberland had been supplied, such
produce as could be sent by schooners to Halifax was
forwarded in that way, and the cattle, for beef, were
driven overland—a long and tedious journey.

Mills for sawing lumber or making flour were
searce. The stones are yet to he seen in Sackville
with which grain was ground by hand-power.

The Truemans soon began to experiment in mill



96 THE CHIGNECTO ISTHMUS.

building. Their first venture was a mill driven by
horse-power. A windmill followed, and was located
on the high ground at the corner where the Point
de Bute road turns at right angles, leading to Joli-
cure. This must have been an ideal spot for such a
structure. There is no record of how long this mill
stood, but it could not have heen long.

There was a good stream on the farm for a water-
mill, but it was not utilized for this purpose for some
years, probably for the want of means. Their first
work in this line was the building of a small mill on
the brook that formed the ravine at the south-west
side of the farm. A dam was thrown across the
stream at the head of the ravine, and the water
carried in a flume some distance farther down the
brook: the great fall of water cnabling them to use
a large over-shot water-wheel. It is only «uite
recently that the main shaft of the wheel has dis-
appeared.

A long dam was built across the stream that leads
to what is now called the Upper JMill, for the purpose
of turning the water to the new mill, and also form-
ing a reserve pond. This dam can be plainly scen at
the present time, although covered with quite a
growth of timber. The mill in the ravine did not
stanc long either, and the next move was to dam the
water on the main brook, now called the Trucman
Mill Stream, and put up a large and substantial grist-
mill, that proved a great convenience to the whole
country for many years.

Beside this large expenditure in mills, most of
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which was made in the lifetime of the senior Wil-
liaw, there was a large outlay made for dyking and
aboideau building. Piece by piece the marsh was
being reclaimed from the tide and made to yield its
wealth of hay and pasture for the support of flocks
and herds.

I find a record showing there were seventeen cows
on the farm in 1790, and for the bencfit of some of
the members of the younger generation who live on
farms, here are their names: Cerloo, Red-heifer,
Spotty, Debro, Beauty, Madge, Lucy, Daisy, White-
face, Mousie, Dun, Rose, Lady Cherry, Black-eye,
Spunk and Roan.

The following letter, received at Prospeet in 1789,
tells of a more cheerful spirit ir. business in England,
but shows that they had floods and troubles of that
kind then as now:

“ HeLM HoUsE BILSDALE, Augt. ye 15th, 1789.

“DeAR CoUsINS,—

“I received two letters from you in the course of the
last year, and am exceeding glad to hear from you
and that you do well and are well, and tho I have
long dclyed writing yet it is ot want of respect, but
it was long before I could have any certain inteli-
gence from Mr. Swinburn, So I now take the opper-
tunity to let you know how I and my Sisters are
situate. I married Helling the daughter of Richard
Barr, by whom I have had 3 boys and 2 girls all live-
ing and healthfull. Aylsy is married to John the son
of James Boyes and lives at Woolhouseeroft, has no
children. Sally is married to John Cossins and lives
at Hawnby where Robt. Barker lived. She has 3

-
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children the two last were twins they were born
about Candlemas last and one of them is a very weakly
child, my mother is married to old Ricl’d Barr my
wife’s father and lives at Huntington nigh York. I
think we most of us live pretty well. Mr. has
advanced his land a great deal but since the peace
the times are pretty good we have this summera very
plentiful crop and we have a fine season for Reaping
the same, but in' the beginning of haytime we had an
excessive flood as almost ever was known so that
much hay was swept away and much more sanded.
Many bridges were washed down and in some places
much chattle drowned, My cousin John Garbut is
married to James Boyes’ widow and lives at Helm
house. So I shall conclude with my and my wife’s
duty to my unkle and aunt and our kind love to you
and your wife and children and subseribe ourselves
your very affectionate cousins,

“JoEN AND HELLING TRUEMAN.”

There was 1.0 break in the family by death until
1797. That year William Trueman, sen, died, aged
seventy-seven years, twenty-two of which he had spent
in America. The Mauger farm, his first purchase, was
left to Harmon, his eldest grandson. The family of
his son William had grown by this time to six sons
and two daughters, and success financially, in some
measure at least, had been achieved.

With milling, dyking and general farming, there
was work at Prospect to keep all the members of the
family busy, besides a large force of hired help.

It was decided this year (1797) to build a new house
and barn, and the site fixed upon was about one hun-
dred yards south of the Seurr house, where they had
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lived since the place came into their possession. The
barn was put up the next year, and measured eighty
feet long by thirty-three wide, with thirteen foot
posts. A part of this barn is still used for a stable.
In 1799 the house was built, the main portion being
made of brick burned on the marsh near by. It
fronted due south, and was twenty-seven feet by
thirty-seven feet, and two stories high, with a stone
kitchen on the west side. The cost of building was
eight hundred pounds. This was before the days of
stoves, there being six fire-places in the main house
and a large one in the kitchen.

In 1839 the stone kitchen was pulled down and one of
wood built on the north side. In 1879 an addition was
made, and now (October 2nd, 1900), it is as comfort-
able a dwelling as it has ever been. Five generations
have lived in it. Three generations have been born
and grown to manhood and womanhood within its
four walls, and they have never known the death of a
child, nor, with but one exception, the death of a
young person.

On the 29th January, 1800, Mvs. Trueman, sen.,
died in the eighty-eighth year of her age. Although
sixty-two years old when she came to America, she
lived to see the birth of nine grandehildren.

In 1801, Thompson, the youngest son, was born.
The family now numbered seven sons and three
daughters. This year William Black, known in
Methodist history as Bishop Black, was one of the
family at Prospect from November 17th, 1801, to
April 13th, 1802.  One week of this time was spent
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in Dorchester, for which a rebate was made in the
board bill. The bill was made out at the rate of five
shillings per weck.

In 1802, Mr. Trueman began to kkeep what he calls
“a memorandum of events.” The records chiefly refer
to home work, the weather and neighborhood happen-
ings. Asarecord of the weather, before thermometers
and barometers were in general use, it must be as
perfect as possible.  As a record of farm work it is
quite minute, and gives the reader an almost exact
knowledge of what was done on the farm each week
of the twenty years.

To those who live in the age of steam and electricity,
when it is possible to be informed at night of the
doings of the day on the other side of the planet, it is
hard to realize how little interest was taken a century
ago in anything outside of the community in which
one lived. This accounts in part, no doubt, for the
scant references in this journal to public events.
Only very rarely is an election mentioned, even in
the writer’s own county. Only once is there reference
to war, although the war of 1812 and the battle of
Waterloo took place during the years of the record,
and must have had a marked effect upon the trade of
the Provinces at that time.

Mr. Trueman made several trips to Halifax each
year, and met, while there, many of the leading
Methodist men of the city. The Blacks and the
Bells werve his friends.  His house was the home of
the ministers of his church during all his life, and
many of the public men who visited Cumberlana were
his guests at different times.
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The first entry m the journal is dated May 5th, 1502,
and reads: “ wind N.W_; cold stormy day. Planted
some apple trees: frost not out of the ground.

“May 6th—Wind N.W.; ground covered with snow
two inches thick ; disagreeable.

“May 8th—Wind N.W.; cold, backward weather.
Mr. Marsdon preached his farewell secrmon at the
Stone Church.”

“July 5th—This day was appointed by the Govern-
ment as a day of thanksgiving for the blessings of
peace. Mr. Bennet preached at Amherst Court House,
from Psalm 12, Ist verse, to a crowded and very
attentive audience.

“July 12th—Started for Halifax with thirty oxen.
Returned on the 22nd; had a very good time.”

(Ten days was the usual time taken on these trips.
The drovers would start some hours, or perhaps a day,
in advance of Mr. Trueman. He would go on horse-
back, in knee breeches, and with the old fashioned
saddle-bags.)

“Sept. 28th—Started to Halifax with twenty-four
cattle.

“Oct. 2nd—Arrived at Halifax Sunday night.
Wm.” (his son) “taken sick with measles. Monday,
and Tuesday, very sick. Wednesday, some better.
Thursday, walked the streets. Friday, started for
nome.

“Qct. 13th—High winds; very high tides; marshes
much flooded.

“Sept. 14th, 1803—Stephen Millage died of shock of
palsy. M. Oliphant, Methodist minister, arrived this
month at our house.
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“ Nov. 12th, 1803—Election at Dorchester. M.
Knapp goes in without opposition.”

These extracts from the journal will show the
character of the record.

In March, 1804, theze was a three days’ snowstorm—
—fell nigh two feet.” An attempt was made this
year to aboideau the Aulac River, where it runs
through the farm now owned by R. T. McLeod.

The Aulac at that time was one of the largest of
the rivers emptying into the Cumberland Basin. It
was a great undertaking to dam its waters with an
aboideau, and to make matters worse, the place
chosen proved to have a quicksand bottom, which
made it almost impossible to build a firm foundation.
For nearly four years they worked at this aboideau,
and finally had to abandonit. Dated Dec. 27th, 1808,
there is this cntry in the journal: “ Working at the
aboideau. Storming in the morning. Snow six
inches deep.

“Dee. 28th—Working at byto; very fine day.
The hole nigh filled up.”

On March 20th, he writes: “Concluded to give up
the Byto.” There is a reckless disregard of rules in
spelling the word “aboideau,” but doubtless the pro-
nunciation was as varied then as now. Being obliged to
let this work go must have been a great disappoint-
ment and a great loss as well. It was not till 1829,
more than twenty years after, that the aboideaun, now
known as the “ Trueman Byto,” was built.

A night’s experience during the building of the
first aboideau was long remembered by the family at
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Prospect. The following is the only reference made
to it in the journal: “June 7th, 1804—The sluice went
adrift; was up to Nappan.” On the 9th: “ Got back
as far as Cumberland; wind favorable in coming
back.”

The sluice referred to is a large wooden box or
waterway, which is placed near the centre of the
aboideau and as near as possible in the bed of the
river. The great height of the tides, and the rapid
current that runs up and down the stream twice in
twenty-four hours, make it a most ditficult operation
to get one of these sluices bedded. The sluice would
be about fifty feet long, fifteen fect wide, and five or
six feet deep.

The men were hard at work after the sluice had
been got into its place, trying to make it secure with
the weight of mud, but the tide coming too quick
for them lifted it out of its bed. Four of the True-
man boys sprang on the sluice as it floated down the
river, in the hope of saving it in some way. It
proved, however, to be a most unmanageable craft,
and they could do little to stay their course down the
river, and in spite of every etfort were carried out
into the Basin. Night came on and their only
chance of safety was, if possible, to stick to the plank
box in the hope that the currents might carry them
to some point where they could get safely to shore.
Next day their unwieldy eraft grounded near Nappan,
and they at once landed and were hospitably enter-
tained at a farm-house near by. After getting sun-
plies and sending word to Prospect of their safety,
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they again boarded their strange vessel and sueceeded
that day in getting back to the mouth of the river,
and finally back to their starting point.

Mrs. Trueman never wholly recovered from the
nervous shock of that night. There was little hope
in the minds of any that the men would ever get
safely to land.

Thirty years had passed since the family had left
England. The letter given below shows how warm
an interest the friends there still had in them:

“ DEAR CousIiN,—We received yours dated Jan. 15,
but not till late in September, 1804, and we are glad
to hear that you and your family are all in good
health and enjoying prosperity in your affairs of life.
We had heard by your last letter of the death of your
mother. My kind husband died something more than
six years since. Your Aunt Sarah Bently died some
time before my husband. Your Aunt Mary Flintoft
is yet alive and enjoys as good health as can be ex-
pected, her age considered. Your Aunt Ann True-
man is yet alive and well as can be expected. Your
Cousin Harmon married and is doing very well. He
lives at Kelshaw, in the west of Yorkshire, and has a
large family and keeps a public house. Alice is mar-
ried and lives at Woodhouse Croft and has only one
son. Ann and Sarah both live at Hornby and enjoy
good health. I and my eight children live yet at the
old habitation, namely, at Helmhouse, and enjoy a
sufficiency of the necessaries of life. Jane Chapman
and Ann are both alive and enjoy as good health as
most people at almost 80 years of age, and desire
their kind love to you and your wife. James Hewgill
and wife do the same. They never had any children.
The last summer’s crop of corn was poorly laden, so
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that wheal is now from ten to firteen shillings per
bushel, and is like to be more, as war being carried
on makes taxes very high; but still, thanks toa kind
Providence, industrious people may yet live above
want.  And soon sball all worldly calamities be over,
and then if we are prepared for death we shall know
woes and calamities no more. Pray write again when
opportunity serves.

“I remain your very loving cousin,
“EriNxor TRUEMAN.
“ Helmhouse, Billsdale.
“ March Tth, 1805.”

The first marriage in the family at Prospect was in
July, 1805. The entry in the journal is: «“ Thomas
and Mary were married by Rev. Mr. Perkins.” Mr.
Perkins was a minister of the Episcopal Church.

In 1806 I find this entry: « Mr. Bamford preached
in the Stone Church, and Mr. Perkins administered
the sacrament.” This must have been before the
Methodist minister was allowed to administer the
sacrament.

Mr. Trueman was evidently mistaken in the name
of Thomas’s wife. He calls her Mary. Her name
was Policene Gore ; but as she was alway's called Polly,
the mistake no doubt oceurred in that way.

From a letter received from Rev. Wm. Black at this
tinie, the following extract is taken:

“I give you joy on the marriage of your son
Thomas, and as I hear John is on the point of being
married, too, I also wish you the same blessing on
him. It would afford me riuch joy to hear that all
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your children were made acyuainted with the saving
benefits of religion. Tor parents to see their children
well settled in this world and seeking the world to
come must, I apprehend, be an unspeakable satis-
faction. Ol, let us pray more and advise them to
turn to the Lord with all their hearts.

“ Please to remember me kindly to all the family.
I do feel a sincere regard for you all and wish to
meet you in the Land of God.

« Farewell,
“From your unworthy friend,
“Wir. Brack”

Policene Gore’s mother had a more than ordinavily
eventful life. Her grandson Edward writes-

“My grandmother was born in the United States,
then the New England colonies. Her first husband
was Captain Ward; their howme was near the garrison
on Grattan Heights. Captain Ward arrived home
from sea with his vessel the day before Arnold made
his attack on the garrison, and, joining in the defence,
was fatally shot. Mrs. Ward's next hushand was my
grandfather GGore, who was also a sea-captain.  Some
years after they were married Captain Gore took his
wife to Fort Lawrence, Nova Scotia, where they had
friends, and her husband veturned with his vessel to
make another voyage, but was never heard from
after. It was supposed the vessel was lost with all
on hoard.”

After living some years in widowhood, Mrs. Gore
married a Mr. Foster, a school-teacher.  They lived
“for a time in 2 house on the schoal lands in Jolicure.
The schoolmaster did rot live long to enjoy his mar-
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ried life. His suceessor was a Mr. Trites, of Salisbury.
He only lived a few months after marviage. Mrs
Trites' fifth and last husband was a Mr Siddall, of
Westmoreland Point.  After his death Mrs. Siddall
lived with her danghter, Mrs. Trueman, where, in the
words of her grandson, “she lived eighieen years,
a happy old woman and a blessing in the family.”
She was in her eighty-fourth year at the time of her
death.

Mrs. Siddall’s house was the only one in the village
not burned during the battle of Grattan’s Heights.
It is still kept in repair, and called the Gore House.
Harmon, a grandson, visited the Heights a few years
ago, and was present at the one-hundredth anniver-
sary of the battle. Recently a letter came into the
possession of Edward Trueman, written by his great-
grandmother to his grandmother. Among other
things, she writes: “I hear that you are married
again, and that Policence is also married. I have not
heard either of your husbands’ names: do write, and
let me know them.”

Policene Gore was horn in 1788, and Thomas True-
man in 1736, which would make them seventeen and
nineteen years old when the marriage knot was tied
—a young couple to start out in life.

John married Naney Palimer, September 12th, 1503,
William wmarried Jane Ripley, January 23nd, 1506,
and Harmon, the first-born, married Cynthia Bent,
June Sth, 1807, The four cldest sons were marrvied
within the year and a half, and on April 14th, 1508,
Sallie, the cldest dawgshter, entered the matrimonial
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haven. This was thinning out the oli home pretty
fast. The sons, however, all settled near Prospect,
and were several years getting finally located in their
own homes.  Harmon took the Mauger farm left him
by his grandfather; Thomas, the Patten farm, joining
the glebe. John settled at Mount Whatley : Willie
took the mill property and farm now in possession of
Lis grandsons, Amos and Johnston Trueman.

The drain on the home place to start for themselves
so many of the family, and in so short a time, must
have been considerable. Harvmon had a house and
barn to build. Several entries in the journal refer to
his getting out timber. On July 16th, 1506, Harmon
raised his house. This house, yet one of the most
comfortable in the place, is at present the property of
A. C. Carter. Mrs. Carter is a granddaughter of
Harmon.

April 22nd, 1806, I find this entry: “Robert
Dickey and Nellic Chapman married. Started to
frame the new mill”

“May Svd—Saw mill and barn raised.”

No mention is made of building a house for Willie,
so probably there was one on the place. John and
his wife lived for a time in the Seurr house, and for
a time with Willie, before finally settling at Mount
Whatley.  Sallic married Gilbert Lawrenee, of West-
morcland. It is said Sallie had an ashiniver who lived
in Halifax, and occasionally visited (‘fumberland, and
~who in later years became a prominent official in the
exceutive of that city.

In the carly days an admirer a hundred miles dis-
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tant was at a great disadvantage, and the “Fooler
lad,” as Sallie’s mother called young Lawrence, won
the prize.

Amos Fowler, of Westmoreland, or Fowler's Hill,
married Miss Keillor, a sister of Mrs. Trueman. He
was a Loyalist, and after living in this couniry some
years, he visited the old home in New Englaud, and
on his return to New Brunswick brought with him
his nephew, Gilbert Lawrence. After his marriage
Gilbert scttled at Amherst Point, and from there
moved to Maccan, now called Southampton, where he
was a very suceessful farmer for many years. He
left the Maccan farm to a son a few years before his
death, and bought a farm in Nappan. Here he spent
the last years of his life, honored and respected for
his sterling character.
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CHAPTER VIL
EXTRACTS FROM JOURNAL AND LETTERS.

SOME extracts from the journal as a beginning to

this chapter will, I hope, be interesting to some
of the deseendants:

“Aug. 2nd, 1802—Richard Lowerison’s barn buraed.

“Aug. 7th—Mr. Milledge preached at church. Got
upland hay all up. Have 60 tons good hay in barn
and in stock.

“ Aug. 28th—Quarterly meeting at our house.

“ Aug. 30th —Was juryman in a case between Ralph
Siddall and George Huston before Samuel Gay, Esq.

“Sept. 10th—>3Mr. Albro dined at our house.” (M.
Albro was a Halifax man who traded in cattle.)

“Dee. 28th—John McCormick, apparently in good
health, died instantly at night.

“ May 10th —Mr. Marsden started to-day for the
Conference.

“ June 26th—>Ir. Bent arrived at our house to-day
and went over to Tantramanr.

«“ June 27th—Mr. Bent preached his first sermon in
Tantramar.

« May 3rd, 1803—William Bennet started for Con-
ference.

“Dec.—Mrs. MeMonagle’s house was drawn from the
plain to Mount Whatley-




i e § e

EXTRACTS FROM JOURNAL AND LETTERS. 111

“Jan. 9th, 1806—W. Wood Fillimore was married
to Nancy Patterson, of Cole’s Island.

“ April 5th, 1806—Tolar Thompson brought a large
birch log across the marsh on the ice, and also a load
of grain to the mill and returned the next day.

“June 16th—Harmon had the old shop drawn to
his house, had 17 yoke of oxen.

“William Allen was buried at the churchyard at
Camp Hill, attended by a large concourse of people.
Mr. Mitchell preached a sermon.

“ Nov. 29th—DMr. Roach lost his vessel : the Capt.
and two men were drowned; 515 firkins of butter
saved.

“Jan. 12th, 1806—This day Wm. McKenzie was
found dead, sitting in his chair, supposed to be frozen
to death.

“Junc 3rd, 1808—Wm. Black came to our house
and Mrys. Black and son, Martin Gay. Mr. Black
preached at Stone Chapel.

In February of same year, “ Mr. Foster came to
mill in a cart and John Patterson from Cole’s Island
with a sled.” '

“Jan. 19th, 1808—Mr. Bamford moved to our house.

“Jan. 25th—A meeting to confer about the Byto* ;
nothing was done.”

“Jan. 3rd, 1809—>Martin Black married to Fanny
Smith.”

On the 8th of that month “ William Black preached
at Sackville, and on the 11th at Mr. Roach’s in Fort

* Thix, I suppose, was the aboidean that had to be abandoned,
to which reference has heen made.
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Lawrence; on the 16th Williamm Black started for
Halifax.”

“Feb. 231rd, 1809—Went to the Supreme Court.

“Teb. 29th, 1810—Mrs. Roach, of Fort Lawrence,
died to-day after a short sickness. Rev. Mr. Knowl-
ton preached the funeral sermon from Psalms; a very
solemn time; about five hundred people present.

“In June, 1811, Robert Bryce purchased a lot of
cattle and some butter in Cumberland.

“June 28th—Went to Bay Verte with a drove of
cattle and some sheep, put 32 cattle and 116 sheep
on board vessel for Newfoundland.

“July Sth—Started ten oxen for Halifax. *John
Trueman raising his house and barn, July 6th, 1811.

“July 24th—Pulled the old mill down. A son of
John Harper’s was badly hurt at the mill brook.”

I notice in the journal that “muster day ” was in
Sackville this year. It scems to have been a very
prosperous year for the farmers of Cumberland. Ship-
ments of cactle and sheep were made to Newfoundland
and the usual supply sent to Halifax. The price
paid must have been satisfactory; it would, at any
rate, be so considered by our farmers now.

The following letter sent to Messrs. Reed and
Albro, dated Sept. 6th, 1811, gives one an idea of the
condition of the cattle trade at that time:

“ WESTMORELAND, Sept. 6th, 1811.

“Mess. REED & ALBRO.

“Sir,—Recd. your letter by Thomas Roach. Esq.,
respeeting cattle; have been leoking around for some
cattle, cannot buy for less than 6d. (10e.). M. ,
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of Westmoreland, has some good cattle unsold at
present. If you wish me to purchase you some
cattle you may depend on my doing the best in my
power for you. Wishing your answer as soon as
possible, as the good cattle may be picked up. 1 wish
you would send me the weights of the different lots
of Beeves. I cannot sebtle with the people I pur-
chased from for want of the weights. Have given two
drafts on you, one on Saml Holsted for £200, pay-
able the 20th July, and one on A. Fowler for £100,
payable on the 28¢th July.

“You will oblige me much by calling on Wm. Allan
and take up a mortgage deed belonging to Thomas
King, of Westmoreland.

“There is, he thinks, about £50 or a little more
due on it. Send it to me and I shall get the money
paid me on sight, as I want a letter. And in so doing
you will much

“ Oblige your well wisher,

“ Wi TRUEMAN.

“P. S.—Thomas Roach, Esq., will furnish you with
ten cattle at 6d, delivered in Halifax. If you aceept
his offer, send a boy to Windsor to meet the cattle.
Please to write the first opportunity and inform me
what I shall do. Do you want a few firkins of
butter this fall? I have given Harmon Trueman an
order on you bearing date of 7th Sept.

“I am your humble servant,

“ WM. TRUEMAN.”

The following letter, a copy of which is among the
papers ab Prospect, also adds some information about
trade at that time:

8
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“ WESTMORELAND, March 7th, 1812.
“Mn. JoHN ALBRO:

“ Dear Sir,—I hope these lires will find you and
Mrs. Albro and family enjoying health and every
other blessing. I take this opportunity to inform you
that I expect to have 12 or 14 osen to dispose of this
summer. I wish you to have the preference. If you
wish to have them shall be glad to have a line from
you by Mr. Gore, as also what you think the price
will be.

«I want no more than the market price.

“Remain your humble servant,
“ Wi. TRUEMAN.

“N. B.——John Keillor, Esq.; hath four good oxen he
wishes you to have with mine. They ave four fine
oxen. They are likely to be good by July 15th.”

In addition to the buyers from Halifax, Newfound-
land was this year sending to Westmoreland for a
part of its beef supply. The letter below refers to
the trade with that colony:

“ WESTMORELAND, 80 Oct., 1811.
“ MEssrs. JOHN & ROBERT BRYNE,—

“I sent you a few lines Sept. 4th. Thinking it a
chance whether you rzceived it or no, I take the
liberty to send you a second. I think it will be a
great advantage to you to have some hay purchased
and drawn to the place in winter.

“If you wish to have any purchased I will do it
for you, only let me know the quantity you wish to
have. Cattle have been as low as 4 pence or 5 pence
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in the spring. I* is uncertain what the price may be,
but I see no prospeet of them being very high, as
there is great plenty of cattle in the country. Should
you want any in the spring you can rely on my doing
the best in my power to serve you.

“Remain your most humble servant,
y
“ Wi TRUEMAN.”

Mr. Bryne had been in Westmoreland that summer
and purchased a drove of cattle and sheep, which
were shipped on June 28th, as noted previously.

On April 25th, 1811, Mrs. Keillor, Mrs. Trueman’s
mother, who had been living at Prospect since 1806,
died. Her husband, Thomas Keiller, a stonemason by
trade, died some ycars earlier. There is at Prospect
a copy of a power of attorney given by Mrs. Keillor
to her “trusty friend,” Stephen Emmerson, to act for
her in collecting rents and selling claims in Skelton,
England, in connection with the property owned by
her late husband.

This document was copied by Amos Botsford and
witnessed by Wm. Botsford and Henry Chapman,
jun., and dated Oct. 30th, 1810.

Murs. Keillor was buried on the old farm at Fowler’s
Hill beside her husband in a small burying-ground
that was formerly surrounded by a stone wall, part
of which is still standing.

Mrs. Keillor's maiden name was Mary Thomson.
She and two other married sisters— Tane, the wife of
John Carter, and Ann, the wife of William T ueman—
came with the Yorkshire emigration. These sisters
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left one brother at least in England, as the letter
following, in veply to one received from George
Thompson, will show :

“ ProspeEcT, March 29th, 1811.

“DEAR UNCLE AND AUNT,—Received your welcome
letter of March 29th, and was glad to hear from you
and of your wellfare, and hoping these lines will find
you and yours enjoying the same blessings of health
and happiness. .

“I have to tell you of the death of my mother-in-
law. She departed this life April 22nd.  Your sister
Jane is very well at present.

“The vest of your family are all well. If you see
fit to come out in the spring your friends will be glad
to see you. It will be best for you to get a lumber
vessel if you can. There hath been two vessels from
Hull and one from Newecastle this summer. Respect-
ing goods and merchandise, lay in well for common
clothing. Bring some home-made linens and checks.
Ox-chains and horse-traces and bridles. Everything
in wood will be expensive.

“You ask what bills I propose. Good bills on
Halifax answer, but nothing will answer like cash
here, as it may be some trouble to get them cashed.
Mechanics of all kinds are wanted. Carpenters, 7
shillings 6 pence per day. We pay 4s. and 4s. 6d.
for making a pair of shoes. A good tailor is much
wanted. We pay 6s. for shoeing a horse. Bring a
few seythes of the best quality. Baie Verte is the
best place to land at: if you cannot make that out,
St. John or Halifax. There may be some difficulty
in getting a passage from Halifax by water. Shall
look out for a place for you with a house on it.

“ May the Lord direct you and prosper your under-
taking. Give my best respects to George Swinburne
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and wife. Let him know my wife and my ten chil-
dren and myself are well.

“I have nothing more at present to write. May
the Lord direct you in all your ways, so prays your
affectionate nephew and niece,

“War. AND ELIZABETH TRUEMAN.”

My. George Thompson did not emigrate to Nova
Scotia as he expected when he wrote to his uncle and
aunt. The following letter, written by his son five
years later, explains why :

“DUrHAM, Sept., 1S16.

“Dear Cousins,—You probably would think it
very strange our not writing to you for so long a
time, but 1 can assure you it was not for want of
affection or respect, but merely inadvertence; and no
doubt you would think it strange, after my father
wrote to inform you he intended setting out for
America, that he never went, but the principal i eason
was that on sccond consideration he thought himself
too far advanced in years to undertake so long a
voyage, and the rest of the family except myself
were not very willing. Consequently he immediately
after that took a large farm, which I had principally
to manage, otherwise I would have gone at that
time. However, it is my wish to sct out next spring,
and have now written to inform you it, in order that
I may have your answer before that, stating all par-
ticulars of the country, and if there be a good pros-
pect for me. There is also an acquaintance of mine,
a threshing machine maker and cartwright, has a
desire to accompany me; therefore be sc good as to
say what prospect there is for such a man as he is.

“ All my brothers and sisters are married and set-

SISV
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tled, and my father and mother are very well and
now live by themselves, retired from farming.

“ Hoping you and all friends ave well, I shall con-
clude with kindest love to all,

“ And remain, dear cousin,
“Yours affectionately,
“ GEORGE THOMPSON.

“P.S.—Have the goodness to write the first oppor-
tunity, and direct to me at
“ Harbour House,

“ Durham.”

It is quite possible the above letter did not receive
a reply. A good deal of trouble had been taken o
send full information to the father, and five years
were allowed to pass before any acknowledgment was
made. At all events, there is no record of a letter
being sent to the son, and it is eertain he did not
come to this country.

The subjoined communication helps to show the
depressed condition in England at thsaé period, and
that many were looking to America in the hope of
bettering their condition :

“ May 14th, 1819.

“DEAR CousiN,—I hope these lines will find you
?ll \.\;ell, as they leave us at present. We thank God
or it.

“I intend to come over to America this spring If
it should please God, For the state of England are
very bad, Land has got so very dear that - livelihood
cannot be got in England, and the taxes that Govern-
ment lays on are very heavy, till they reduce so many
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to a lower class that the land will hardly support the
poor. I hope you are in a better situation in America.
“We understand in England that the States of
America are very flourishing at present. I intend to
set off to America the first of June. If it should
please God that I should get over safe, I hope to get
to your house as soon as I can. All your cousins are
in good health at present. Thank God for it, and
they wish to be remembered to you and all your
family.
“So I remain your most obedient cousin,
“ JAMES BoYES,
“of Bilsdale.

“N.B.—By the wishes of one of your cousins, of
the name of Harman Wedgwood, a son of Benjamin
Wedgwood, a tailor, he would like to hear from you.
He thinks you will give him some information of
your country.

“ He wants to come t¢ live in your country, and if
you please to give him some intelligence of tailors’
wages in your country.

“So he remains your most obedient cousin,

“ HarMAN WEDGWOOD,
“ Hawnby.”

“N.B—If you please to write to him you must
direst as follows:

“« HARMAN WEDGWOOD,
«< Hawnby,
“¢ Near Helmsley, Blackmoor,
Y
“¢Yorkshire, England.’”

There was no change in the family at Prospect
after Sallie’s marriage in 1808 until 1817. On Jan.
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17th of the latter year Robert married Kunice Beat,
of Fert Lawrence, a sister of Harmon’s wile, and in
October Amos married Susanna Ripley, a sister of
Willie’s wife.

Robert settled on a farm adjoining the homestead.
His house was not built until the summer following
his marriage. James, his eldest child, was born 30th
October, 1817, in the Brick House at Prospect Farm.
Amos settled at the head of Amherst (now called
Truemanville). The following letter, written by his
youngest daughter, Mrs. Sarah Patterson, is very
interesting, as giving some idea of the experiences of
that time:

“When my father first came to live in the place
now called Truemanville it was a dense forest. In
summer the only road was a bridle path. In winter,
when the snow was on the ground, they could drive
& pair of oxen and a sled alomr the road.

“The winter my father was married, as soon as
there was enough snow and frost, he and one of his
brothers and another man seb out to build a house.

“They loaded a sled with boards, doors and win-
dows, and provided themsclves with bedding and
provisions to last till the house was finished. The
then hitchéd the oxen to the sled and started on then
twenty-mile jowrney and most of the way on a track-
less path.

“When they arvived at their journey’s end, they
erected a rude hut to live in and commenced building
a house. They did not have to go far {or timber - it
was standing all avound the site chosen for the house.
* “They bmlt, a very nice log house, 15 {t. by 18 {t.
Their greatest trouble in l»mldmﬂ' was, the stones
were so i'xost) they could not '<pht them. They had
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to kindie a huge fire of brushwood and warm the
stones through, when they split finely.

“ After they had built the house they returned
home, having been absent about three weeks.

“ My father and mother then moved to their new
home, and father began to build a saw mill and grist
mill. :

“Their nearest neighbors were one and a half miles
distant, unless we count the bears and foxes, and
thev were far too soeiable for anything like comfort.
Sheep and cattle had to be folded every night for
some years.

“ After father had built his grist mill he used to
keep quite a number of hogs.  In the fall of the year,
when the beechnuts began to drop, the men used to
drive them into the woods, where they would live
and grow fat on the nuts. One cvening when my
mother was returning from a visit to one of the
neighbors she heard a terrible squealing in the woods.
She at onee suspected that bruin designed to dine
off one of the hogs. She hastened home to summon
the men to the rescue, but darkness coming on they
had to give up the chase. However, bruin did not
geb any pork that night; the music was too much
for him, and piggie eseaped with some bad seratches.

“ A short time after this, ominous squeals were heard
from the woods. The men armed themselves with
pitchforks and ran to the reseue.  What should they
meet but one of my uncles coming with an ox-cart.
The wooden axles had got very dry on the long,
rough road. and as they neared my father’s the sound
as the wheels turned resembled very closely that
made by a hog under the paws of bruin,

“ Imagine the way of travelling in those days?! 1
have heard my father say there were only two car-
ringes between Point de Bute and Truemanville.
Their principal mode of travel was on horseback.
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My father and mother visited Grandfather Trueman’s
with their three children.  Mother took the youngest
on one horse, and father took the two older ones on
another horse: and yet we often hear people talk of
the ¢ good old times.’

“ My father was a man of generous disposition.
The poor and needy always found him ready to
sympathize and help them. He often supplied grain
to them when there was no prospect of pa.vmt,nt
He would say, ‘A farmer can do without many
things, but not without seed grain’ That reminds
me of an incident I will tell you, of our Grandfather
Trueman. About thirty-five years ago my mother
was visiting at Stephen Oxley’s, at Tidnish, where
she met an old lady whose name I forget: but no
matter. When she heard my wmother’s name she
began talking about Grandfather Trueman. She
said she would never forget his kindness to her in
her younger days when shc aw! her hushand first
came from the Old Country and began life among
strangers in very straightened circumstances.  After
passinrr through a hard winter in which food had
been very scarce they found themselves in the spring
without any seed wheat or the means of buying any.

“Her husband was almost in despair. She tried
to cheer him up by telling him that if she went to
Mr. Trueman she thounrht he would help them. So
her husband agreed to let her try her chance, and
she mounted a horse and set out for Prospect FFarmn.
Just as she arrived there another woman came in and
asked Mr. Trueman to sell her sowe wheat, telling
him she had money to pay for it. Grandfather said
he had very little wheat to sell, but he could let her
have a bushel or two. The old lady said her heart
almost sank within her; she thought her case was
hopeless. However, she told him she, too, had come
for seed wheat, but she had no money nor the means
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of getting any at present, and they were entirely
without seed. Grandfather turned to the other
woman and said, * You have money - go to Mr.

(a2 neighbor), you can get as much as you want, and
I will give tals woman the grain’  Oh, how glad she
felt ! Words were too poor to express her thanks,
and she went home rejoicing. In after years, when
Providence had favored her with a goodly share of
this world's goods, she could not tell this experience
without the tears running down her checks. How
true it is, < The memory of the just is blessed.””

The following letter received from a son of Rev.
William Black, is of some interest:

“ HaLirax, NS,
“27th Sept, 1819.
“Mnr. WicLiayM TRUEMAN, -

“Dear Sik,—Your favor of the 20th inst. is at
hand, and in reply to it, as relates to the probable
price of Butter, I would state it as my opinion that
it is likely to command about 14d. A considerable
quantity of Irish Butter has already arrived and
more is expected. A number of firkins have this
day been sold at public auction at ls. per 1b.,—the
quality is said to be very fair. Please say to Mrs.
Wells that I have received her letter of the 24th
inst., and shall do as she requests. Murs. Black and
family are well, and join me in best regards to
Mrs. Trueman, Yourself and Family.

“Yrs. truly,
“M. G. Brack.”

After Ames and Robert left Prospect for homes
of their own, the family remained unchanged until
1820. That ycar, Mary, the second daughter, married
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William Humphrey, of Sackville. William Humphrey
was o carpenter by trade but shortly after his
marriage bought a farm in Upper Macean and went
quite extensively into farming and milling.

The Humphreys were from Yorkshive, and after
coming to America, settled first at Falmouth, Nova
Scotia.  After the death of Wm. Humphrey, sen,
Mrs. Humphrey, following the advice of her friend,
Charles Dixon, moved to Sackville with her family of
five children, three sons and fawvo daughters.  James
Dixon says of Mrs. Humphrey, in his history of the
Dixons: “She was evidently a capable woman,” and
judging from the position her descendants have
taken in the new country he was probably right
n his estimate.

As I remember the sccond William Humphrey, he
was a man of more than ordinary intelligence, one who
looked eclosely at both sides of a question, and with
whom every new undertaking was well thought out
beforchand.  He had no place for the man who
wanted to make a show. He was, for the times, a
large employer of labor, and his men did not readily
lIeave his employ. He was possessed of strong relig-
lous convietions, but was by no means demonstrative
in such matters. IHis children were given good
educational opportunities. Two of his sons studied and
garaduated at colleges in the United States, and two
others were students at the old Aeademy, at Sackville,

The following letter, written by William, one of
the sons who was edueated in the United States, to
his cousin R* will show how graduates of that day
looked upon life.
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. “NEw HAVEYN, June 27th, 1853.
“DEar CoUSIN,

“Your very welcome letter eame to hand in due
time, for which I am exceedingly obliged, especially
as many of my correspondents have been dilatory and
others have given me up altogether. But they prob-
ably have as much reason to complain of me as I
have of them. The truth is my studies so occupy
my attention that I am too much inclined to forget
my friends.  The aequisition of a profession presents
such an immensity of labor that it would seem to
requive a lifetime to become proficient. especially
when the small amount of energy that 1 can com-
mand is brought to bearupon it. However, I am not
disposed to find fault with the labor so long as there
is so much that is intensely interesting and I can
make respectable progress towards the grand crisis
of a student’s life.

“ New Haven is equally asattractive as it was dur-
ing my college life and I feel more at home here than
in any other place in the United States during the
present summer so far. I have become acyuainted
with the professional men of the city from whom I
have received many favors and many of whom I
hope to regard as my future friends. Through their
influence I have had an opportunity of treating a
number of patients, which is no small advantage to
me in my studies. I confess I am so much attached
to the city I ~hould like to make it my home if it
were practicable, but it is so much crowded with
physicians that there is no room for me. In reply
to your question as to what pleasure it afforded me
to receive my diploma, I can very 1cadily say that it
was far from aflording me anything like a thrill of
pleasure to look back upon my acquirements. I
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rather felt as a tired traveller might be supposed to
feel when, having exerted himself to reach the top of
the first peak on a mountain, he hus only secured a
L position where he can see Alpine peaks towering to the
: ‘ff skies, which he must scale before his journey is ended.
it I very many times have felt as though I was not
a particle wiser since I graduated than before I first
lett home, yet I suppose I may claim more than this
for myself without being thought vain or arrogant,
but what advantage either myself or others are to
reap from it remains to be seen. I hope I am better
prepared to spend the remainder of my life more
protitably than I was before, with higher aims and
1n possession of greater eapacity for enjoyment myself
i and of doing goud to others. I cannot yet tell when
| "3 I shall get my medical degree, yet if fortune favors
; and I get along with my studies pretty well, it will
not be longer than fourteen months. I would like
to arrange my plans to leave for home as soon as 1

N ! get through, but it is so long beforehand that I do
B not think about it yet.

5‘ «I shall have a short vacation of a few weeks, com-
B mencing with August 1st, when I should like to be
g at home, but I do not deem it best for me to go this

i sunmer. I shall protubly go into the country ‘round.
I shall probably return to Philadelphia early in Octo-
ber and spend the winter t .ere, which will end my
residence in that city, unless I should remain longer
b to attend the hospital and see more practice than I
could otherwise.

“Trom the accounts I hear from home you still
have need of doctors, for people will continue to be
sick and die.

“Think you there will be any patronage for me?
But your answer will probably depend upon my
worthiness of it.
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“ But I must hasten to close. I shall be happy to
hear from you whenever you are disposed to write.
“Kind regards to your mother, sisters and brothers.
“ Very sincerely yours,
“WirLLiax F. HUMPHREY.
“To:
“Miss Rurt TRUEMAN,
“Point de Bute.”

The Humphreys have not increased rapidly in this
country. There were three brothers in the first
family, William, John and Christopher. John never
married. Christopher married, but had no family.
William had four sons, and these, with their father
and uncles, made seven of the name then living in the
provinces.  Since then lhese fsar boys have married,
and two of their sons, set the males of the name just
number "seven to-da;’: and. strange to say, have
remained at that firure the most of the time for the
last seventy years. At present there are living four
great-grandsons, and three great-great-grandsons of
the first William.

Dr. Humphrey graduated in regular course, received
his medical degree, and settled in St. John, New
Brunswick, where he worked up a good practice. His
health, ho.. ver, gave way, and he died a compara-
tively young man.

Mrs. Bishop, a daughter of William Humphrey,
writes:—

“1 do not remember hearing my parents say much
about their early life. Iremember my fathersaying he

gave a doubloon to the man who married them. They
moved to Maccan very shortly after they were
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marvied. When grandmother Humphrey died they
went to the funeral on horseback (thirty miles), and
took John with them, then a young babe. (The baby,
John, was the late John A. Humphrey, of Moncton.)
I have heard mother say she took me to her father’s
funeral when I was four months old, another long
ride on horseback.”

Muys. Bishop is the only one of the family now living.

Returning to the family at Prospect, Betty, the
youngest daughter, was married to George Glen-
denning, in 1823. Her name was to have been
Elizabeth, but one day previous to the baptism the
minister was at the house and asked Mrs. Trueman
what baby’s name was to be. She said, “ Oh, I sup-
pose it will be Betty,” meaning to have her baptized
Elizabeth, but to call her Betty for short. When the
minister came to the baptism, he did not ask the name,
but baptized the baby Betty. The mother did not
feel very well pleased about it, but Betty it had to be.

George Glendenning, George Moffat and George
Dickson, three Dumfricshire farmers, came to America
in the spring of 1820.  They had talked the matter
over during the long evenings of the previous winter,
and finally determined to try their fortunes in the
New World.

The agricultural distress that prevailed in Ireland
ab that time affected Scotland also, and the wages of
farm laborers was only a shilling a day in harvest
time. No doubt the love of adventure and a desire
to see more of the world also had something to do with
the decision of the young men. Passages were secured
on the ship dbionu, bound for Miramichi, at which
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port the young men were safely landed early in May.
John Steele was also a passenger in this vessel. He
went to Cumberland and settled on the gulf shore
near Wallace. Rev. Dr. Steele, of Ambherst, is a
grandson of John Steele.  George Moffat also went
to Cumberland, and settled at River Hebert. Beside
managing a farm he did a large business in sending
beef cattle to the Halifax market. Mr. Moftat was a
fine, honest man, “a canny Scot,” who was always as
good as his word and expected others to be the same.

George Glendenning had a brother living in St.
John, and after landing at Miramichi he went direct
to that place, where he made a short visit. There
was not much in the surroundings of St. John that
was attractive to the eye of a Scotch farmer, so the
young emigrant decided to try another locality. He
turned his steps towards “Old Chignecto,” a long,
hard walk. He made several attempts to get work
on the way, always without sucecess. At a farm-
house in Dorchester he might have got employment,
but did not lik: the appearance of things about the
place. Before leaving Dorchester he had become
much discouraged, and remembering his early train-
ing in a godly home, determined to ask direction and
guidance from his Heavenly Father. And so, falling
on his knees, he prayed that he might be dirvected in
his way so that by another night he might find a
place where work could be had. After this earnest
prayer he started out with more heart, but in the
long walle through the Dorchester woods to Sack-

ville, then on to the *“Four Corners,” no work was
9
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found, and so the marsh was crossed and Prospect
Farm was reached just as it began to grow dark. He
would try his fortune here. An old man answered
his knock at the door and bade him, “Come in,”
bu, in answer to his request for work said, “No, I
do not want a man, but you had better not go any
further to-night; we will keep you here.” In the
morning the proprietor of Prospect reversed his deeis-
ion of the night before and decided to give the young
Scotchman a trial.  The result was that he remained
with the family for three years, and when he left
took with him as his wife the youngest daughter.

Mr. Glendenning settled on a new farm at Amherst
Head (now Truemanville), and soon became one of
the most successful farmers of the district. John
Glendenning, of Amherst, is his son, and Rev. George
Glendenning, of Halifax, N.S,, and Robert Glenden-
ning, M.D., of Mass., U.S., are his grandsons.



CHAPTER VIIIL
PROSPECT FARM.

HOMPSON TRUEMAN, the youngest member
of the family, was married in March, 1823, to
Mary Freeze. He was only twenty-two years old,
and young looking for that age. He used to say in
later life that he married at just the right time.
His wife was a daughter of Samuel Freeze, of Upper
Sussex, King’s County. Her mother was Margaret
Wells, daughter of William Wells, of Point de Bute.
The TFreezes came from Yorkshire to Cumberland
in the Dulke of York, the first vessel that landed
Yorkshire emigrants at Halifax. Charles Dixon,
the founder of the Dixon name in Sackville, with his
family, came out at this time. The Freeze family,
when they arrvived in Nova Scotia, consisted of Wil-
linm frecze, sen., his son William, with his wife and
two children. Wm. Freeze, sen.,, remained in this
country only a short time. It was supposed the
vessel in which he took passag. for England was lost,
as his family never heard of him again.
The son, William, was a mason by trade, but settled
on a farm at Amherst Point, now occupied by the
" Keillor brothers. He remained in Cumberland until the
first of the present century, and then removed to
Sussex, King’s County, N.B. He had become rather
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discouraged in his efforts to reclaim the salt marsh,
and came to the conclusion that it would never be of
much value.

It is said that Mr. Freeze and his two sons started
in a small boat for Kentucky. When they got as far
as the mouth of the Petitcodiac River, they turned
their boat up the stream, going with the tide to the
head of the river. ILeaving the boat, they plunged
into the forest and tramped for some distance. At
last they concluded they had lost their way and were
not likely to reach Kentucky on that route. After
some consultation, the father climbed to the top of a
tall tree, and from this altitude the rich interval
lands of the Upper Kenncbecasis were full in view.

“There is a valley,” said Mr. Freeze, “and there is
where my bones are to be laid.”

Here Mr. Freeze got a grant of nine hundred acres
of land, enough to make farms for himself and his
four sons. William, a son, was a great reader and
student. He was very fond of mathematics, and it is
said that sometimes when he and his boys would go
to the field to hoe, he would take a stick and
mark on the ground a mathematical figure, and then
demonstrate it for the benefit of his boys. The
dinner horn would sound, and no potatoes had been
hoed that morning. John, another son, was a fine
singer and took great pleasure in giving singing
lessons to the young people in the neighborhood.
The Freezes could all sing, and most of the men were
handy with the mason’s tools, which led some wag to
say that the Freezes were all born with stone
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hammers in one hand and a note-boole in the other.
Charles, the fourth son, was a half-brother and
inherited the home farm. Charles was a great
reader and was very fond of history. He was eceen-
tric in some ways and would take long journeys on
foot.

He did not take kindly to railway travel, and his
nephews liked to tell about his planning one day to
go by rail instead of walking, but going to the station
before the train arrived, he said he “couldn’t be
detained ” and started away on foot.

Theve were two daughters. Miriam married Mat-
thew Fenwick, of Macean, N.S., who afterward moved
to the Millstream, in King’s County, and was the first
to plant the Fenwick name in that county.

Mary was the wife of Thowmas Black, of Amherst
(brother of Bishop Black). They had a large family.
The youngest son, Rev. A. B. Black, died in 1900.
The history of the Blacks in this country was written
by Cyrus, another member of the family.

Samuel, the eldest son of William Freeze, was
married three times, and had a family of twenty-one
children—seven by his first wife, Margaret Wells, of
Point de Bute; eight by his second wife, Bethia
Wager, of Dutch Valley; and six by his third wife, a
Miss Scott, of Petitcodiac.  The first family were all
daughters. The tenth child was the first son born.
Mr. Freeze was elected several times to represent
King's County in the Legislature at Fredericton, and
while attending to his duties there he was taken with
the illness that ended in his death.
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The following letter is among the old papers at
Prospect, written by Samuel Freeze shortly after
Polly’s marriage :

“ Sussex, Kind’s Counry,
“ February 25th, 1824.
“DEAR SON AND DAUGHTER,—

“T received yours, favored by Mr. Stockton, and
am happy to hear that you are all well, with a small
exception, such:as human nature is subject to.

“I am sorry to hear that the crop of hay has failed
so much the last season, which must be a great ijury
to that part of the country. I believe that we will
make out with what hay we have. You speak of
driving oxen to St. John. The southerly weather that
we had about the 12th of this month has raised the
water and ice to such an unusual .eight that it has
swept almost all the publick bridges downstream in
this parish, which cuts off our communication from
St. John by sleigh or sled, in a great measure, or I
would have written the butcher, and then could have
probably given you a satisfactory answer; but it is
not the case.

“Mr. R. Stockton informs me that you can get 41d.
at your own barn. I think that, as the road is, you had
better sell them for the 4} per lb., than to risk the
St. John market, as there is but very little shipping
in at present, and they get what they want from a
less distance, and the butchers will take every advan-
tage if they have not been contracted for. This ismy
opinion, but do as you think proper.

“I have set my hands to get out some timber this
winter. I think about 150 tons of ycllow pine and
50 of hackmatack, if the sledding continuces three
weeks longer. My crop of grain on my new farm did
not answer my expectations, a great part of it was
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struck with the rust. I suppose I will get on the
whole 16 acres something more than 100 bushels of
grain, viz., wheat, buckwheat and rye. I have since
u:cllanwcd it for an old farm (and pay 170 pounds)
situate one mile below Matthew Fenwiek’s, formerly
owned by Benj. Kierstead. It cuts 30 tons English
hay.  The buildings are in tolerable repair.  Susan
Freeze talks of coming to see you shortly.  Through
the merey of God I and wife and family ave all as
well as common.

“ Dear children, from your loving father,

“ SAMUEL FPREEZE.”
“Mr. THOMPSON TRUEMAN,
Westmoreland :

“You will please accept of our love and impart it
it to our children and friends.

“If, hereafter, you have beef to sell, and wish to
take advantage of the St. John market, let me know,
and I will get o butcher’s letter what he will do, and
if that smts you ean drive your cattle, but I did not

get your letter in time to get an answer and send it
Dack to you by the first of ¥ Maxch.

“S. ¥

A son of Samuel Freeze was sheriff of the county
of King’s, N.B, for a quarter of a century, and a
grandson is at present acting as deputy sheriff in that
county:.

Polly Freeze left her home in Sussex to take care
of her grandmother in Point de Bute, and was married
there. She had visited her before, making the jowrney
of ecighty miles on horseback, in company with a
friend. A great part of the way was through the
woods, with no road but a bridle-path for the horses.
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Thompson brought his bride to Prospect on the 11th
of March, 1823. The marriage certificate reads:

“I hereby certify that Thompson Trueman,
Bachelor, and Mary Freeze, Spinster, both of Point de
Bute, Co’ty of Westmoreland, were married by license
this eleventh day of March, in the year of our Loxd
one thousand eight hundred and twenty-three by me,

“CHRIS'N MILNER,
“Missionary at Sackville.
“In the presence of:
“JOSEPH AVARD,
“War. TRUEMAN.”

Rev. Mr. Bamford was the Methodist minister on
the Sackville Cireuit, which also included Point de
Bute, but a Methodist minister had not the right, at
that time, to solemnize marriage. In 1822, the year
before Thompson was married, a Methodist minister,
writing of the Trueman family, says:

“It consists of an old gentleman, his wife and ten
children, eight of whom are married, making twenty
souls. Of this number only two are not members of
Society, and they live so far from the means that
they cannot attend. Eighteen of the family, and for
anything that can be seen to the contrary, the whole
family, are doing well, both as to this world and that
which is to come. Nearly all those who are in our
Society meet in onc class ab their parents’, who are
just tottering into the grave ripe for eternity, and
they have lately subseribed one hundred and fifty
pounds towards the erection of a chapel in their neigh-
bourhood.”
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This chapel was crected that year, and used fora
place of worship till 1881, when it was superseded
by the present church, built at Point de Bute Corner
in that year.

I find the following cntry in the journal, dated
Oct. 2nd, 1820: “Picking apples: had twenty-one
grandchildren to dinner; picked about 100 bushels:
very dry weather.” The last entry is dated June
21st, 1824: “ Apple trees in full bloom: fine growing
weather.”

The date when the apple trees were in bloom was
scarcely ever omitted in the twenty ycars’ record,
and it varied from the fourth of June to the twenty-
first, which was the extreme limit. There is scarcely
any change noticeable in the handwriting from the
first entry to the last, and he would be seventy-two
years of age when the last entry was made.

On April 22nd, 1825, Mys. Trueman died, in the
sixty-eighth year of her age. She had lived to see
all her ten childven married and the birth of more
than a score of grandchildren. The last years of her
fife were years of suffering. Her husband outlived
her a year and a half, passing away on the 9th
September, 1826, in his seventy-fifth year. William
Trueman and Charles Oulton, of Jolicure, died at
nearly the same hour, and both were laid away in
the old burying-ground at Point de Bute.

Prospect Farm was left to Thompson. He had
been managing it for some years, and the business
was settled without much trouble. Little change
was necessary, as all the other members of the family
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had been provided for. There were legacies {o pay,
of course. Ruth and Albert, Thompson’s two cldest
children, were born before their grandfather’s death.

The routine of life at Prospect for the next ten or
twelve years was without much change. Two sons
and two daughters were added to the family. There
was sickness, but the doctor’s visits were not fre-
quent. DMr. Trueman suffered at times from acute
rheumatism, often so severe he could not turn him-
self in bed.

In 1829 another attempt was made to aboideau the
Aulac River, and this time it was successful. What
proved good ground was found less than a half mile
below the place chosen in 1805. Work to the amount
of £1,096 15s. 6d. in the construction of this aboidean
is credited to the following persons. I do not know
that this is the full cost of the work.

Harmon Trueman ....... £311 14s. 9d.
Joseph D. Wells......... 142 3 &
William Trueman ..... . 104 7 3
Robert K. Trueman...... 202 7 9
Thomas Trucman........ 64 15 4
Thompson Trueman.. . ... 110 6 10
William Trenholm . ... ... 100 0 0
William Hewson ........ 60 0 O

This aboideau was superseded in 1840 by the Etter
aboideau, which was thrown across the Aulac about
two miles nearer the mouth of the river. This latter
work was very expensive to maintain. The founda-
tion in one place scemed to be resting on quicksand,
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and was constantly settling. In 1860 it was decided
to abandon the structure and build a new one about
two hundred yards higher up the river. Two years
were taken to finish the new work, and in the mean-
time the old aboideau was kept in repair, which gave
much better facilities for working at the new one.

When the Eastern Extension Railroad was con-
structed, a right of way was secared by the company
over the new aboideau, and later, when the road
came into the hands of the Dominion Government,
an arrangement was made with the commissioners of
the aboideau for maintaining the work that has
proved very satisfactory to both the owners of the
marsh and the Government.

In the decade between 1830 and 1840 the price of
farm produce had dropped very much Lelow what it
was in the earlier years of the century. I find Hugh
Hamel bought at Prospect 539 lbs. of butter for 9d.,
or 15¢c., per Ib, and 1,198 lbs. of cheese for 6d., or 10c.
The next year, 1834, a sale of cattle was made to
George Oulton for 4d. per b, weight estimated. In
1811 the same description of beef brought ten cents.

In 1839 Rev. Mr. Bennet was for some months a
member of the home at Prospeet, and later Rev. My,
Douglas and Mrs. Douglas and Rev. Mr. Barrett spent
some time here in the order of their occupancy of the
Point de Bute Circuit.

In 1840 an influenza, much like la grippe, passed
through the country and caused a great many deatbhs.
The family at Prospect were nearly all down with it
at once, but all recovered.
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The saddest visitation that ever came to this home
was in the year 1845. On the evening of the 28th
July death came a sudden and unexpected guest.
The day had been fine, and farm work was going on
as usual. Mr. Trueman had been in the grist mill
all day. The family had gathered for supper, and a
horse stood saddled at the door. There was to be a
trustee meeting at the church that evening, and Mr.
Trueman was one of its members. Supper over, he
mounted his horse to ride to the church. Ten minutes
had not passed when the horse was seen without a
rider, and Mr. Trueman was found a short distance
from the house, where he had fallen, to all appear-
ance, dead. He was quickly carried in and medical
ald summoned, but all was of no avail. It was a
heavy blow. Mrs. Trueman could not look upon
life the same afterwards, and she mnever recovered
from the great sorrow. There were seven children,
the ecldest, Ruth, twenty-one years of age, and the
youngest, Mary, ecighteen months.

Thompson Trueman was in his forty-fifth year. He
was @ heavy man, quite different in build from his
brothers. The writer was but eight years old at that
time, and so has learned about him mainly from
others. He seems to have made a great many
friends, and was looked upon as an upright man.
One who knew him well said, when he heard of his
death, this passage of Seripture came to his mind:
“Help, Lord, for the godly man ceaseth, and the

~ faithful fail from among the children of men.”
1 The years that followed were trying ones at Pros-
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pect. The blight that ruined the potato crop in 1846,
and the loss of the wheat crop a few years later by
the weavil, were felt more keenly because of the loss
of the controlling mind. Lo give an idea of the
financial loss, I may mention the fact that in 1843
two thousand bushels of potatoes were grown on
the farm, and in 1847 not enough were grown to
supply the table. In addition to the great failure in
these two staple crops, at that time the price of becf,
pork and butter went down to a very low point. A
pair of oxen that would girth from six to six and a
half feet could be bought for forty-five or fifty dollars.
Pork went down to 4 and 4} cents per Ib., and butter
to 12} cents, or a York shilling. In one of the best
settlements in Nova Scotia a majority of the farms
were mortgaged to carry their owners over these
hard years. Those who remember the period in New
Brunswick history will not be inclined to complain
to-day.

Samuel Davis, with the help of Mrs. Trueman,
managed Prospect Farm until the sons were able to
take charge. Mr. Davis was a most faithful and
kind-hearted man, and is remembered with the live-
liest feelings of gratitude by the writer for the
numberless ways in which he tried to make up to
him & father’s loss.

It is doubtful if the saw-mill, which was built in
1843, was ever a paying investment.

In 1849 a stone kiln and machinery for making
oatmeal were added to the mill property. The loss
of the wheat crop had led the Government of the
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Province to encourage the use of oatmeal by offering
a bonus of £25 to anyone who would build an oat-
mill. This led to the addition, and oats were made
into meal for a large distriet of country for a good
many years; but the expense of keeping the dam up,
and the frequency with which it was carried away
by the freshets, must have absorbed most of the
profits of the business.

Up to this time agriculture had been the principal
industry on the Isthmus. The farmer was the promi-
nent man in the neighborhood, and the aim of
every young man was to get a farm of his own.
Now, however, there came a change. In 1848 gold
was discovered in California, and in 1849 and the
early ’50’s numbers of our young men left for the
gold-fields. Then came the telegraph serviee, which
called for bright, intelligent young men. Ever since
that date agriculture has declined relatively in the
Maritime Provinces. As the years went by the pro-
ducts of the western wheat-fields came into competi-
tion with the home-grown article, and the result was
soon felt in the milling Lusiness here. Since 1872
the grist-mill at Prospect, with its three run of stones,
and the saw-mill as well, have been allowed to go to
decay.

In 1856 Hiram Trueman married Tryphena Black,
of Prince Edward Island, and settled on the second
farm north of the old place. Later he sold this farm
and moved to Searletown, Prince Edward Island. In

1857, Eliza, the second daughter, married William
Avard, of Shemogue.
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In 1860, April 11th, Mrs. Trueman died, in the sixty-
second year of her age, and after fiftcen years of
widowhood. She had a large circle of friends, and
was always ready to help those who were in need.
After her husband’s death she kept up the family
altar, and few mothers have been more carnest in
looking after the moral and spiritual welfare of their
children.

In 1863, Howard, the third son, married Agnes
Johnstone, of Napan, Miramichi, and remained at the
old home. In January, 1864, Margaret, the third
daughter, was married to George M. Black, of Dor-
chester. The same year, in May, Mrs. Howard
Trueman died. In July, 1867, Howard married Mary
Jean Main, of Kingston, Kent County, daughter of
John Main, of that place. Mary, the youngest
daughter, was mairied to William Presgott, of Bay
Verte, in 1873.

The following minutes of a meeting held at Prospect
January 4th, 1875, will be of interest :

“ The aneeting was organized by the appointment of
David Lawrence as Chalrman, and Howard Trueman
as Secretary.

“The chairman stated the object of the meeting
was to take steps to celebrate in some fitting way
the arrival of the first Truemaa family in Nova
Scotia, which took place just a hundred y»ars ago.

“On motion of 8. B. Trueman, seconded by Edward
‘Trueman, Resolved, that there be a gathering of the
Trueman descendants at the old homestcad some-
time during the summer of 1875.

“Moved by John A. Hunphrey, and seconded by
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Martin Trueman, and carried, that a committee be
appointed to carry out the above resolution, said com-
mittee to consist of representatives from each branch

of the family.
“The following were named as a committee :

“ Martin Trueman. “ Edward Trueman.
Henry Trueman. Benjamin Trueman.
Thompson Trueman.  John Glendenning.
David Lawrence. R. T. McLeod.
Harman Humpbrey.  Albert Trueman.

+“ Howard Trueman.

“It was also decided to number the descendants and
have written out a short history or gencalogy of the
family : also to place a marble monument to mark the
last resting-place of those who first came to America.”

The celebration was held at Prospect Farm on the
14th July, 1875, and took the form of an all-day
pienic. A programme was given, consisting of
music and “addresses. The invitations were not
confined to the immediate conncetion. Friends of the
family were included. It was estimated that about
five hundred were present, many coming from widely
different points. The social intercourse was greatly
enjoyed, and was looked upon as one of the best
features of the reunion.

The following census of the family to date (1875)

was given out at that meeting:
Born,  Dead. Living.
Mr. Wiruram TrRUEMAN (28D), MARRIED TO
Erizasern Keinior, 1777—

Children ...... ...t RPN 10 10 0
Haryax Truemax’s Fayiny—

Children . ....icivieiiiiiiiiannnn 10 5 5

Grandchildren ...... ........ vee.. 28 3 25

Great-grandchildren .........o...e. 23 3 2

61 11 50

|
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Wirtiam Trueyman's Fayiny—

Children ......coviiiiiiiieienne.
Grandchildren ............c.0o0l ..
Great-grandehildren ............ ...

Joux TrRUEMAN’S FaMiLy —

TroMas TRUEMAN’S FaMILY—

Children ..............oioviiiiien
Grandchildven ......... .. ...
Great-grandchildren ...... ...

Saran LAWRENCE'S FaMILY—

Children ........cvvvvieiiaiino..,
Grandehildren ........ ool
Great-grandehildren ..,........v0e.

Axos TRUEMAN’S FAMILY—

Children ... cocvvciiiiiieinnenn.
Grandchildren .... ... ..ol
Great-grandehildren ........ootn

RonerT TRUEMAN'S FaAMILY—

Children ........ccoviiiiiivninnn..
Grandchildren ......... ........
Great-grandchildren . ..............

Mary A. HeMpHREY’S FaMiny—

10

Born.

11
72
99

182

10
30
2

42

13
52
42

107

11
51
51

113

9
47
17

73

145
. Tiving.
10
49
77

136
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Born. Dead. Living.
BerTy GLENDENNING'S FaMILY—

Children ...............cviiin.n. 6 3 3

Grandchildren .........ooiiii, 13 0 13

Great-grandchildven ............... 1 0 1

20 3 17

TrHoMPsON TRUEMAN'S FaMILYy—

Children ........coooiviiiiiann.. 7 0 7

Grandchildren .................... 18 1 17

Great-grandchildren .........oio L 0 0 0

25 1 24

Total in the ten families........ 664 141 523

RELIGI0US DENOMINATION.

FaMILY OF § } é :: -;— -

s = § =2 3

=18 & &) &
William Trueman . ............ ¥8 1 241 22| 12/ 136
Thomas Trueman ............. 45 | 33 .. .. | 78
John Traeman. ............... 32 .. .. .. 32
Harmon Trueman ............ 50 50
Mary Ann Humphrey ......... 15 6 21
Betty Glendenning............ 9 .. 8| .. | 17
Amos Trueman ............... 16 .. 50 .. 66
Sarvah Lawrence .............. 80 .. 11 .. an
Robert Trueman..... ........ 8 .. .. 8
Thompson Trueman .......... 24 24
Total ... ...vvvennnn.... 357 [ 63| 91| 12 | 523
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OCCUPATIONS.

. i

. g !

w - P
FaMILY OF £15|% z|E|E121%|¢ | o
2t 81 & elatl=E=l2ieic' 2
E{E|E SRR
g128 S|<|8|a |2 7 <
William Trueman . .[16 [ 1 [ 1 [ 1 {3 IR .
Thomas Trueman ..| 6 | 7 2 11 .. ) .
Joln Trueman. . ... 1].. 1 R I R
Harmon Prueman..| 3 | 3 2 Lf..]1:..4..
Mary A. Humphrey| 1 | .. 1 1 ‘ ..
Betty Glendenning .| 1 R I
Amos Trueman ... .| 8 .. R
Sarah Lawrence....) 6 | 3 1].. Ll
Robert Trueman...[ 1 {1 .. [ -o

Thompson Trueman| 3 | .. = o
Total......... 46 115 1}1;811 5 1111

i .

So much was this celebration enjoyed that the
decision was quite unanimous that a similar reunion
should be held at a future time. This was kept in
mind, and in 1891, seventeen years afterwards, invita-
tions were sent from Prospect for another gathering
of the clan. This time, however, the scope of the
cclebration was extended.  The Historical Society of
Sackville was associated in the event, and all were
welcome who cared to be present.

This gathering was called the Yorkshire Pienie,
and anyone of Yorkshire blood was especiully
welcome.  An cffort was made to get the names of all
visitors recorded, but it was not entirely successful.
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About three hundred, however, wrote their names
below the following, written by Judge Morse.

“Visitors to Prospect Farm, July 14th, 1891, on
the occasion of the reunion of the Trueman family,
combined with a pienic of the Historical Society of
Sackville, in commemoration of the coming into the
country of the Yorkshire settlers,

“ WiLLiam A. D. MorsE,
“Judge County Counrt,
“Nova Scotia.”

The following is a report of that gathering as
given in the Chignecto Post at that time:

“YORKSHIRE PICNIC.

“ A LARGE GATHERING AT PROSPECI FARM—A SUCCESS-
FUL HISTORICAL MEETING.

“On Tuesday last,in response to invitations,upwards
of five hundred persons gathered at Prospect Farm,
Point de Bute, the residence of Messrs. Howard and
Albert Trueman, to commemorate the arrival of the
Yorkshire settlers in this country. The descend-
ants of the Yorkshiremen had invited the Chignecto
Historical Society, recently formed, to be present, and
the formal proceedings of the day were under the
auspices of the latter.

“ After dinner, Judge Morse, as president of the
Historical Society, in a neat speech spoke of the
objects of the Chignecto Historical Society. It was
their desire to find out who were the early settlers,
and where they came from, and to collect all valuable
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information concerning the carly history of this
vicinity. He was pleased to see so many descend-
ants of the original settlers of our country present,
and see among them the most prosperous of our
people.  Mr. W. C. Milner, Secretary of the Sovicty,
then read an interesting paper on the expedition
from New England to capture Fort Cumberland in
1776, under the command of Col. Eddy, and the
influences that led to its defeat, notably the firm
stand taken by the Yorkshire Royalists against the
troops of the Continental Congress, and in favor of
the Mother Land and the Old Flag. A good many
facts connected with this episode in local-history, which
has been instrumental in shaping the destiny of the
Province of New Brunswick, were for the first time
made public. As it will be published in full in an
early issue of the Post, together with other papers of
the Chignecto Historical Society, it is unnecessary to
reproduce it now. -

“ Judge Morse delivered an interesting address upon
the Yorkshire settlers. The condition of vur country in
1763 was one of constant strife between the French on
the one side and the English on the other. Bubin 1763
the latter were victorious, the French driven back, and
the country then thrown open for settlement by the
English. In 1764 Governor Franklyn proposed to
scttle the very fertile land at the head of the Bay of
Fundy with the proper class, and after some corres-
pondence with Earl Hillsboro, Lord of the Plantutions
in England, he paid a personal visit to Yorkshire,
where lived the thriftiest farmers in all England, and
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induced in 1772-3-4 a large number of families to
try their fortunes in the New World.  In April and
May the fivst arrivals landed on the bleak and rocky
coast necar Halifax, and surrounded as they were
with every discomfort, it was no wonder that they
felt discouraged.  With their wives the men passed
on to Windsor, where they first got a glimpse of the
budding orchards left by the French settlers. Here
a division was made in the party. The women and
children were sent to the head of the Bay by a
series of ferries, and the men pushed on to Annapolis,
and later joined their families at Chignecto. To the
pluck, loyalty, and industry of the Yorkshiremen
Judge Morse paid many a tribute. To them do we
owe our present connection with the Mother Country.
When this country from north to south was rent by
the rebellion, when the rivers ran blood, and when the
prestige of English arms in Northern America seemed
to totter, it was the Yorkshire immigrants who
remained firm, and although compelled to suffer
untold hardships and privations, yet they remained
loyal to that old flag, whose folds he was pleased to
sce floating in the breeze to-day. The speaker gave
fully in detail various particulars of the settlement,
of the persons interested, and the location of several
important landmarks. The Yorkshiremen have
done three great acts: They made the country; they
preserved the flag; and they, through the efforts of
Preacher Black, founded in this country the prin-
ciples of Methodism, which has made such steady
progress, and which has been the prominent religion
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for over a century. He closed by asking all who
had any historical relies in their possession to com-
municate with the officers of the socicty, and allow
them to inspeet such.  Judge Morse was followed by
My A, B. Black, Amherst; J. L. Black, Sackville; W.
C. Milner, and the host of the day, Mr. Howard Truc-
man, who spoke upon the valuable features of the
Historical Society.

“ Among those present were Sheriff McQueen, J. A.
McQueen, M.P.P., W. J. Robinson (Monecton), Col.
Wm. Blair, Hon Hiram Black, J. L. Black, Wm.
Prescott, Jas. Trueman, Esq. (St. John), W. F. George,
Dr. A. D. Smith, Dr. H. S. Trueman, Rev. Mr. Crisp,
Rev. Mr. Bliss, Couns. Copp and Trueman.

“The house at Prospect Farm is one of the oldest
in the Province, having been completed on June 14th,
1799.”

The following is an account of the one hundredth
anniversary of the “ Brick House,” taken from the
Moncton Times of July, 1899

“On Triday, Prospect Farm, the vesidence of
Howard Trueman, Esq., the old Trueman homestead
at Point de Bute, was the scene of an anniversary
that called together representatives of the various
branches of the Trueman family that came to this
country in 1775. The centenary of their settlement
here was celebrated hy a big picnic twenty-four
years ago, and the present one was connected with
the building of the old house one hundred years
ago—a fine English house built of brick and over-
grown with ivy and climbing roses. The site is one



152 THE CHIGNECTO ISTHMUS.

of the most commanding and beautiful in the country,
and is justly a spot cherished by all the Truemans
with pride and affection.

“ The afternoon was charming, though threatening,.
and the numerous gathering, old and young, male and
female, enjoyed themselves to the utmost.

“ The oldest member of the family present was the
venerable Martin Trueman, of Point de Bute, aged
eighty-four years, still hale and vigorous, and enjoy-
ing life as well as the youngest. The next oldest
was Thompson Trueman, of Sackville, father of Mrs.
(Senator) Wood, aged -eighty-three, also a very
vigorous man. Within a few weeks Mr. Joseph
Trueman, also of the same gencration, the father of
Judge Trueman, of St. John, has passed to his rest.
Mr. Henry Trueman, father of Mrs. James Colpitts,
was prevented by the infirmities of age from being
present. Amongst others of the same generation
were Mrs Eunice Moore, of Moncton, and Mrs. Amelia
Black, of Truro, N.S. Others belonging to the older
generation were James Trueman, of Hampton: Alder
Trueman, of Sackville, and Benjamin Trueman of
Point de Bute.

“ A younger generation embraced Judge Trueman,
of Albert; Pickard Trueman, James Amos Trueman,
ex-Coun. Amos Trueman and George Trueman.
There was a large representation present of those
connected with Mr. Trueman by marriage or blood,
as Squire Wm. Avard, Bristol; Collector Prescott,
Bay Verte; Albert Carter, C. F. McCready, Shevift
McQueen, ex-collector James D. Dickson, George M.
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Black, I. F. Carter, James Main, Botsford: John
Glendenning, Cumberland; Geo. W. Ripley, Mus.
J. M. Trueman, Thorndale, Pa.: Gilbert Pugsley,
Rupert Coates, Nappan; Hibbert Laurence, Gilbert
Lawrence, Burgess Fullerton, Southampton; Mrs.
Sarah Patterson, Linden; Alex. Smith, Nappan;
Dr. Chapman, James Colpitts, Point de Bute; J. L.
Black, ex-M.P.P., Sackville; Mrs. Burke, Toronto;
E. E. Baker, Fort Lawrence.

“ Amongst the visitors were: R. Robertson, W. S.
Blair, Experimental Farm, Nappan; Dr. W. I\
Ganong, W. C. Milner, W. Fawcett, Charles George,
W. F. George, John Roach, Thomas Roach, Nappan ;
Frank Beharrel, Lowell, Mass.; Dr. Allison, President
Mt. Allison; Dr. Smith, Dr. Brecken, Prof. Andrews,
Sackville; Rev. Mr. Batty, Amherst; Douglas Fullerton,
Leonard Carter, J. H. Goodwin, Point de Bute;
Hiram Copp, F. A. Dixon, Sackville; George Copp,
James Fillmore, Bay Verte.

“A platform was erected under the shade of the
vine-covered walls, and interesting speeches made.
Dr. Chapman presided. In his introductory remarks
he said he was pleased with his Yorkshire descent,
and was very sorry that Mr. Batty, who was to tell
something of Yorkshire at the present day, was not
present. Mr. Howard Trueman, who was then called
upon, told something of the settlement of the True-
mans, the building of the house, the clock two hun-
dred years old that was still kecping good time, the
chair that came out from England with the family,
and the bench there on the platform that came from
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the first Methodist chureh built in Canada, a stone
church that stood by the Point de Bute Cemetery.

“ Mr. J. L. Black spoke of his first visit to the old
house. When not more than fourteen years old, he
had been put on a horse and sent to the mill with a
bag of wheat. On telling who he was he was sent to
the house and fed with gingerbread and his pockets
filled with cake. Mr. Black paid a high tribute to
the sterling character of the men of the old days, but
was of the opinion that the men of these days
scarcely were their equals.

“Dr. Ganong, Mr. Milner and Mr. George not
responding, Dr. Brecken was called upon. He claimed
Yorkshire deseent and supposed the stubbornness his
wife complained of was due to the Yorkshire blood
in him. He sometimes wondered, as Mr. Black had
done, whether the race was not degenerating. He
certainly could not stand as much exertion as his
father could. The style of oratory was also very
different from what it used to be. We have few of
the finely finished speeches that characterized the
old days.

“Dr. Allison said : < All the speakers claimed some
conneetion with the Truemans or Yorkshire, but he
had not a drop of English blood in his veins, using
English in its narrower sense. None, however, had a
keener appreciation of the Yorkshire clement than
himself. Charles Allison, the founder of the Insti-
tutions, the one who had done more than any other
to make the name of Allison to be remcmbered,
chose for his partner in life a member of the True-
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man family. Mankind was not degenerating. Won-
derful things have been accomplished since this
country was fivst settled. Divine providence has nob
constructed the railway and telegraph, but man.
Dr. Brecken was just as good a man as his father,
and a much greater orator than the men of those
days. The men of the past suited the past, but a
different type is required to-day.’

*“The chairman then announced that lunch would
be served, and the other speakers would say a few
words later in the afternoon.

“ After lunch Judge Trueman, of Albert, took the
platform. He said it gave him much pleasure to be
at the pienic, not only to meet so many friends, but
to see the old place where he was born and spent his
youth. He knew every knoll and hollow of the old
farm. He thought everyone who had the Trueman
blood in him ought to feel on excellent terms with
himself after hearing so many nice things said about
the family.

“Prof. Andrews, who followed, agreed with Dr.
Allison in thinking the race was not degenerating,
and claimed if the people to-day would spend as much
time out of doors as did their fathers, they would be
even stronger. He gave some proofs that actually
the race is improving physically. In the old times
the wealkest all died off, and only the tough old nuts
remained. He told some remarkable stories of what
he had undergone when a young man, that he
claimed to be saving for his grandchildren. It gave
him much pleasure to attend this celebration which
would pass into history.
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“Rev. Mr. Batty, of Amherst, was introduced by
the chaivman as a true bred, native-born Yorkshire-
man. Mr. Batty said, judging from the number
around him, if all the Yorkshiremen had prospered
as the Truemans there would be a new Yorkshire
more prosperous than the old. He had not realized
what kind of a picnic this was until he saw the
lines of carriages driving through Amherst. On
inquiring he found it was the gathering of the clans
ab Prospect. He considered these historic gatherings
most important in the development of a country.
He then gave a most interesting account of York-
shire and Yorkshire Methodism. He had never seen
a wooden house until he came to this country, and it
stivred old memories to stand again under the shadow
of a brick house that reminded him strongly of his
grandfather’s house in Yorkshire. If people here
want to sce Englishmen come to Canada they must
do away with snake fences, sulphur matches, and bad
roads. Agriculture is done for in England, and the
fathers realize that their sons must come to Canada.
No Westmoreland man would complain if he knew
how well off he was.

“In closing he thanked all for their attention, Mr.
Trueman for his invitation, and said he was going to
write a full account of the gathering for the York-
shire papers and send it at once.

“Votes of thanks were presented to Mr. and Mrs.
Trueman, the host and hostess, and to Dr. Chapman,
the chairman, after which all joined in the National
Anthem.”
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The Chignecto Post had the following description
of the gathering :

“The oldest house now being occupied in this part of
the Province is in Point de Bute, about seven miles
from Sackville. It was built in 1799, so that the
structure is a hundred years old. In a granite slab
over the front entrance is the following: “June 14,
1799.”  The main house is of brick and is a good
solid looking structure yet. It has stood well the
blasts of a hundred winters, and judging from its
present appearance it will be able to stand many more.

“Some time ago the relatives and friends of M.
Trueman urged him to celebrate the 100th birthday
of his house. Circumstances prevented him from
holding the celebration on June 14th, but on July
14th, last Friday, the event was celebrated in a man-
ner that the two hundred people who were present
will not soon forget.

“It was Mr. Trueman’s intention that his guests
should make a day of it, but unfortunately Friday
forenoon was foggy and wet, and this no doubt pre-
vented a large number from being present. However,
the rain did not interfere with the plans of some of
the friends. for early in the forenoon they began to
arrive from a distance, and they continued to arrive,
although the rain came down in torrents. But shortly
after noon the cheerful face of Old Sol peeved forth
from behind a fog bank. The clouds were soon
dissipated, nature dried her tears, and everybody was
glad. A merrier throng it would have been hard to
find than the one now gathered around the old brick
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house, everyone intent upon doing his or her best to
celebrate the anniversary.

“There were people present from St. Jehn, from
Moncton, from Albert Co., from Bay Verte, from
Amberst, from Nappan, from Sackville, and from
all the surrounding country. There was the grand-
father and grandmother, whose silvery hair and bent
form contrasted strongly with the sprightliness of the
young toddlers who were very much in evidence. But
a smile was on every face and nobody was made to
feel that he was a stranger. From the top of the
highest tree floated the Canadian ensign, while nearer
the house the ancient folds of the Union Jack were
spread to the breeze.

“The old house was thrown open to all, and many
persons had the pleasure of seating themselves in the
chair which was brought to this country by the first
of the name who touched upon its shores. This
article of furniture, together with a grandfather’s
clock, are the property of Mr. Trueman, and, needless
to say, are very highly prized by him. They are
remarkably well preserved, and the clock still keeps
excellent time.

“ On the grounds, quite near the house, a platform
had been improvised, and during the afternoon short
addresses were made by Howard Trueman, Jos. L.
Black, Judge Trueman, of Albert Co., Rev. Mr. Batty,
of Amherst, Prof. Andrews, Dr. Brecken, Dr. Allison
and others.

“Tea was served on the grounds in true Bohemian
style, but everybody enjoyed it. The evening




("908T NI waing)

‘USOO0H NVNHUAUL NOKIVH HHIL




PROSPECT FARM. 159

passed very pleasantly with vocal, instrumental
musie, ete. It was a fitting celebration, and one
which both old and young will no doubt often be
pleased to look back upon. Mr. and Mrs. Trueman
and the members of their family dispensed the kind-
est hospitality and did everything possible to malke
the event what it was, a grand success.”

The names of the children and grandchildren of
William Trueman and Elizabeth Keillor, with other
records of the families:

Haryox Trremax, born Sept. 27, 17781 Married
CyxrtHIA BENT, “  Sept. 7, 1787 Jan. 8, 1807.

THEIR CHILDREN.,

NaME. Borx. M. To Wiios MaRRIED, i Cnitp,
Stephen B....... Feb. 17, 1808. 1836?Eliza Wells ...... 7
AmyE........ JApril 17, 1810.{1837.John W. McLead.. . 1
Sarah .......... Aug. 27, 1312 {1835 Rev. A. W. McLeod. 6
Martin,......... Oct. 30, 1814.|1843{Bethia Purdy ...... 5
Louisa C........ Aug. 30, 1817 . 18411 Maviner Wood . . ... 2
Silas W ... May 27, 1820.|....!Did not marry ..... oL
Buuice.......... Dee. 18, 1822.{18721Thomas Moore . . ... 0
R. Alder ....... Aug. 22, 1825. 11854 Mary Jewett....... 2
N. Amela. ..... Sept. 28, 1828. ]857‘5Rufus Black ....... 5




160

Winrian TrUEMAN, born Nov. 22, 1780
Jaxe Ririey, “
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April 25, 1788 Jan. 22,

THEIR CHILDREN.

Married

1806.

Naug, Bonx. SO To Wnoy MARRIED, Ciwp.
i
William......... Jan. 9, 1807.°1831|Esther Ripley....... 9
Mary &mn ...... Sept. 25, 1809. 1834|Francis Smith...... 6
JaneD.......... Dec. 20, 1811..1834{Robert Fawcett . ... 7
Alice ........... Jan. 2, 1814.°1835/Hugh Gallagher....| 10
Henry R Dec. 17, 1815.11844{Jane Weldon .. ... 2
Joseph...... -Mar. 24, 1818. 1843{Janet S. Scott.. ... 8
Benjamin Aug. 25, 1822, 11848|Elizabeth Weldon .. 2
Iswac........... Jan. 18, 1825. 1849{Mary Black ... .... 4
Rebeeea ........ July 12, 1827.1855|Robert Scott....... 6
Sara Elizabeth... [Sept.26, 1829. ... |John Charters...... 4
Christianna. ..... Nov. 30, 1832. 1856]James Scott. ....... 4
Joux Truemax, born Jan. 2, 1784 Married
Navcey Pauer, ¢ —————— 1806.
THEIR CHILDREN.

Nase Bors, M. To WnoM Makrign. | CuLp,
Catherine P..... April 30,1807.].... John & Coy ....... 4
Gideon P........ Aug. 24, 1811.0. ... Mary Harrison..... .-
Elizabeth L...... Sept. S, 1S13.1. .. Died young ... ... .-
Thompson....... TFeb. 13, 1816.{. ... Rebeeea Wood .. .. 4
Mileah........ .[June 23, 1S18.1{.... glxgs. F. I‘.lmiso'lli- NN 1

. .-.. Rebeeea Reynolds |, 2
Marcus. . ........ May 10, 1821 j-- -+ pebecen Heynolds ; e
George A . ..., acpt. 26, 1823.1. ... Sarah Ann Black ...t 2
Margaret C...... Mar. 2, 1826.1. ... Did not maary ..... .-
AmnieJ .. ...... Mar. 30, 1829.1. ... -Samuel Sharp ...... .
~ Sarah B.... ....{Sept. 6, 1832. ....iRobb. A, Strong.... 7

e e .. TRE Lo L - T R
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Troyas TrueMaxn, born April 16, 1786
July 10, 1788

PoLicENE GORE, “

THEIR CHILDREN.

161

Married
July 11, 1803.

Naxne, ’ Boes, M. | To Wuoxn Marrien, Cuvo.
Elizabeth E...... Feb. 22, 1807.11825 Thomas Carter ..... 4
Abel G......... ‘Mar. 18,1809.[....Died young ........ ..

s > Olivia Embree . ...
William L....... Feb. 9, 1811 {|---~{{ Qv Ppre ool s
Thomas F ...... 'Feh. 9, 1811.{1835 Harriet Prince . .. .. 4
Harmon Henry . |Jul) 21, 1813 1837 Jane Chapman .. ... 6
Lucy A... ...... iDee. 19, 1815. 1533 Joseph Carter 4
John Starr . ....! ‘Oct. 2, 1816.{. ... Died young . .. ..
Maryd...... ..:.Dec. 15, 1818. 1841 William Dixon ... .. 0

5 K 1846 ( Eliza Trenholm ...} 2\
Rufus F......... Feb. 2, 1821 {hmms O] I X
Edward S........ Feb. 11, 1823./1847 Sara L. Ann Bent. . 5
Frances B........)May 6, 1825.{1849 Samuel Sharp ...... 6
Pameua C....... May 31, 1827.11851 William Smith] ..... S
Jos E > (11853 [Pameclia Smith....
Charles E........ Apr. 24, 1829\ ... \Susan Bowser. . ... 4
|

GILBERT I.AWRENCE, born Oct. 27, 1785
Mar. 16, 1784

Saran TRCEMAN, “

THEIR CHILDREN.

Married
April 14, 1808.

M. ! To Wioxt Marnien,

CiLn,

Naxr. l Bars.
David . !Feb 11, 1809..
William T ..... [May 9,1811..!
Sarah ........ LApr. 13, 1813,
Mary Rooo.o.... '‘Oct. 1, 1815..
AmosF......... !.\pr '% 1813..
JaNe coieaaennne July 14 1820.
Charles W...... Nov. 19, 1s.>3{
Euniee M. (..... Feb. 27,1825..
ThomasI. ..... .\pr. 6, 1828,
Caroline A...... Junc 2, 1830..
Cecelin R. ... Apr. 4,1833..

1836 Mary Fullerton....
.... iDied young .......
1533 Danicl Pn;,slc\ cees
;1833 Joseph Coates ...
{1841 Annic Fullcrton
;1\4] James Fullerton. .
'1846 Mary Fullerton..
‘1872 Amelia Donkin ...
1847 Jesse Fullcrlon

1851 Douglas R. I’u«<lcv
l\oGlDa\ id P. Fullerton.

1
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Axos Truemaw, born May 23, 1791

Maur 10(1

SusaNNa RIPLLY, ¢ Teb. 20, 1799§ October 2, 1817..
THEIR CHILDREN.

: ‘

Nask, Bunx. M. } To Wioy Marmign, Cnn,

—_ ‘
ALl July 2, 1818..11850 Robert J. Mitehell. I 5
John........... Oct. 2,1819.. 1840 Jane Finlay . i 6
Mary .......... Ang. 29, 1821 .. I OO
Henvy.......... \(,pp l() 1824.. 1851 m)phn. Finlay..... i 7
Eiizabeth Dee. ‘24, 1826. . 118511 Thomas Mitchell . | 9
Jane ..... .. {Mar. 10,1829, ..... }I)ul not marry..... [
Ruth........... Sept. 9, 1831. . 1836{Embree Wood. . ... b
Rebecea ... ..... Apr. 21, 1834.. 150,, William Mitchell . [
Susamna ... .... Nov. N 1836 . I 3
Sarah .......... July S, 1840 . lb(w Dav id l’atlcl son. . i 6
Roserr Truemas, horn July 15, 1794 Married
Euxsice BexsT, ¢ Feb. 15, 1796 January 8, 1817,
THEIR CHILDREN.
Nani, | Bons, ‘ M. ! To Wiost Mariuge. | Ciip,
! e

James....... .. Oct. 29, 1817..{1844 Jane Black........ 2
Scraphina A.....JApr. 26 1819..71840 J. W. McLeod .. 6
CalvinG........

l.\I . :24 1825

l. ... Did not marry..... ..
! [}

Wirtiam SvMrEREY, horn
Many Axy Trremay, ¢

Married

July 10, 1796 Nov. 21, 1820.

THEIR CHILDREN.

Nare. I Borx. M. 1 To Wnon MarRIER (1138
! t
William. ...... ety 24, 1821, [1863 Hattic H. Scars. .
Jolm A......... Dec. 23, 1823. 11855 Sarah Harris...... 4
Elizabeth ....... May 19, 1825 .isd5 E. R Bishop...... 5
Stephen .......l Feh, :.’S 1829 {183 Lu]c\ Togan....... i 6
1839 Salina Coates. . ... HE
Harmon .. ...... .Jul) 12,1831 { 1878 Emily Dixon. ... : 1 }.;
Jane cooeveenn. Nov. 19,1833 | 1854 Joseph L. Black. . . 1
Christopher... ..I:\pr. 15,1837 cieens ceeiiniieiii e, l .
i

%
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GEORGE GLENDENNING, born May 14, 1799  Married
Berry TrueMay, ¢ Aug. 11, 1798 1823.
THEIR CHILUREN.
! |
Nase. Bonx. 1 M.+ To Wuom Marnien.  CHub.
Elizabeth &, .... Jan. 28, 1825.. 1852 Thomas Lowther . . 8
John..... ... Sept. 22, 1627, . 1850 Elizabeth Black. .. 4
Sarah Amn ... Sept.27, 1829, 1875 David Lawrence. . . .
William R...... Dee. 20,1831, ..o i, ..
Thompsen ...... Oct. 26, 1834.. 1864 Sarah J. Ripley ... 2
Mary....... . Aug. 28,1837 . 1865 J. Edward Smith. . .
Tiromprsox Trremay, horn 1801 Married
Mary Fregze, 17981 1823,
THEIR CHILDREN.
Nawg, Bonrx, M. | To Wuon Mannrikn, ~ Cu.
Ruth A, ....... JLJan. 21,1824 |....|Did not marry..... : .
Albert.......... Apr. 18,1826 |....1Did wot marry..... .
Hiram.......... June 2, 1828, /1854 Tryphena Black .. .- 6
Eliza........... Jan. 2, 1831..[1855 William Avard.... 4
Margaret . ...... Nov. 11, 1835, [1864 GcorgcJ)I. Black .. 3
. o= [ [1863;Agnes Johnstone .. ..
Howard ......... Mar. 11837 { Liggr 0B 3. Mo, .- 5
Mary A......... Dec. 26, 1843.. 1573‘“'illimn Prescott 6
It will be seen by studying this record that out of
the ecighty-seven members of the second generation

born in this country, six elected to live in single

blessedness.

These were Silas, Harmon’s third son ;

Thomas, a son of Sarah Lawrence: Margarct, a
daughter of John: Jane, a daughter of Amos: and
Ruth and Albert, Thompson’s two eldest-born.
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Silas was a man of sterling principles, generous
almost to a fault, and of more than ordinary intel-
lectual force. He was the kind of man that would
have delighted the practical mind of the Apostle
James. Under all circumstances his aim was to
make his practice accord with his profession. His
death took place at his home in Point de Bute in
1860.

Thomas Lawrence was a general favorite, and had
the reputation of being better to others than to him-
self. Children trusted him at once. He died at his
home in Nappan, N.S,, in 1867.

Margaret Trueman was one of the most charitable
of women, always ready with a kind word or deed
whenever opportunity offered. She finished life’s
Jjourney in Mexico, in 1897.

Jane Trueman is still living.

Albert died in September, 1901, at his home,
Prospect Farm. He was born in the brick house,
and lived there his full life of seventy-five years
and five months. He had many friends and no
enemies.

Ruth lived her life of sixty-three years in the
old home where she was born, and died in 1887.
She was thoughtful and fond of reading, and did
what she could to cultivate a taste for reading
in those who came under her influence. Her religious
convictions were decided, but not demonstrative.
She delighted in conversation where literature and
authors were the subjects. Macaulay was one of her
favorite writers.
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When Ruth’s brothers and sisters were young, and
books were not so common as now, she very often
read aloud to her mother and the family. Macaulay’s
Essays and History, Prescott’s works, the  Literary
Garland,” and lighter works were read from time to
time as circumstances or taste dictated. Gleason’s
Pictoriul, the Anglo-Saxon, the Scottish-American,
and Harper's Magazine wereread with great interest.
She was a subscriber to the Century Mugazine at the
time of her death. Some of Hannah More’s sacred
dramas were frequently read on a Sabbath evening.
The writer remembers well how we younger children
enjoyed the moment when David,

“From his well-directed sling, quick hurled,
With dexterous aim, a stone, which sank deep-lodged
In the capacious forechead of the foe.”

And

‘“The mighty mass of man fell prone,
With its own weight, his shattered bulk was bruised.
Straight the youth drew from his sheath the giant’s pond'rous
sword,
And from the enormous trunk the gory head, furious in
death, ho severed.”

The language was rather beyond us, but we knew
that David had killed the giant, and we did not
bother about the big words. Or, when little Moses
was left in the ark of bulrushes, exposed to all the
dangers of the Nile swamp, how we almost trembled
lest some evil should befall him before Pharaoh’s
daughter could rescue him, and rejoiced to think that
Miriam did her part so well as to get her mother as a
nurse for the little brother. Ruth secemed to enjoy
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reading these dramas over and over quite as much as
we enjoyed listening to them. She grew fonder of
reading az she grew older, and would talk of the
characters in a book as if they were as real to her
as her personal friends.

Ruth was deeply interested in the confederation of
the Provinces when that question was before the
people.  After giving the matter a good deal of
thought she decided in favor of the union. In early
days, because of sympathy for a friend, she had
conceived a prejudice against Dr. Tupper, who began
his public life in Point de Bute, and with whom she
was personally acquainted. The family at Prospect
were supporters of Howe and the Liberal party in
Nova Scotia at this time, but Howe had turned his
back on Confederation, and Dr. Tupper was the
leader of the Confederate party in that Province.
Ruth was exceedingly anxious that the principle of
union should triumph, and it was a grief to her that
Dr. Tupper should triumph with it. But she lived
long enough to forgive him and to appreciate the gaod
work Sir Charles did for Canada.

The Free School question was another problem in
which she was greatly interested, and as one of
her favorite cousins was in the election of 1872,in
which free non-scctarian schools were on trial in
New Brunswick (at least, so thought the friends of
of this measure), she was anxious as to the outcome
of the clections, and well pleased when they resulted
well for free schools.

Of the twenty members of the second generation
now living, the women outnumber the men thirteen
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to seven. Five of the twenty are octogenarians, and
seven have passed the Psalmist’s limit of threc score
years and ten. Of the octogenarians, two—DMartin
Trueman, of Point de Bute, and Thompson True-
man, of Sackville—have reached the patriarchal age
of eighty-seven years. The former in one particular
is like the late Mr. Gladstone—he takes his recvea-
tion with the axe. He has prepared many cords of
wood for the stove in the last few years.

The first Trueman family were not strong men,
but they were persistent workers, and could ac-
complish more in & given time than men of much
stronger build. The sccond generation were phy-
sically equal or superior to that of the first, which
was rather a rare circumstance in this country. The
gift of language—of tulking casily and gracefully,
either in private or public—was not one of their
possessions. Not a man of the first generation could
talk ten minutes on a public platform ; and the
second generation ave in this particulav not much of
an improvement on their forbears.  This, in part, no
doubt, accounts for the fact that a family which
turns out elders, class-lcaders and circuit stewards
in such numbers has not produced a minister of the
Trueman name.

Agriculture was the work to which the family set
their hand in the new country. The children were
taught that manual labor was honorable, and that
agriculture was worthy of being prosecuted by the
best of men. The seven sons and three sons-in-law
were all suceessful farmers, and heredity no doubt
had its influence.



CHAPTER IX.

FAMILIES CONNECTED BY MARRIAGE WITH THE
SECOND QENERATION OF TRUENANS.

+  WELLS.

ILLIAM WELLS, the first of the name in
Point de Bute, was one of the Yorkshire
band. He was a mason by trade, and built the
Methodist Chapel at Thirsk before leaving Yorkshire.
He married Margaret Dobson. The Dobsons lived in
Sowerby, near Thirsk, and were among the first to
accept the teachings of John Wesley. Mr. Wells did
not come direct to Halifax, but landed at Boston, and,
after staying there some months, came to Fort Cum-
berland. This was in 1772. He bought property in
Upper Point de Bute, very near to that of his father-
in-law, George Dobson.  This property is still in the
name of its original owner, a rare thing in this
country, as very few families hold the same property
for a century and a quarter.

Mrs. Wells was the mother of thirteen children, six
of whom died in early life. The remaining seven
married and settled in the country. They were
married as follows:—George to Elizabeth Freeman,
of Amherst; William to Catharine Allan, of Cape
Tormentine; Mary to George Chappell, of Bay Verte;
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Elizabeth to Jonas Allan, of Cape Tormentine; Mar-
garet to S. Freeze, of Ambherst Point; Jane to Bill
Chappell, of Bay Verte; and Joseph to Nellie Tren-
holn:, of Point de Bute.

William Wells was an active member of the
Methodist Church. He enjoyed a special gift in
prayer, and not infrequently, in the absence of the
minister, read the burial service over the dead.

I find this entry in the old jowrnal: *“June 8rd,
1811—Mus. Jane Fawecett departed this life May 31st,
very suddenly ; was well about ten o'clock, and died
before eleven o’clock ; was buried Sunday afternoon
by Wm. Wells, Esq.”

The following letter, written a century ago by Mr.
Wells, may have some interest for his descendants.
The letter was addressed to William Trueman.

“Dear BrorHER—Am sorry to hear of Mr.
Bennet’s indisposition, but am glad his case is hopeful.
I trust the Lord has more work to do for him yet.
Respecting myself should be glad to come to see my
dear friends, but the journey appears to be too much
for me to perform, for I was exceeding bad yesterday,
and, altho this day I feel a little freer from pain, yet
my weakness is great. If I should be better towards
the latter part of the day maybe I may try to come,
but I have hitherto felt worse at the latter part of
the day. I pray God that our light atflictions may
work out for us a far more and exceeding weight of
glory.

“ Yours affec.,
W. WELLSs.
“Saturday morning, .
“ Nov. 13th, 1802.”
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The descendants of William Wells are widely
scattered over New Brunswick and Nova Scotia, and
a good number have emigrated to the United States.
Charles H., Charles C., James, and Joseph D. Wells,
great-grandsons, represent the name in Point de Bute
and Jolicure.  The late W. Woodbury Wells, M.P.P.,
and Mr. Justice Wells, of Moneton, also are members
of this family, while Lieut.-Governor Snowball is a
great-grandson of William Wells.

- Brack.

William Black was born in Paisley, Scotland, in
1727. When a young man he removed to Hudders-
field, England, and engaged in the linen and woollen
drapery business. In 1774 he prospected Nova Scotia
with a view to settlement, and purchased a large block
of land near the present town of Amherst. The next
year he brought his family, consisting of wife, four
sons and a daughter, to Nova Scotia, and settled on
his new farm.

William Black was twice moarried, and lived to the
great age of ninety-three years. He spent the last
years of his life in Dorchester, where he left a large
family by his second wife. He was the father of
William Black, who has been designated the “ Father
of Methodism ” in the Lower Provinces.

The Blacks have proved good citizens, and have
contributed their full share to the development of the
country.

Prroy.
The Purdys were Loyalists from New York State.

" Three brothers came to this ¢ untry—Henry, Gabriel,

and Gilbert. Jacob, a fourth, remained in New York.
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Henry Purdy settled in Fort Lawrence, Gabriel in
Westchester, and Gilbert in Malagash.  Mrs Martin
Trueman is a grand-daughter of Gilbert. The Purdys
of Cumberland are all descendants of these brothers.

The family for the last century has always been
able to count an M.D. among its members, and the
civil service has seldom been without a Purdy on its
roll-call.

Woop.

“The earliest record of the Wood family is the mar-
riage of Thomas Wood and Ann Hunt, May, 1634, at
Rowley, Mass. Their son John, born in 1656, married,
in 1680, Isabel, daughter of Edward Hazen, pre-
sumably a forbear of the St. John Hazens. Issue of
this union was a large family, of whom Josiah, born
April, 1708, was the twelfth child. He married
Eleanor , and their son, Josiah, born Maxrch, 1740,
was married in 1767 to Ruth Thompson. Their son
Josiah, born 1776, after coming to New Brunswick,
married Sarah Ayre, daughter of Mariner and Amy
Ayre. Their two children, Mariner and Ann, were
the father and aunt of the present Josish Wood.

“Mr. Wood has a number of interesting documents
of ancient date, among them two grants of land from
the King to Robert Thompson, the great-great-
grandfather of Senator Wood. The earliest, dated
1759 (in the reign of George IL), was for 750 acres,
one and a half shares of the original grant of the
township of Cornwallis. The later document attests
that in 1763 Robert Thompson was granted 5u0 acres
more, individually by George III.
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“ Mr. Thompson does not appear to have gone into
possession; and some forty years later his widowed
daughter, aubitious for the welfare of her fatherless
family, set out from Lebanon, Conn., with her son
Josiah to find this lost heritage.

“They appear to have come to Dorchester, N.B., by
a schooner commanded by one "Lige Ayre, so called.
Why they should have gone first to Westmoreland’s
shire town, instead of direct to the Eldorado of their
dreams is one of the unknowable things, but pre-
sumably the exigencies of travel in those days had
something to do with it. Both passengers and mail
matter went by dead reckoning, so to speak, and
could seldom get direct conveyance to their
destination.

“In the yellowed leaves of a century old diary.
penned by the hand of Senator Wood’s grandfather,
and also from letters, we find quaint comments and
an interesting insight into the lives of the carly
settlers.

“The journal was begun in October, 1800, when
Josiah Wood was twenty-four years old. He and his
mother, after visiting in Canard, appear to have made
their home for the time being in Newport, N.S,
where in the cloth mill of Alexander Lockhart
Josiah found employment. The young man seems to
have had all the business acumen and habits of
industry that distinguish his posterity. When work
in the mill was slack he taught school, beginning
with four scholars. Evening amusements consisted
of husking parties, ete., where Mr. Wood contributed
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to the festivities by flute playing and songs. His
idea of a vacation was taking a load of cabbages to
sell in Windsor, where his sole extravagance was
buying a bandana handkerchief.

“Mrs. Wood filled in her time, though hardly profit-
ably, by having smallpox. This dread disease did
not seem to cause any dismay in those days. The
neighbors came and went with kindly ministrations
to the sick woman, and the son pursued his work in
the mill, quite uncenscious that according to modern
science he was weaving the death-producing microbe
into every yard of cloth.

“In February, 1801, Mrs. Wood and Josiah went to
Halifax, where they put up at the sign * The Bunch
of Grapes’ The diary speaks of their visiting
‘Mr. Robie, Mr. Blowers, the Chief Justice and the
governor, with regard to their land, but to no
purpose, their claim being considered invalid.

“In the fall of the same year they returned to
Dorchester, where Josigh not long after married Miss
Ayre. He dicd in his early thirties, leaving two young
children, Mariner and Ann. The widow married
Philip Palmer and afterwards went to live in Sack-
ville, N.B. They had ecight children, Martin, who
settled at Hopewell Cape: Dr. Rufus Palmer, of
Albert; Stephen Palmer, of Dorchester: Charles,
Jabez, and the Misses Palmer, of Sackville, and
Judge Palmer, of St. John.

“Miss Ann Wood went to live with her grandimother
at Fort Lawrence, while Mariner continued with his
stepfather, commencing business in a small way on
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his own account at an early age. He purchased in
course of time the property adjoining Mr. Palmer’s,
in Sackville, where he built a store and dwelling
which is known as ‘The Farm, and continued his
ever growing business at the same stand till his
death, in 1875. In 1871 the firm assumed its present
name of M. Wood & Sons.

“During his genealogical research Senator Wood
has found relatives whom his branch of the family
had lost sight of for.a century. The Senator’s grand-
father had a brother, Charles Thompson Wood, born
at Lebanon, Conn., Oectober, 1779. He married
Elizabeth Tracy, and pursued the trade of hatter in
Norwich, Conn. He died in 1807, leaving two chil-
dren, Charles Joseph and Rachel Tracey, both of
whom married and in 1830 moved to Kinsman, Ohio.

“The children of this Charles J. Wood are living at
Kinsman, and Senator Wood visited his long lost
relatives this autumn. The pleasure was mutual, and
while the Senator would tell of many years’ patient
seeking for his father’s kindred, they related the
story which had been told them by their father of
his uncle, who had gone to the wilds of Canada and
never been heard of more.”—Miss Cogswell in St. Joln
Daily Sun.

McLEoD.

Alexander McLeod was born on board ship in
Dublin harbor, the 11th December, 1778. His father
belonged to the 42nd Highlanders, a regiment then
~on its way to augment the British force in America.
This regiment was on active serviee during the
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American Revolutionary war, and at its close was
dishanded and grants of land in the Maritime Pro-
vinees distributed among its members. The greater
number of these grants were on the Nashwaak River,
in New Brungwick. Alexander Me(Q)ueen, an officer
in the same regiment, grandfather of Alexander
McQueen, of Shediae, and great-grandfather of
Sheriff MeQueen, of Westmorceland, settled in Pictou
County, N.S.

Mr. McLeod settled on the Nashwaak, and lived
there the remainder of his life. Alexander, his son,
went to Sheffield in 1796, and began a mercantile
business. He married Elizabeth Barker, of that place.
In 1806 he removed to the city of St. John, where for
some years he conducted business on a scale large for
the times, and was very successful. He was a
Methodist local preacher, and in 1829 started a
literary and religious journal, which enjoyed, like
most of its successors in that city, but a brief exist-
ence. Mr. McLeod’s family numbered six—Roderick,
the youngest, died in infancy; Annie, the eldest, was
a teacher and never married: Sarah married James
Robertson ; Margaret married Rev. Albert Desbrisay,
who was for some years chaplain of the old Sack-
ville Academy ; Wesley was twice married, first in
1836, to Amy Trueman, who died, leaving onc
daughter: and again, in 1840, to Scraphina Trueman.

Wesley McLeod was a persistent reader, a good
conversationalist, and a most interesting man to meet.
He was a bank accountant, and the last forty years
of his life were spent in the United States. His
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home wasin Newark, N.J., where his widow and three
daughters still live. Mr. McLeod never lost his love
for the old flag for which his grandfather fought, and
although so many years of his life were spent in the
United States, where he always took a great interest
in all public questions, he never became a naturalized
citizen of the Republic. He lived to be eighty-five
years of age. Robert Trueman McLeod, of Dunvegan,
Point de Bute, is a son of Wesley McLeod.

Alexander first married Sarah Trueman, of Point de
Bute, by whom he had five children. His second wife
was Georgina Hultz, of Baltimore, U.S.

Robert, the youngest son of the first family, was
in the Confederate Army in 1860, and lost an arm at
Fort Sumter. He afterwards graduated with honors
from Harvard and died in Europe while travelling
for the benefit of his health. - . -

Alexander McLeod was a Methodist preacher, and
a Doctor of Divinity when tlﬁx'trt;tle was not so com-
mon as it is now. He was one™df the editors of the
Provincial Wesleyan. Like his brother Wesley, the
last years of his life were spent in the United States,
where both he and his wife were engaged in literary
work.

The following extract is talen from a letter written
by a member of the McLeod family in reply to one
asking for information :

“Your letter was received a couple of days ago
and I would gladly send you ail the information we
have, but the most of it 1s so vague that it is quite
unsatisfactory for your purpose. Of course we all
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know very positively that the McLeods sprang from
the best and most honorable clan of old Scotland.
We have improved some in manners, for we no
longer drive our foes into caves, and smoke them to
death. (We only wish we could) We no longer
brag that we were not beholden to Noah, but had
boats of our own—that would relate us too nearly
to Lillith—but still we are proud of our ancestors.”

-

AVARD.

Joseph Avard was born in the town of St. Austle,
Cornwall, England, in 1761. At twelve years of age
he was apprenticed to a clockmaker, with whom he
remained eight years. He married Frances Ivey, in
1782. Mr. Avard was appointed a class-leader, and
for seven years never failed to be present at the
regular meeting of its members. He was intimately
acquainted with Mr. Wesley, and attended his funeral,
at which there was said to be thirty thousand people
present. He also heard Charles Wesley preach his
last sermon.

In 1789 Mr. Avard was one of nine charter mem-
bers of the Strangers’ Friend Society, organized by
Dr. Adam Clark. The object of the Society was the
relief of distressed families in the town of Bristol
where Mr. Avardlived. He was made a local preacher
in 1790. For a short time he lived in London, and a
daughter was buried in the City Road burying-
ground. In 1806 Mr. Avard emigrated to Prince
Edward Island, landing at Charlottctown on May
15th, where he remained until 1813,  In the fall of

that year he left Charlottetown, with the intention
12
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of going to Windsor, N.S, but on reaching Bay Verte
he decided to stay the winter in New Brunswick. A
part of the time was spent in Fort Lawrence, and in
the spring he removed to Sackville, where he made
his home until near the close of life. He died at his
son’s home, in Jolicure, in his eighty-seventh year.

Of the three children that came with Joseph Avard
to America, Elizabeth married Johm Boyer, of Char-
lottetown ; Adam Clark entered the ministry, and died
in Fredericton, in 1821; Joseph was educated in
Bristol, England, - and soon after his arrival in
America found his way to Chignecto and taught
sehool several years in Point de Bute. In 1813 he
married Margaret Wells, daughter of William Wells,
of Point de Bute. They had a family of seven sons
and four daughters, four of whom are still living—
John, Wiliam and Charles, of Shemogue, N.B,, and
Mrs. McQueen, of Point de Bute. William married
Eliza Trueman.

Joseph Avard, jun., was a man of strong character,
and when he set his will to do a piece of work he
was generally successful. He settled first in Jolicure,
where he conducted a farming and mercantile busi-
ness. He subsequently bought a large tract of land
in Shemogue, N.B,, and for many years he was farmer,
ship-builder and merchant in that locality, where he
spent the last thirty years of his life.

In 1838, while on a business trip to River Philip,
Mr. Avard was greatly shocked, as were the public
in gencral, with the veport that an entire family
had been murdered in the vieinity, and that
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the man, Maurice Doyle, who was suspected of the
caime, had escaped and was on his way to the
United States, his aim being to get to St. John and
take shipping there. As Doyle was known to be a
desperate character, no onc scemed willing “to run
him down.” As soon as Mr. Avard knew the state
of affairs he at once volunteered to undertake the
work. In the meantime Doyle had got a good start.
At Amherst Head he hired a farmer, George Glenden-
ning, to take him to the [Four Corners, Sackville. Mrs,
Glendenning was suspicious of the man, and advised
her husband to have nothing to do with him, bLut
Mr. Glendenning laughed at her fears. The dog, how-
ever, secemed to shave his mistress’s suspicions, and,
what was very unusual, determined to see his master
through with the business. In spite of every effort
the dog could not be turned back from following the
chaise. Afterward, when Mr. Glendenning learned
the character of the man, he believed the dog had
saved his life, for in crossing the Sackville marsh,
several miles from any house, Doyle asked him if
the dog would protect him if he were attacked.

Mr. Avard always drove a good horse, and by chang-
ing horses and driving night and day he overtook
and captured the fugitive at Sussex. At one place in
the chase he prevented the man from getting on
board the stage, but could not arrest him. When
finally he apprehended the fugitive, he brought himn
back in his chaise and delivered him to the author-
ities in Amherst, where he subsequently paid the
penalty of his crime on the scaffold. The docu-
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ments following, as will be seen, refer to this piece
of early history:

“PROVINCIAL SECRETARY’S OFFICE,
“HALIFAX, 10th July, 1838.

“SIR,~-It appearing by the report of the Local
Authorities at Amherst that the prompt arrest of the
supposed perpetrator of the atrocious murders re-
cently committed in the County of Cumberland is
mainly attributable to your zealous exertions, I have
it in command to request you to believe that His
Excellency the Lieut.-Governor and H. M. Council
highly appreciate the important services which, at
much personal risk, you rendered in pursuing, for up-
wards of 100 miles, and apprehending the Prisoner;
and it is my pleasing duty to request you to accept
of the best thanks of His Excellency and the Council
for your admirable conduct on that oceasion. I have
the honor to be

«Sir,
“ Your most obedient
“ Humble Servant,
“RUPERT D. GEORGE.

“JosEPH AVARD, Esq., J.P.,
“ Westmoreland.”

Mr. Avard’s reply.

“ WESTMORELAND Co., WESTMORELAND,
“ N.B,, July 18th, 1838.

“Sir,—I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt

. of your note of the 10th instant conveying to me in
a most gratifying manner the approbation of His
Excellency the Lieutenant-Governor and Her
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Majesty’s Council of my conduct in pursuing and
apprehending Doyle, the supposed perpetrator of the
murder in the County of Cumberland, and beg leave
through you t. acquaint His Excellency and Her
Majesty’s Couneil that v ere it possible for me to pos-
sess any stronger sense of my duty (as a magistrate)
to Her Majesty and the Government than I formerly
felt, I must do so from the very handsome mauner in
which they have been pleased to appreciate and ac-
knowiedge my services on that occasion.

“I have the honor to be
“Your Obedient
“ Humble Servant,
“THE HONORABLE “JOSEPH AVARD.
“RUPERT D. GEORGE,
“ Provincial Secretary,
Halifax, N.S.”

Dixox.

Charles Dixon was one of the first of the Yorkshire
settlers to arrive in Nova Scotia. He sailed from
Liverpool on the 16th March, on board the Duke of
York, and after a voyage of six weeks and four days
arrived safely at the port of Halifax. Mr. Dixon
says of himself: “I, Charles Dixon, was born March
8th, old style, in the yeai 1730, at Kirleavington,
near Yarm, in the east riding of Yorkshire, in Old
England. I was brought up to the bricklayer’s trade
with my father until T was about nineteen years of
age, and followed that calling till the twenty-ninth
year of my age. I then engaged in a paper manufac-
tory at Hutton Rudby, and followed that business for
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the space of about twelve years with success. At the
age of thirty-one I married Susanna Coates, by whom
have had one son and four daughters.” Three more
children were added to Mr. Dixon’s fzuni]y, and in
1891 his descendants in America numbered 2,807, of
whom 2,067 were living and 740 had died.

Charles Dixon settled in Sackville, N.B.,, and very
soon became one of the leading men in that com-
munity. He was a zcalous \Icthodlst his biographer
says: ** His house was a home for the early Methodist
preachers, to whom he always gave a warm and
hearty welecome.” M. Dixon was one of the members
who took an active part in the erection of the first
Methodist church in Sackville, while he and his
neighbor, William Cornforth, whose land adjoined,
jointly set apart about four acres of land for a
Methodist parsonage. One of the latest of his efforts
ab writing contained instructions to his executors to
sell certain articles of his personal property to assist
in furnishing the Methodist parsonage.

There are not many of the Dixon name now living
in Sackville. The boys of the families have had a
tendency to seek wider fields for the exercise of their
energies. The late James Dixon, of Sackville, the
historian of the family, was a man of strong char-
acter and more than ordinary ability.

William Coates Dixon married Mary J. Trueman
in 1841, and resided in Sackville until the death of
Murs. Dixon, which took place in 1844. Subsequently
he married Harriet E. Arnold and settled on a farm
at Maidstone, Essex Ccunty, Ontario. James Dixon,
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in his “History of the Dixons,” published in 1892,
says of William Dixon : ¢ He is still active and vigor-
ous, eapable of much physicai exertion, and has an
exceident memory, is a diligent reader, with a decided
prefercnee for poetical works, and employs some of
his leisure hours in writing poetic etfusions, a talent
which only developed itself when its possessor had
nearly reached his three score years and ten” We
have not heard that Mr. Divon has lost any of his
vigor since the above was written, and understand he
expects to round out the hundred.

PRrESCOTT.

The Prescotts were originally from Lanecashire, and
descended from Sir James Prescott, of Derby, in Lin-
colnshire. John and his wife, Mary, came from
England to Boston in the year 1640. Jonathan
Prescott, their great-grandson, was a surgeon and
captain of engineers at the siege of Louisbourg, in
1745. After the fall of Louisbourg he retived from
the army and scttled in Nova Scotia. He did a
mercantile business in Halifax, and ownea property
in Chester and Lunenburg, where he built mills.
“The Indians twice burnt his house in Lunenburg
County.” Mr. Prescott died in Chester, in 1806, and
his widow in Halifax, in 1810. His son, Hon. Charles
Ramage Prescott, was a prominent merchant of
Halifax, but on account of failing health and to get
rid of the fog, he moved to King’s County, N.S. He
lived for years at Town Plot, where his beautiful
place, called “Acadia Villa,” was situated. He was
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twice married. His first wife was Hannah Widden.
The late Charles T. Prescott, of Bay Verte, was his
youngest son by uis second wife, Maria Hammill.
Mr. Charles Prescott married Matilda E. Madden,
April 30, 1844 William, Robert and Joseph, of Bay
Verte, are sons of Charles T. Prescott. “William mar-
ried Mary Trueman, of Point de Bute.

Prixce.*

: «“ Mowcroy, March 9th, 1899,
“ Dear Mr. Trueman:

“T have just received your card requesting infor-
mation respecting my family. In answer I may say
that my late father was a native of North Yarmouth,
near the city of Portland, United States. He emi-
grated fo this country in the year 1813, located in
Moncton, and was engaged in mercantile pursuits until
the time of his death m 1831, paying onc hundred
cents on the dollar. After taking the oath of
allegiance he was appointed a magistrate, the duties
of which he discharged with great fidelity until the
time of his removal from earth.

“My father was a sincere Christian and a deacon
in the Baptist Church, and died much lamented. His
family consisted of twelve children, six sons and six
daughters. May, the eldest, married a Mr. Gallagher
and had several children, most of whom are dead.
Emily, sccond daughter, married Mr. John Newcomb,
father of the distinguished astronomer, Prof. Neweomb,
of world-wide reputation. Joseph married Miss
Harris. Harriet marvried Mr. Thos. Trueman.  Wil-
liam has been an aceountant in the railway offices of
this city. John’s wife was Miss Embree, of Amherst,

*Rev. John Prinee was a vespeeted minister of the Methodist
Church. He joined the Church in Point de Bute and commenced
his ministry there.
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and his seeond wife is Mrs. Ciynthia, formerly Mrs.
Mariner Wool.  Jaimes resided in St. John; George and
Henry, both dead.  George never married: Henry re-
sided in Truro at the time of his death and was married
to Miss Raine, daughter of Capt. Raine, a retired naval
officer. Rebeeea, Sarah and Ruth never married.
“As a family we were all as well educated as the
circumstances would admit. My father’s people in
the United States were nearly all Congregationalists,
and my great-grandfather Prince was a minister of
that body. He was pastor of a church in Newbury-
port, and is buried in a vault under his pulpit. A
few years ago I visited that place, partly to sce the
church, which was built by my great-grandfather.
When Sabbath morning came I went to ‘the church :
reached 1t just a little after the minister in chaige
had commenced the service. Seeing that I wus a
stranger, with somewhat of a clerical appearance, he
came out of the pulpit to the pew where I was
sitting, and said, among other things, ¢ We are going
to have the Sacrament of the Lord's Supper to- d'Ly
and I would be glad to have you stay and assist,
which I did. At the close of the service I remarked
to the minister that I was very much interested in
being present, as I was informed that the remains of
my ancestor were in the vault under the pulpit, and
that I was his great-grandson. He secmed much
surprised and announced the fact to the congrega-
tion, and farther said that I would preach in the
afternoon, which I dil. He then directed the sexton
to show me down into the vault. In this vault
there were the remains of three ministers in their
separate coffins. One was a coffin containing the
remains of the immortal Whitfieldl. In the coffin Just
opposite was the remaips of the Rev. Joseph Prince,
and in another the remains of another former pastor
of the church, Rev. Mr. Parsons. I certainly was
very much impressed by my surroundings, for it was
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a seene the like of whieh I never hoped to look upon
again. This vault, I was told, had been visited by
thousands, who came to look upon George Whitfield’s
bones, for there was nothing but bones. Whitfield
died a very short distance from the church, and the
window of the house where he breathed his last was
pointed out to me. I remnember with what strange
fcelings I laid my hand on the shade of my ancestor.
This man had twelve sons, and there was one thing
about them the pastor said he knew, and that was
¢ that they were all-Princes.’

“We can trace our ancestry back three hundred
years, and the head of the family was Rev. John
Prince, Rector of a parish in Berkshire, Eng. I have
a photograph of the stone church where he ministered.
His sons were Nonconformists, and John Prinee, the
first to come to this country, was persecuted and
driven out of his country by the cruelty of Arch-
bishop Laud.

“Yours very truly,

“Joux PRrINCE.”

CHAPMAN.

William Chapman was one of the Yorkshire emi-
grants that came to Nova Seotia in the spring of
1775. He brought with him his wife and family of
cight children, four sous and four daughters. He
purchased a large block of land near Point de Bute
corner, with the marsh adjoining, and on this property
at once scttled.

William Chapman was one of the early Methodists,
and it was in 1788, on an acre of land given by Mr.
Chapman, and decded to John Wesley, that the first
Methodist church was built in Point de Bute. Later,
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Joseph Chapman, Esq., a grandson of William, gave
an additional pieee of land, and the whole at the pre-
sent time comprises the cemetery at Point de Bute.

The following letter from James Chapman, in
Yorkshire, to Williamn Trueman, at Prospeet, will
perhaps be interesting to some of the descendants. 1t
was written in 1789:

“ DEAR FrIENDS,—What shall I say to you? How
shall I be thankful enough for that I have onee more
heard of my dear old friends in Nova Scotia. When
John Trueman let me see your letter it caused tears
of gratitude to flow from my eyes, to hear that you
were all alive, but mueh more that I had reason to
believe that you were on the road to Zion, with your
faces thitherward. I am also thankful that I ean tell
you that I and my wife and ten children are yet alive,
and I hope in good health, and T hope most of us are,
though not earnestly yressing, yet we are feebly
creeping towards the mark for the prize of our high
calling of God in Christ Jesus. My son, Thomas, now
lives at Hawnby, and follows shoemaking: he is not
married, nor any of my sons. I have three daughters,
Amn, Mary and Hannah. Ann succeeds her uncle and
aunt, for they are both dead. Mary and her husband
live on a little farm at Brompton, and Hannah at
Helmsley. My son James is in the Excise at London.
William and John are with me at home and George
has learned the businessof Cabinet maker. Prudence
keeps a farmer’s house in Cleaveland and Betty is at
homne and she is Taller than her mother.  Thanks be to
God both 1 and my wife enjoy a tolerable share of
health and can both work and slecp tolerably well.
———died about last Candlemas, which has made
the society at Hawnby almost vacant for a class
leader, but I go as often as I can and your friend,
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Benjamin Wedgewood, speaks to them when I am not
there.  Tho most of the old methodists at Hawnby
are gone to Eternity, yet there is about thirty yet.
James Hewgill is married and Both him and his wife
are joined in the society. Thereis preaching settled
at Swainby and I belicve a yearnest Society of aboyt
Seventeen members. I often go there on Sundays to
preach.  There has just been a Confirence at Leeds
and good old Mr. Wesley was there among them, very
healthy and strong, though 86 years of age. At our

Hawnby Love Feast 1 ‘had Mr. Swinburn and his
wife 2 nights at my house. They seem to be
people who have religion truly at heart and both
carnestly desired me to remember them Both to you
in kind love and also to all their religious friends. I
saw Nelly very lately at her house in North Allerton.
She desires you all to pray for her, which she does for
youall. My dear friends what Shall I say more to
you, But only desire you to continue in the good ways
of God, and never grow weary or faint in your minds,
and then we hope to meet you in heaven. Pray give
our kind luves to our old friends, your father “and
mother, and tell your Father when I see my Tooth
drawers then I think of him, for he made them, My
dear friends, farewell, ours and our Family’s kind love
to you and all your Fa,nnly, and also all the Chapman
Familys, James and Ann Chapman. Mary Flintoft
and Sarah Bently arc Both alive and remains at their
old Habitations, But Mavy never goes to the meetings.
Their children are all alive, But Sarah Flintoff and she
died at York about three or four yearsSince. James
Flintoft is with his unkle George Cossins at London.”

The Chapmans were very fond of military life, and
in the old muster days took an active interest in the
general muster.  As & consequence there was usually
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a colonel, a major, an adjutant or a captain in every
neighborhood where the name was found.

A story is told of Captain Henry Chapman, on his
way to general muster, meeting a man with a loaded
team, whose hope was to get clear of mustering that
day on the plea that he had not been long enough in
the district. The captain ascertained the man’s views
on the matter, and then with an emphasis that indi-
cated he was in carnest, he said, “If you arc not on
the muster tield by one ¢’clock I will have you fined
to the full extent of the law.” One who witnessed
this interview said it was laughable to see the fright-
ened look on the man’s face, and the rush he made
to unhitch the team and get away to the muster ficld
within the time stated. This same Captain Chapman
was one of the kindest of men, but duty to Queen
and country must not be neglected.

There was, too, a good deal of the sporting instinet
in the family. A horse race or a fox hunt appealed
to something in their nature that stirred the pulse
like wine and furnished material for conversation on
many a day afterward.

Like a good many of the first gencration born in
this country, the Chapmans were men of grand phy-
sique. The five sons of Colonel Henry Chapman, of
Point de Bute, each measured six feet or over, and
were finely proportioned. Two of the sons, Joseph
and Stephen, were among the volunteers in the war
of 1812, and they both lived to pass the four-score
mark.

The children of the first Wm. Chapman were:
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Williamn, who married a Miss Dixon, of Sackville, and
settled in Fort Lawrence on a part of the old Eddy
grant; and Thomas, who married Miss Kane, form-
erly a school teacher, from New England. They set-
tled beside William. John married Sarah Blacl,
of Amherst, and settled in Dorchester. Henry mar-
ried Miss Seaman, of Wallace, and remained on the
farm at Point de Bute. Mary married George Taylor,
Memramcook. Jane married John Smith, of Fort
Lawrence, and was the mother of nine strapping boys,
all of whom proved good men for the country. Sally
married Richard Black, of Amherst. They settled
first at River Philip, but later came back to Amherst
and lived on the farm his father first purchased in
Cumberland. Nancy was twice marvied—first to
Thomas Robinson, and after his death to James
Roberts. Her home was in Amherst.

James Dixon, in his “ History of the Dixons,” says
he thinks the descendants of William and Mary
Chapman now number more than the descendants of
any of the other Yorkshire families. Rev. Douglas
Chapman, D.D., Rev. Eugene Chapman, Rev. Carritte
Chapman, Rev. W. Y. Chapman, and Ephraim Chap-
man, barrister, are of this family.

The late Albert Chapman, of Boston, U.S, was
very much interested in Jooking up family history,
and spent a good deal of time in gathering informa-
tion about the Chapman family. The following
letters and extracts which were received by him some
years before he died may add interest to this sketch:
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«18 Curpering HoUSE Roap,

“ SHARROW, SHEFFIELD, ENGLAND,
“Jan. 15th, 1881.
“MRr. CHAPMAN,

“Sir,—You will no doubt be surprised to receive a
letter from an unknown relative.

“We were much pleased to learn you had made en-
quiries about the Chapman family after so long a
silence. We often heard father speak of uncle who
left Hawnby Hall for America and could not get any
letter answered. Most of the Chapman family have
passed away since he left. We have the four grand-
children left belonging to Thomas Chapman, brother
to your grandfather. The grandfather has been dead
eighty years, and our father has been dead forty-five
years.

“We should be glad to see you or any of the Chap-
man family if you could take a tour and sec the
place where your ancestors lived. The house and
farm are still in the family and should be glad to
accommodate you if you could ecome over, and we shall
be glad to hear all news about the family who lived
and died in America.

“With best wishes to you and yours,
* I remain yours,
“Mary WarLton.”

Extract from a letter from Thos. J. Wilkinson to
A. Chepman, Boston:
“York UNiox BANK,
“THIRSK, YORKSHIRE.
“I have visited Hawnby a few times: it is most

romantically situated about ten miles from Thirsk,
rather difficult of access on account of the steep
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ascents which have to be climbed and precipitously
descended before it can be reached.

“As T am acquainted with the elergyman who has
been there many years, the Rev. O. A. Manners (con-
nected with the Duke of Rutland’s family) I wrote
him and received the following letter :

“ April 2nd, 1880.
“DEAR SIR,

“T have examined the register and found frequent
mention of the name of Chapman of Hawnby Hall,
viz.,, ‘March 22, 1761 - John, son of William Chap-
man, Hawnby Hall, baptized. Feb. 3,1763—Thomas
Chapman, of the Hall, died aged 75 years’

“It would seem that the foregoing William Chap-
man was the son of Thomas Chapman and the man
who landed in Halifax in 1775.

“ About the latter date a family by the name of
Barr came to reside at the Hall.

« James Cornforth of this place, who is in his 80th
year, is related to this family. The said William
Chapman being his great-uncle (maternal).

“The Hall is now, and has been for many years, a
farm house.

“0. A. MANNERS.”

The following names appear in the directory among
the residents of Billsdale :

Joseph Chapman, Farmer.

Robert “

Robert Shoemaker.

Robert Strickland Chapman, Farmer.
Garbuth Chapman, Farmer, Dale Town.
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CARTER.

John Carter (the first) came from Yorkshire to
Nova Scotia in 1774. His wife was Jane Thompson.
They settled near Fort Cumberland,and had a family
of threc sons, Thomas, Christopher and John. Thowas
married a Miss Siddall and settled first at Westcock,
Sackville Parish, but afterwards moved to Dorchester.
Christopher married a Miss Roberts and scttled at
Westmoreland Point, near his father. John married
Miss Anne Lowerison and remained on the homestead.
The three brothers all had large families, the boys
outnumbering the girls, which is the reason, no doubt,
that the Carter name is more in evidence in the
district than any other Yorkshire name.

"John Carter’s descendants still own the farm their
great-grandfather first purchased in Nova Secotia.
John Carter, sen., was drowned while fording the
Missiquash River while on his way home from Am-
herst. His widow afterward beecame the second wife
of William Chapman, of Point de Bute. Mr. Carter
and his sons were honest men, and the name still
stands well for fair dealing. Inspeector Carter, of St.
John, N.B. ; Herbert Carter, M.D., of Port Elgin, N.B.;
Titus Carter, barrister, of Fredericton, N.B, and
Councillor Carter, of Salisbury, N.B., arec members of
this family.

TRENHOLMS.

There were three Trenholm brothers in the York-
shire contingent, Matthew, Edward, and John.

Matthew settled at Windsor, Edward at River
13
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Franeis, in the Upper Provinces, and John at Point
de Bute, on the Inverma Farin. This farm was
probably confiscated to the Crown after Sheriff Allan
left the country.

Just where Mr. Trenholm lived before he got
possession of Inverma I have no information, but as
Sheriff Allan had several tenants, it is quite probable
that Mr. Trenholm was one of them. John Tren-
holm’s wife was a Miss Coates. They had three sons
—John, William, and Robert—and three daughters.

John married a Miss Foster and settled on a Brook
farm at Point de Bute Corner and afterwards built a
mill on the Brook. His grandson, Abijah, now owns
this part of the property and turns out flour at the old
stand. William married a Miss Ryan and owned a
large farm in Point de Bute, on the north-west side of
the ridge. Robert settled at Cape Tormentine in
1810, and the following table shows the names and
number of his children and grandchildren :

Children, Grandchildren, ) Children. Grandchildren,
Stephen 11 Abner 6
John 5 Job 10
Hannah 10 Ruth 12
William 10 Thomas 10
Pheebe 11 Jane 8
Robert 10 Benjamin 9
Total........... 112

Hiram and Abijah and their families are now the
only descendants of the name living in Point de Bute.
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The Trenholms were quiet, industrious men, very
neat about their work, and made successful farmers.

Logan.

Hugh Logan was one of the eleven hundred and
sevenby six settlers who, with their families, arrived
at Chebucto (Halifax Harbor) on the 2nd of July,
1749. “This plan of sending out settlers to Nova

- Seotia was adopted by the British Government, and

the lords of trade, by the King’s command, advertised
in March, 1749, offering to all officers and private
men discharged from the army and navy, and to
artificers necessary in building and husbandry, free
passages, provisions for the voyage, and subsis-
tence for a year after landing, arms, ammunition and
utensils of industry, free grants of land in the
Province, and a civil government with all the
privileges enjoyed in the other English colonies.”

Parliament voted £40,000 sterling for the expense
of this undertaking. Colonel the Honorable Edward
Cornwallis was gazetted Governor of Nova Scotia,
May 9th, 1749, and sailed for the Province in the
sloop-of-war Sphine. On the 14th, of June, just a
month after leaving home, the Sphimaz made the
coast of Nova Scotia, but having no pilot on board,
cruised off the land until the 21st June. On that
day they entered Halifax Harbor.

Cornwallis writes, June 22nd: “The coasts are as
rich as ever they have been represented to be. We
caught fish every day since we came within forty
leagues of the coast. The harbor itself is full of fish
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of all kinds.  All the officers agree the harbor is
the finest they have ever seen. The country is one
continual wood, no clear spot is to be seen or heard of.”

Mr. Logan entered into the spirit of the first builders
of the new Province, and did his work te the best of
his ability.  His son, Hugh, came to Chignecto early
in the history of the country and settled at Amherst
Point. Hugh Legan was the founder of the family
in Cumberland and became one of the solid men of
the place. He is said to have been the owner of the
first two-wheeled chaise in the district. Sheriff
Logan, of Amherst, and Hance Logan, M.P. for Cum-
berland County, N.S., are descendants of Hugh Logan.

ALLISON.

The Allisons came from the County of London-
derry, in Ireland, near the waters of Lough Foyle.
Joseph Allison was born about 1720, and when he
reiched manhood’s estate he rented a farm owned by
a London corporation, paying yearly rates, which
were collected by an agent in Ireland. On the occa-
sion of a visit from the agent to collect the rent he
was invited by Mr. Allison to dine with them. The
best the house afforded was given to him as an
honored guest. On that day silver spoons were used.
Turning to Mr. Allison the agent said, “I see that
you can afford to have silver on your table. If you
can afford this you can pay more rent; your next
year’s rent will be increased.” “I will pay no more
rent,” said Mr. Allison, “I'll go to America first.”
The agent increased the rent the next year, and
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M. Allison sold his property and with his wife and
six children, in 1769, left the home of his fathers
and embarked from Londonderry for the New World.
He intended to land at Philadelphia, having friends
in Pennsylvania with whom he had corresponded
and who had urged him to come to that State to
settle. The passage was rough, and the vessel was
wrecked on Sable Island, and Mr. Allison and his
family were taken to Halifax, N.S.

Through the influence of the British Admiral Coch-
rane, then on the coast, Mr. Allison and the others
that came with him were induced to scttle in Nova
Scotia. Mr. Allison purchased a farm in Horton,
King’s County, on the border of the historic Grand
Pré, where he lived until his death, in 1794. His
wife was Mrs. Alice Polk, of Londonderry. She
survived him for several years, and gave the historic
silver spoons to her youngest child, Nancy (Mrs.
Leonard), who lived to be ninety years of age. They
are now in the family of her great-grandson, the
late Hon. Samuel Leonard Shannon, of Halifax.

Mr. Joseph Allison was a farmer. Many of his
descendants have been prominent in the political,
religious and commercial life of Nova Scotia in the
last hundred years. A goodly number of these have
stood by the fine old occupation of their ancestor.

Charles Allison (second), who married Mileah True-
man, was the founder of the Mount Allison Educa-
tional Institution, at Sackville, N.B. His biographer
says of him: “The name of no member of the Allison
family is so widely known throughout Eastern British
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Ameriea as his,” and “in him the noblest character
was associated with the most unassuming demeanor.”
Charles and Joseph, brothers, were the first of the
name to settle in Sackville. Dr. David Allison,
President of the Mount Allison University, and J. F.
Allison, Postmaster, represent the name now in that
place. The mother of the late Hon. William Crane,
of Sackville, was. Rebecca Allison, daughter of the
first Joseph Allison.
GALLAGHER.

The Gallaghers were a north of Ireland family.
Hugh, who married Alice Trueman, was a most enter-
prising and capable man. He was a successful farmer
and also a contractor. He built the last covered
bridge over the Tantramar, a structure that was
burned in the summer of 1901. He was also one of
the contractors on the Eastern Extension Railway,
from Moneton to the Nova Scotia border, and lost
heavily by the Saxby tide. He was one of the
ploneers in getting steamers to run to Sackville, before
the railway was built, and part owner of the old
steamer “ Princess Royal,” that ran on this route.

SyiTH.

Captain Smith came from Ircland to America at
the beginning of the last century. He married a
Miss Shipley. He was master of a schooner that ran
between St. John and the ports at the head of the
Bay. On his last trip the schooner took plaster at
Nappan Bridge for St. John and was lost with all on

boaxd.
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Francis Smith, son of Capt. Smith, married Mary
Trueman, and had a large family.  Mr Smith was an
honest and most industrious man. He left a large
property at Nappan, N.S., to his sons, who inherited
their father’s virtues.

COATES.

Thomas Coates emigrated from Yorkshire, England,
to Nova Secotia in the year, 1774, and scttled at
Nappan, Camberland County. His son, Robert, by
his second wife, married Jane Ripley, and inherited
the homestead. This property is now owned Ly his
arandson, Rupert Coates. Joseph Coates, a son of
Robert, married Mary Lawrence. They had a family
of ten children.

Mr. Coates was a successful farmer and amassed a
large property. His sons, Thompson and Rupert, are
at the present time prominent men and leading farmers
of Nappan, N.S. Another branch of the Coates’
family removed to King’s County, N.B, and planted
the name there.

FuLLERTON.

James Fullerton was from the Highlands of Scot-
land. He came to Nova Secotia in 1790, and settled
at Halfway River, Cumberland County. His wife
was & Miss MeIntosh. The eldest son, Alexander,
was born before they left Scotland : and one son and
three daughters were born in thiscountry. Alexander
had a family of three sonsand five daughters. James
married Jane Lawrence, and Jesse married Eunice
Lawrence. The cldest daughter, Anna, married Amos
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Lawrence, and the youngest, Lavina, married Douglas
Pugsley, of Nappan, whose first wife was Caroline
Lawrence. James Fullerton (seeond) took an active
interest in politics, and was a prominent man in the
county for many years. He wasone of the men that
supplied the Halifax market with Cumberland beef.
Although a stout man in late years, he was very
active on his feet, and few men could out-walk him,
even after he was'seventy years old.

EMBREE.

Samuel Embree was a Loyalist from White Haven,
New York. He commanded the Light Horse
Dragoons during the Revolutionary War, and at its
close his landed estate was confiscated. He then left
the country and scttled in Amherst, N.S. The British
Government did not forget his services for the lost
cause, and he drew a pension to the end of his life.

Cyrus Black says, in his “ History of the Blacks,”
that Mrs. Ewmbree once distinguished hersclf on a
trip from Eastport to the Isthmus. The captain was
incapable of managing the boat through drink, and
there was no man to take his place. Mrs. Embree
took the helm and brought the schooner safe to Aulac.”

Thomas and Israel, Mr. Embree’s sons, remained on
the homestead at Amherst. Elisha, a third son,
settled at Amherst Head, now called Waren. A
daughter married Luther Lusby. A grand-daughter of
Israel married William L. Trueman.

.
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RirLEY.

Six brothers came to America from Yorkshire.
Henry, John and William Ripley came in 1774%;
Joseph, Robert and Thomas, later.  Henry settled in
Nappan, and his wife was Mary Faweett, daughter of
John Fawecett, of Lower Sackville, N.B. Henry and
Mary Ripley had a family of sixteen children. Henry
Ripley occupied a rented farm the first years in this
country, but later purchased a farm from the DeBuarres
estate, 600 acres of marsh and upland, for £600, and
became a very prosperous farmer. The name is pretty
well scattered, but there are Ripleys still in Nappan
who, like their ancestors, are men of integrity.

PuUGsLEY.

The Pugsleys were Loyalists. David Pugsley came
from White Plains, New York, to Nova Scotia, when
a young man, and settled at Amherst. The one hun-
dred acves of land given him Ly the Government was
at Wallace. He was twice married.  His first wife,
by whom he had one son, was a Miss Horton. His
second wife was a Miss Ripley, and had twelve chil-
dren, seven daughters and five sons.

Mr. Pugsley had a brother John, who was a half-
pay officer in the British army. This brother lived a
short time at Fort Lawrcence, and had one son, named
Daniel. John Pugsley and his wife left this son with
friends in Petitcodiac, and rcturned cither to the
States or to Great Britain. They were not heard from
afterward. The Pugsleys of King's County and St
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John are descendants of this Daniel.  Those in Cum-
berland are descended from David. The Pugsleys
are good citizens, and generally have the means and
the disposition to help a neighbor in need.

FINLAY—MITCHELL—PATTERSON—DOYLE.

The Finlays came from the north of Ireland about
the year 1820. Jane Finlay, who married John
Trueman, was born'on the banks of Newfoundland, on
the voyage out, and only just escaped being called
Naney, after the ship. David and Margaret Mitchell
came from the neighborhood of Londonderry, in
Ireland, to Nova Scotia, in 1829. David Patterson
came from Maghera, Culnady County, Antrim, Ireland,
inJune, 1839. These families all settled in Cumberlaand
County, bordering on the Straits of Northumberland.
The Doyles emigrated to Nova Scotia, about 1790,
and settled at Five Islands, Parrsboro. )

It is said David Patterson studied for the chureh,
and perhaps that, in part, accounts for the fact that
four of his children are, or have been, teachers. A
daughter has just offered and been accepted for the
foreign missions. Mrs. Patterson writes: * Daisy has
offered herself as a medical missionary and been
accepted.  She will leave for China next September,
via San Francisco. It is something 1 can hardly talk
about, yet I would rather she would go there than
marry the richest man in the United States, for it is
a grand thing to work for the Lord Jesus. I remem-
ber,” she goes on to sav, “of being told that grand-
mother Trueman had faith to believe God would save
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all her children and grandchildren down to the fourth
generation, and don’t you think we are reaping the
fruit of grandmother’s faith and prayers to the present
day ¢”

Two sons of Thomas Mitehell are in the Presby-
terian ministry.

Of this Scotch-Irish stock Hon. Charles Bell says:
“The Scotch-Irish were people of Scottish lineage who
dwelt upon Irish soil. They stuck together and kept
aloof from the native Celtic race.” Macaulay says:
“They sprang from diftferent stocks. They spoke
different languages. They had different national
characteristics as strongly opposed as any two national
characters in Europe. Between two such populations
there could be little sympathy, and centuries of calam-
ities and wrongs had generated a <trong antipathy.
The Scotch planted upon Irish soil were Scoteh still,
‘and the Irish were Irish still”  One of their own
writers says: “ If we be not the very peeuliar people,
we Scotch-Irish are a most peculiar people, who have
ever left our own broad distinet mark wherever we
have come, and have it in us still to do the same, even
our critics being the judges. These racial marks are
birth-marks, and birth-marks are indelible. They are
principles.  The principles are the same everywhere,
and these principles are of four classes: religious,
moral, intellectual and political.”

I have been led to make these quotations referring
to the Scotch-Irish because I have found so many of
them among the early settlers of this country, and
wherever they are found they have proved true to
their lineage.
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Others embraced in this emigration are: Clark,
Moffat, Logan, Dickey, McEhnon, MeClennen, Allison,
and Dickson or Dixson.

Fawcerr.

Three brothers named Faweett—William, John and
Robert—came to Nova Scotia from Hovingham, York-
shire, in the spring of 1774. William, with his wife
and three children, settled in Upper Sackville, on the
farm now owned by Charles George. John settled in
Lower Sackville, near the present Mount Allison
Academy, and built a mill on the brook that runs
through the farm. The Fawecett foundry stands on
what was the bed of the old mill-pond. Robert was
a sea captain. He removed his family to the United
States and was afterwards lost at sco. One of his
sons lost his life in the same way.

William’s children were: John, William and Polly.
John married srs. Eleanor Colpitts, nee Eleanor
Forster, of Amherst, and had four children, George,
Ann, William and Eleanor.

William (second) married Sarah Holmes. Their
children were Rufus and Betsy. '

Polly married John Dobson, who afterwards moved
to Sussex. The Dobsons of Sussex and Upper Dor-
chester belong to this family.

John TFaweett (first), Lower Sackville, had four
children—two sons, Robert and John, and two
daughters, Mary and Nancy. Of these, Robert mar-
ried Seaman ; John married Jane Black; Mary
married Henry Ripley, and Naney married John

———
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Ogden. Robert, a son of the second Robert, mar-
ried Jane Trueman, daughter of William Trueman.

In 1817 (March 22nd) Thomas Fawcett, of Stock-
ton Forest, Yorkshire, sailed from Hull on the ship
Valiant, bound for Charlottetown, P. E. Island. The
voyage lasted seventy-threc days. About the middle
of the voyage the Valiunt came across a Scotch brig
in a sinking condition and took on board her sixty
passengers and crew. There were one hundred and
ninety-three immigrants on the ship whcn she arrived
at her destination.

Thomas Faweett settled first at Cove Head, P.EI
He afterward moved to Sackville, and finally located
at Salisbury. He had three sons, one now living in
Carleton County, N.B,, one in Salisbury, and John is
one of the solid men of Tidnish.

Other passengers on the Valiant were: John
Milner, settled in Sackville; John Towse, settled in
Dorchester; Robert Morrison, settled in Sussex:
Robert Mitten and family, settled in Coverdale.

Evans.

Isaac Evans came to this country, probably from
the United States, shortly after the close of the
Revolutionary war. The family was originally from
Wales He was married to Miss Lydia Jenks, and
settled within a few rods of the old Botsford place at
Westeock. They had seven children, all born in this
country—James, Isaae, William, Lydia, Mary, Ann and
Beriah. James married Miss Barnes, and Mr. Isaac
N. Evans, the only man of the name now living in
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the parish, is a son of theirs. His name and his
brother William’s are to be found in the list of
students attending the Mount Allison Academy in
1843. Isaac was drowned off Grindstone Island when
twenty-four years old, in 1819. William married a
Miss Estabrooks, and they had ten chiidren—James
Isaae, who died recen'ly at Shediac, where his family
still live; Evander Valentine, who lived in Sackville
and was well known as Captain Evans: Jane, who
married Mareus Truéman, and now lives in California;
William Murray Stuart, who at one time had charge of
the Westmoreland Bank in Moncton; George Edwin,
a mechanic, who moved early in life to the United
States; Henry, who served on the side of the North
in the War of Sceession; Charles, who married a
daughter of the late John Fawcett, but died young.
Lydia married Lewis Jenks; Mary mnever married,
but lived to be old, and was known by her friends as
“ Aunt Polly ”; Ann married John Boultonhouse, and
Beriah married John Stuart. Isaac Evans, the original
settler, was drowned off Partridge Island, St. John,
June, 1798, aged thirty-four. Lydia, his wife, died
November 11th, 1842, in her seventy-fourth year.

‘Woob.

Williamm Wood was from Burinston, near Bedale, in
the West Riding of Yorkshire. His wife was Elizabeth
Clarkson. They emigrated to America with the first

_Yorkshire contingent (1772-3). Shortly after coming
to this country Mrs. Wood died, leaving three children
—ason and two daughters. The son was born on
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St. Valentine’s Day, and was named Valentine. Mr.
Wood’s second wife was the widow of an othcer who
had served at Fort Cumberland. 3Mr. Wood was at
the “Fort ” when the Eddy rebels attacked that place,
and distinguished himself by his bravery. He was
drowned in the Bay of Fundy.

Valentine Wood married and settled in Point de
Bute. His family consisted of eleven children:
William, who died in boyhood: Edward, Rufus,
Joshua, Cyrus, Thomas, Albert, Mary Ann, Cynthia,
Amelia, and the youngest daughter, Rebeccg (Mus,
Thompson Trueman, of Sackville, N.B.).

Edward was named for an uncle in England. He
made his home in Bay Verte, N.B., and became a
most useful and acceptable Methodist local preacher.
Two of the Wood family were teachers. Thomas W.
was a prominent and successful educationalist. The
Wood family were more than ordinarily gifted intel-
lectually. Albert, the youngest son, became cele-
brated as a skilful and successful sea captain. He
published a book, entitled “ Great Circle Sailing,” that
quite changed the methods, in some particulors, from
which ships had been navigated previously. Captain
Wood finally settled in California, wherc he now lives,
and is an enthusiastic temperance worker and writer.
Joshua was musically inclined, and taught the old
fashioned singing school. He possessed character-
istics that made him quite a hero with many of his
friends.

Most of the descendants of William Wood bearing
the name have removed from the country.
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Harris.

The Harris name is one of the oldest in Canada.
Arthur Harris came from Plymouth, England, to
Bridgewater, New England, in 1650. He removed
from there to Danby, and from Danby to Boston in
1696. His son, Samuel, was with Captain Ben Church’s
expedition to Acadia in 1704, and shortly after Acadia
came into possession of the English he settled in
Annapolis. Aichael Spurr Hams, a grandson of
Samucl Harris, was born at Annapolis Royal in 1804.
His wife, Sarah Ann Troop, was born in Aylesford in
1806. Michael Harris started in business in St. John
in 1826; in 1837 he removed his family to Moncton
and opened a general store and carriage building
establishment, and soon after added shipbuilding to
the business. After his death the business was very
successfully conducted for many years by his two
sons, the late John Harris and Christopher Harris.

This firm was always abreast of the times, and the
city of Moncton owes much to its enterprise and far-
sightedness. The late Mrs. John A. Humphrey was a
daughter of Michael Spurr Harris.

MAIN.

The Mains are Scotch. The family tree goes back
to the beginning of the fifteenth century, one branch
including the present Lord Rosebery and Sir William
Alexander, who at one time owned Nova Scotia and
gave the Province its name. David Main with two
of his sons, John and James, emigrated from Dumfries,
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Scotland, to Richibucto, New Brunswick, in the spring
of 1821, and settled at G:‘ﬁ}oway, on the farm now
owned by Robert Main, a grandson of David, and son
of James. James married Jane Murray, of Shemogue.
James Main, of Botsford, is also a son of theirs.
John married Jean Johnstone, and lived in Kingston,
now ecalled Rexton. Mary Jean Main, wife of
Howard Trueman, is his daunghter. The late David
Main, of St. Stephen, was a son of John Main.

SHARP.

Four brothers named Sharp came to the Isthmus
from Cornwallis, N.S,, about the year 1812. Matthew
settled in Nappan, William in Maccan, Allan in
Ambherst, and John in Sackville. Samuel Sharp, who
married Fanny Trueman, was a son of William Sharp.

WELDON.

Two of William Trueman’s sons married into the
Weldon family. I am not able to give any more in-
formation about the Weldons than is found in the
“ History of the Blacks,” which is as follows: « A
Mr. Weldon left London for Halifax in 1760. The
vessel in which he sailed was wrecked on the coast of
Portugal. Returning to London, in 1761, he found that
his wife and family had sailed for Halifax, where he
joined them in the fall of the same year” M.
Weldon settled first in Hillsboro’ and later removed
to Dorchester, where the name has remained ever
since. Dr. Weldon, Dean of the Halifax Law School,
belongs to this family.

14
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Scorr.

Adam Scott was fron({' Langholm, Dumfriesshire,
Scotland. He emigrated to New Brunswick with his
wife and family in 1834, landing first at Quebee. He
settled in Shemogue, Westmoreland County. His wife’s
name was Janet Amos. e had eight children. Two
of the sons and the eldest daughter, Janet, married
into William Trueman’s family. The daughter, Mrs.
Joseph Trueman), is still living, bright and cheerful,
in the 84th year of her age. Mr. Scott was one of
the most prosperous farmers of the district in which
he settled, and lived to be ninety-nine years of age.

BENT.

This name is believed to have come from bent
grass, “a stiff, wiry growth, little known in America.”
John Bent, the first of the name in America, was born
in Penton-Grafton, England, in November, 1596. He
came to America in his forty-second year, and settled
in Sudbury, Mass. The Bents came to Nova Scotia
about 1760. The names of Jesse and John Bent are
found on the list of grantees for the township of
Cumberland in 1763, to which reference has pre-
viously been made. Sarah A. Bent, daughter of
Mertin Bent, married Edward T'rueman.

JEwETT—CoOY.

Mary Jewett, who married Alder Trueman, of
Sackville, and Asa Coy, who married Catherire True-
man, of Point de Bute, were of the New England
emigration that settled on the St John River in
1762-3.



A5 g

. by te
e

i e LS A 0 el

FAMILIES CONNECTED BY MARRIAGE. 211

HARRISON.

John Harrison, of Rillington, Yorkshire, England,
and his wife, Sarah Lovell, of the same place, with
their family arrived in Cumberland County, Nova
Scotia, in the spring of 1774, and settled on the
Maccan River. They had family as follows: Luke,
born August 25th, 1754, married Tryphena Bent,
November 22nd, 1789 ; John, married twice, first wife
Dinali Lumley, of Yorkshire, England, and second
Charlotte Mills, of the State of New York:; Thomas
born March 28th, 1762, married Mary Henry; Wil-
liam, born March 25th, 1770, married Jane Coates ;
Mary, married Matthew Lodge; Sarah, married James
Brown; Nancy, married John Lumley; Hannah,
married John Lambert; Elizabeth, married Henry
Furlong.

Luke Harrison (son of John) and his wife Tryphena
Bent, had family as follows: Jane, married William
Bostock ; ¥Margaret; George, married Sarah Hodson;
Hannah, married George Boss: Amy, married Thos.
Dodsworth ; Eunice, married Amos Boss; Elizabeth,
married Williamn Smith; Joseph; Jesse, married
Elizabeth Hoeg.

John Harrison (son of John), whose first wife was
Dinah Lumley, and second Charlotte Mills, had family
as follows : Sarah, John, Maria, Lovell, Mary, Chax-
lotte, Rebecea; William, married Elizabeth Brown;
James,

Thomas Harrison (son of John) and his wife Mary
Henry, had family as follows: Luke, married Hannah
Lodge; Sarah, married Martin Hoeg; Clementina,
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married Joseph Moore; Harriet, married William
Coates; Thomas, married Clementina Stockton ;
Tillott, married Eunice Lockwood; Mary, married
Gideon Trueman; Ruth, married Hugh Fullerton;
Henvy, first wife Phocbe Chipman, and second A. M.
Randall.

William Harrison (son of John) and his wife, Jane
Coates, had family as follows: Sarah, married Robert
Oldfield ; Thomas,- married Elizabeth Shipley : Ed-
ward; William, married Mary Tait; John, married
Jerusha Lewis; Ann, married David Keiver; Joseph,
married Jane Ripley; James, marricd Mary Lewis;
Robert, married Hannah Wood : Jane, married Nathan
Hoeg; Luke:; Brown, married Mary Ann Coates;
Hannah, married David Long.

Lulke Harrison (son of Thomas and Mary), was born
August 10th, 1787, and died November 12th, 1865.
He and his wife, Hannah Lordge, moved from Maccan
River, N.S, to Duteh Valley, near Sussex, N.B,, and
had family as follows: William Henry, married three
times, fivst wife was Sarah Slocomb, second Rebecea
Slocomb, and third Lavina M. Knight: Cbharles
Clement; Mary Ann, married J. Nelson Coates, of
Smith’s Creek, King’s County, N.B.; Thomas Albert,
married Isabel Stevenson, of St. Andrew’s, N.B;
Joseph Lodge, married Charlotte Snider, of Dutch
Valley, Sussex, N.B.

William Henry Harrison (son of Luke Harrison
and Hannah Lodge), was born July 20th, 1813, at
Sussex, N.B, and died May 2nd, 1901, at Sackville,
N.B. He had no family by his first and second

St e L



FAMILIES CONNECTED BY MARRIAGE. 213

wives. He and his third wife, Lavina M. Knight,
daughter of Rev Richard Knight, D.I)., of Devon-
shire, England, had family as follows: Richard
Knight, married to Anne Graham, of Sussex, N.B,
living at Colorado Springs, Colorado, U.S.A.: Haunah
Lovell, dead; William Henry, of Sackville, N.B.:
Charles Allison, dead ; F. A. Lovell, of St. John, N.B.:
Albert Thornton, of New York City; Mary Louisa,
married to T. Dwight Pickard, of Sackville, N.B,
living at Fairview, B.C; Frank Allison, of Sackville,
N.B, married to Flora Anderson.

John Harrison, of Rillington, Yorkshire, England,
who settled at Macean River, N.S,, Canada, in 1774,
was a relative of John Harrison, born at Foulby, in
the Parish of Wragley, ncar Pontrefact, Yorkshire,
May, 1693. John Harrison, of Foulby, was the
inventor of the chronometer, for which he reeeived
from the British Government the sum of £20,000.
He died at his home in Red Lion Siquare, London, in
1776. The chronometer accepted by the Government
from John Harrison was seen in July, 1901, at Guild-
hall, London.

The following letters were written by members of
the Harrison family to friends in England.

Williain H. Harrison, a descendant of John Harri-
son, visited Yorkshire about the year 18534, and
received the letters from friends there, bringing
them back to Nova Scotia, where they were written
so many years before. They are interesting as giving
the experience of the emigrant in the new country.
The first was written by Luke, a young man twenty
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years old, who had come to Nova Scotia with his
father and had been in the country but threec months.
The second was written by John Harrison, a brother
of Luke’s, in 1803, after they had tested the country.

Exrracrs FroM OLp LETTERS OF THE HARRISON
FayMiLy.

“Po Mr. WiLLiaM HARrRrisox,
“ Rillington, Yorkshire,
“England.

“ June 30th, 1774
“DEesr CousiN,—

“Hoping these lines will find you in good health,
as we ave ab present, bless God forit. We have all
cotten safe to Nova Scotia, but do not like it at all,
and a great many be<ides us, and are coming back
to England again, all that can get back. We do
not like the country, nor never shall. The mosquitos
are a terrible plague in thiscountry. You may think
that mosquitos cannot hurt, but if you do you are
mistaken, for they will swell your legs and hands so
that some persons are both blind and lame for some
days. They grow worse every year and they bite
the English the worst. We have taken a farm of
one Mr. Barron, for one year, or longer if we like.
The rent is £20 a year. We have 10 cows, 4 oxen,
20 sheep, one sow, and one breeding mare. He will
talke the rent in butter or cheese, or cattle. The
country is very poor, and there is very little money
about Cumberland. The money is not like our Eng-
lish money. An English guinea is £1 3s. 4d. In
Nova Scotia money a dollar is equal to 5 shillings,
and a pistereen is a shilling. In haying time men
have 3 shillings a day for mowing. The mosquitos
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will bite them very often so that they will throw
down their seythes and run home, almost bitten to
death, and there is a black fly worse than all the vest.
One 1s tormented all the smnmer with mosquitos, and
almost frozen to death in the winter. Last winter
they had what was veckoned to be a fine winter, and
the frost was not out of the ground on the 20th day
of June, which I will affirm for truth. I shall let you
know the affairs of the country another year, if God
spare life and health. Dear cousin, remember me to
my uncle and aunt and to all that ask after me.

“ From your well wisher,
“ Lrke Harrisox.

“ Direct your letters to John Harrison or Luke
Harrison, at the River & Bare, nigh Fort Cumberland,
Nova Scotia.”

“To Mg. Joux HaRRISoN,
“ Rillington, near Motton,
“ Yorkshire, England.
“ Macean River, N.S,,
“ June 24th, 1810.
“DEAR CoUsiN,—

“Long ago I have had it in agitation of writing to
you and now an opporbunity is just at hand, which I
gladly now embrace, hoping these lines will find
you and your family all in good health, as me and my
family are the same, thanks be to him that ruleth
over all. I am now going to give you a little sketch
of our country, of Bonny Nova Scotia, and the advan-
tages and disadvantages. I scttled here on this
river about 23 years ago, upon lands that had never
been cultivated, all a wilderness. We cut down the
wood of the land and burnt it off, and sowed it with



216 THE CHIGNECTO ISTHMUS.

wheat and rye, so that we have made out a very good
living. Here we make our own sugar, our own soap
and candles, and likewise our own clothing. We
spin and weave our own linen and wool, and make
the biggest part of it into garments within our own
family. This, I suppose, you will think strange, Lut
it is mercly for want of settlers and more mechanies
of different branches. There were twenty-five peti-
tioned to the Government for new lands when I
settled here, and we all drew 500 acres of land each.
I bought 500 acres, joining mine, which cost me
about eighteen pounds, and my part of the grant
cost eight pounds. I have lived on it ever since and
malke out a very good living. We milk ten cows,
keep one yoke of oxen, three horses, betwixt twenty
and thirty sheep. I do not doubt but that in the run
of ten years more I shall be able to milk twenty cows.
We generally kill every fall six or eight hogs. We
use betwixt four hundred and five hundred pounds of
sugar every year for tea and other necessaries.
The disadvantage we have here is in the winters
being so long. There is six months to fodder our
cattle, and what is worse than all the rest, the snow
falling so deep, sometimes four feet. The last three
or four winters have been very moderate, which we
think is owing to the country and woods being
cleared more away. We have very much trouble
with bears, as they destroy our sheep and cattle so
much.
“ JoHN HARRISON.

« N.B.—I have two sons, up young men. Pray send
them cach a good, industrious wife. Pray send out
a ship-load of young women, for there is great call

= for them that can card and spin. The wages are
from five to six shillivgs a week.”
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CHAPTER X,
TUE FIRST SETTLERS OF CUMBERLAND,

IN the carly part of the last eentury several emi-

grants from the Old Country found their way to
Prospect Farm, with whom family friendships were
formed and remained unbroken for many years. The
Davis family is one of these.

Daniel Davis came from a small town near Bristol,
England. He was a weaver by trade, but owing to
the introduction of the power loom in Great Britain,
which ruined the hand-loom industry, Mr. Davis came
to America in the hope of finding some other means
of gaining a livelihood. He with his wife and one
child came to Prince Edward Island in 1812. They
were greatly disappointed with the appearance of
things on the island, and Mrs. Davis says she cried
nearly all the time they stayed there. After a year
on the island Mr. Davis moved to Puint de Bute.
Although he was a small man and not accustomed to
farm work, he remained in Point de Bute for ten
years and made a good living for his increasing
family. At the end of that time he got a grant of
good land in Little Shemogue, on what is now called
the Davis Road. On this land Mr. Davis put up a
log house and moved his family there. After under-
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going most of the privations incidental to such an
experienee, success came, and with it a comfortable
and happy old age. In his later years Mr. Davis
made a trip to his old home in England, and reeeived
a substantial legacy that awaited him there. He
had a family of ten children, five sons and five
daughters. Henry, the second son, was a member of
the family at Prospect for fourtcen years, and came
to be looked upon almost as a son. John settled in
Leicester, N.S., and was a successful farmer, with a
large family. One son is a Methodist minister in the
Nova Scotia Conference, and another is stipendiary
magistrate for the town of Ambherst.

Henry Davis was a miller, and settled first in
Amherst. One of his sons, T. T. Davis, is a professor
in a western College. The other sons of Daniel Davis
were farmers, two of whom remained at the old home
in Shemogue, where some of their descendants still
live.

John Woods was another of the carly emigrants
who found his way to Prospect. He was a Manx-
man. After & time he bought a farm at Tidnish, N.S.,
and subsequently moved to the Gulf 3hore, Wallace.
Mr. Woods visited Prospect Farm in the seventies,
and was greatly delighted to see the old place again.

Samson Clark was also a member of the family for
a time. He was a brother of the late Alexander
Clark, D.D. When he left Prospect he located on a
farm on what he called the “Roadside,” back of
Ambherst, N.§, now Salem. Samson, although a
strong man physically, and with plenty of brains,
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did not make life a success. He became blind in his
later years, and never prospered financially.  Politi-
cally Mr. Clark would stand for a countryman of his
who, when asked soon after landing in America
what his polities were, answered, “Is there a gov-
ernment here ¢” He was told that there was. “Then,”
said he, “I'mag’in the government.”

Isaae Vandegrift came from Halifax to Point de
Bute. His mother was a widow. He married Miriam
Smith, from Sackville, and the ceremony took place
ab the “ Brick House,” Prospect. Isaacsettled at Hall's
Hill, but afterward moved back to Point de Bute.
He was an excellent ploughman, and was one of the
drovers north when the Richibucte nad Miramichi
markets were supplied with beef 1rom the Westmore-
land marshes. He contracted corsumption and died
comparatively young. Mrs. kdward Jones, of Point
de Bute, is the only one of his five children now living.

A family named Ireland came to Prospect early in
the century, and Mr. Trueman took some trouble in
assisting Mr. Ireland to locate. These entries are
found in the journal: “ May, 1811—Robert goes to
Amherst for Mr. Ircland’s goods,” and, later, Mr.
Trueman “goes with Mr. Ireland and Amos Fowler
to Westeock for aavice.” Mr Ireland moved to
King’s County, where he farmed for a time. Later
he went to Ontario. The late Hon. George Ryan,
when at Ottawa, met some members of the Ireland
family and renewed old acquaintanceship after a
separation of forty years.
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CoLrrrTs.

Extracts from the historical paper read at the
re-union of the Colpitts family in Coverdale, Albert
County, Sept. 6th, 1900:

“In the spring of 1783, immediately after the close
of the Revolutionary War, there came to Halifax, from
Newcastle-on-Tyne, England, a tall, stalwart English-
man with his wife and family of seven children. The
name of the man was Robert Colpitts, as far as we
know the only one of the name to come out from the
Mother Country, and the progenitor of all on this side
of the Atlantic who bear the name.  What his oceu-
pation or position in society was before his emigra-
tion we can only conjecture. Strange to say, there
does not exist a scrap of writing which throws any
light on these questions, and tradition is almost equally
at fault. Later in life Robert Colpitts was a captain
of militia, and it is thought he had some conneetion
with the army before his emigration. Whatever his
occupation was he must have been possessed of some
means, as among the articles brought from England
were things which would be counted as luxuries
rathor than necessities for a new settler among the
wilds of New Brunswick. For instance, among these
articles were three large clocks.

“Tradition says that this was not his first visit to
Canada.  Before the outbreak of the American
Revolution he had been over, it is believed, in connec-
tion with a survey of the Bay of Fundy. At this
time he had made a small clearing on what is now
the Charles Trites’ farm, in Coverdale, and put up a
small cabin on the place. He then returned to
Newcastle-on-Tyne, and closed up his business
with the expectation of returning with his family.
In the meantime the war between England and her



THE FIRST SEITLERS OF CUMBERLAND. 221

American colonies had broken out, and he could not
reach Nova Scotia until the trouble was settled, which
was not for seven years. For a part of this time the
family had charge of a toll bridge near Newecastle.
The following incident is declared to have actually
occurred while they were keeping the toll bridge. A
large man, riding a very small donkey, one day came
up to the bridge and asked the amount of the toll.
The charge was more than he felt inclined to pay, so
he asked what would it be for a man with a load.
Finding that it was considerably less he at once laid
down the smaller sum, picked up the donkey in his
arms, and walked over the bridge. From Halifax
Mr. Colpitts and the two oldest boys made their way
overland, walking the most of the way from there to
Moncton, while the others eame in a vessel soon after-
wards. When they reached Coverdale the land he
had improved had been pre-empted, and Mr. Colpitts
had to push on. He settled at Little River, five miles
from its mouth.”

The writer, after giving a fuller account of the
family, says: “ It is, we freely confess, the history of
a race of humble farmers, and such, for the most part,
have been their descenda: ‘s; no one of the name has
yet occupied a prominent place in the publie life of
our country. But the name has always been an
honorable one, and those who have borne it have been,
with few esceptions, honest, God-fearing, God-
honoring men and women.”

Mr. James Colpitts, of Point de Bute, is a great-
grandson of Mr. Robert Colpitts.
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MoNRro.

Alexander Monro was born in Banff, Scotland. His
father, John Monro, and family came from Aberdeen
to Miramichi, New Brunswick, in 1815. He remained
in Miramichi three years and then moved to Bay
Verte. The next move was to Mount Whatley, and,
after a few years stay there, Mr. Monro purchased a
wilderness lot on Bay Verte Road, to which they re-
moved, and after years of strenuous labor made for
themselves a comfortable home.

It was from Mr. Robert King, school master—
referred to in another part of this book—that the
son, Alexander Monro, received the inspiration and
training that started him on the road to success in
life. His biographer says: “ When he was twenty-
one years of age a Mr. Robert King came into the
district to take charge of the school, and under his
care young Monro studied in the winter evenings
geometry, algebra and land surveying. Mr. King
possessed a surveying compass, and gave him practical
instruction in land surveying, leading him to decide
to follow that business.

Mr. Monro obtained a recommendation from Dr.
Smith, of Fort Camberland, and others, and in the year
1837 went to Fredericton to obtain an appointment
from the Hon. Thomas Baillie, then Surveyor-General
of the Province. Mr. Baillic complimented him on his
atlainments, but refused to appoint him to the office.
When Mr. Monro got back to St. John he had but two
shillings in his pocket, and with this meagre sum he
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started on foot for home. Before he had gone far he
found a job of masonry work and earned fifteen
shillings.  With this money he returned to St. John,
and purchased Gibson's “ Land Surveying " and some
cakes for lunch, and set out again for Westmoreland.
On the way he worked a day at digging potatoes, for
which he received two shillings, and later on built a
chimney and was paid two pounds.

The next year Mr. Monro received the appointment
of Deputy Crown Land Surveyor. In 1848 he was
made a Justice of the Peace, and was the sur-
veyor to run the boundary line between Nova
Scotia and New Brunswick. He was the author of a
number of works, onec on Land Surveying, also onc
on the “ History, Geography and Productions of New
Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island.”
For a number of years he edited an educational
monthly magazine called the Parish School Adrocute.
His biographer adds: “Such is the life and labors of
one of our foremost and most useful citizens, and if
there is a moral to be read from it, it is this, that to
make a man of cultured tastes, a student, a scholar
and a publicist of acknowledged rank and value in
the country, universities with their libraries and en-
dowments arec not absolutely nceessary: social
position, influential connection and wealth are not
necessary. Without such adventitious aids, what is
wanted is a native taste for rescarch and inquiry, and
a determination of character superior to environment.”
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PALMER—EKNAPP.

The Palmers and Knapps were Loyalists. C. E.
Knapp, a grandson of Loyalist Knapp, writes: “The
largest part of Staten Island, New York, should have
been the possession of the Palmers of Westmoreland.
Their ancestor, John Paliner, who was by profession
a lawyer, moved from New York to Staten Island.
He had been appointed one of the first judges of the
New York Court of Oyer and Terminer. He was
also a member of the Governor's Council, and after-
wards Sheriff.  When the Revolutionary War broke
out his son Gideon held the commission of captain in
Delancy’s Rangers, and when the war terminated he,
in common with the other Loyalists, had to leave the
country.”

Together with his brother-in-arms, Titus Knapp,
John Palmer found a new home at Old Fort Cumber-
land, where they commenced business as general
traders. They purchased adjoining farms, and these
still go by the name of the “Knapp and Palmer farms.”
Mr. Palmer afterwards moved to Dorchester Cape,
induced to do so because it reininded him of his old
home in New York. Palmer and Knapp must have
found their loyalty expensive, as their confiscated
property is now worth untold millions. In M.
Knapp’s case it was not so bad, as his property went
to his half-brother, who, fortunately for him, was a
Quaker and did not “ fight.”

The Palmers have taken a prominent place in the
history of New Brunswick. Mr. Gideon Palmer, a
son of Gideon (first), was one of the successful ship-
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builders of Dorchester in the fifties, and Philip,
another son, was for some years a member of the New
Brunswick Legislature. The late Judge Palmer, of
St. John, was a son of Philip Palmer. '

Charles E. Knapp, barrister, of Dorchester, is elerk
of the Probate Court, and one of the oldest practising
lawyers of Westmoreland. My, Titus Knapp repre-
sented the county for some time in the Legislature of
New Brunswick, and for many years did a large
trading business at Westmoreland Point.

HARPER.

Christopher Harper was born in asmall village near
Hull, in Yorkshire. He emigrated to Nova Seotia in
1774, bringing his family and his nephew, Thomas
King, with him. He arrived at Fort Cumberland on
a fine day in May, and his surprise was great the nexi
morning to see the ground covered with snow. Mr.
Harper bought a property to the south-east of the
garrison lands, and moved his family into a house
said to have been built by the Acadians; but this is
very doubtful, as these people chose to burn their
dwellings rather than let them fall into the hands of
the English. Tradition says Mr. Harper brought
stock, both horses and cattle, with him from Yorkshire.

In 1777 Mr. Harper’s house and barn were burned by
the Eddy rebels, and soon after the Loyalists came to
Nova Scotia he sold his property at the fort to his
son-in-law, Gideon Palmer, and moved to Sackville,
having purchased land near Morris’s Mills. Tt is said

he came into possession of this property through
15
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prosecuting one Ayer and others for setting fire to
his buildings at Fort Cumberland. In 1809 he
obtained a grant from the Government at Fredericton
of the mill-pond, and some two hundred or three
hundred aeres of wilderness land in Sackville, includ-
ing about forty acres of marsh on the cast side of the
Tantramar River, above Coles’s Island.

Mr. Harper had three sons and four daughters. His
son Christopher, who was a captain in the army in
early life, left for Quebee, via Richibucto and Mira-
michi, and was not heard from after leaving
Miramichi. Jobn married Miss Thornton (whose
father was a Loyalist), and after living at the mill for
a time moved to Dorchester. William married Phawbe
Haliday, from Cobequid, and built on the piace where
I. C. Harper, of Sackville, now lives; Catherine
married Gideon Palmer; Annie married Major Richard
Wilson, a north of Ireland man; Fannie married
Thomas King, and Charlotte married Bedtord
Boultonhouse.

Christopher Harper owned the first two-wheeled
chaise that was run in Westmoreland County. He
was a magistrate and used to solemnize marriage, and
sometimes officiated in the Chuxrch of England in the
absence of the rector.

The Harpers of Sackville and Bay Verte are descen-
dants of the two brothers, William and John.

ETTER—~\VETHERED.

The Etters and Wethereds were on the Isthmus very
shortly after 1755. I find that Samuel Wethered was
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married to Dorothy Eager, Nov. 26th, 1761, by license
from the Governunent. Dorothy Eager was a Scotch
lass from Dumfries. Murs. Atkinson, a grand-daughter,
has several pieces of fancy needlework done by Mrs.
Wethered. “Sarah Huston Wethered was born at
Cumberland, in the Province of Nova Scotia, June
10th, 1763, at ten o'clock in the morning. Joshua
Winslow Wethered was born at Cumberland, Nova
Scotia, in September, 1764, at ten o'clock in the
evening.”

Peter Etter was a jeweller and silversmith, and kept
a shop necar Fort Cumberland. He married Letitia
Patton, daughter of Mark Patton, and was brother-in-
law to Colonel John Allan.  Peter Etter was twice
married, his second wife being Sarah Wethered. He
was lost at sea in coming from Boston to Cumberland.
His widow became the second wife of Amos Fowler,
of Fowler’s Hill. Peter Efter (second) married
Elizabeth Wethered, and settled at Westmoreland, and
had a family of nine children, Bradley, Peter, Joshus,
Letitia, George, Maria, Samuel, James, snd Margaret.

The Etters are large marsh owners on the Aulac,
and the aboideau across that river takes its name—
the Etter Aboideau—irom Peter Etter, who was one of
the principal promoters of that work.

I find Jonathan Eddy's name among the customers
of jeweller Etter.  Mr. Eddy’s wateh must have been
Iike that of Artemus Ward’s, or he must have been
agent for others, judging from the amount of money
he annually paid for repairs.

The Etters were originally from Switzerland, and

PN




TR E aamreem

B

;
i

228 THE CHIGNECTO ISTHMUS.

were enzaged in making glass before coming to this
country.
CaHILL.

John R. Cahill was born in London, England, in the
year 1777. His father was a ship-owner, but decided
to educate his son for the Church. During a college
vacation young Cahill was sent as supercargo in
one of his father's ships bound for Halifax. On the
return voyage the vessel was wrecked on the coast
of Nova Scotia. All on board, however, were rescued
and brought back to Halifax. For reasons not now
known, Mr. Cahill remained on this side of the
Atlantic and engaged for a time in teaching school.
He married Miss ILesdernier, a sister of Mrs.
Richard John Uniacke, and settled in Sackville as a
farmer. They had a family of eleven, and Mr. Cahill
received regular remittances from his father’s estate
as long as he lived. Because of his superior education
he was often called upon by his neighbors to assist
in transacting business of various kinds. Mr. Cahill
died in 1852. The late John E. Cahill, of Westmore-
land Point, was a son, and Walter Cahill, stipendiary
magistrate of Sackville, a grandson, of John R. Cahill.

SMITH.

There were two John Smiths who came from York-
shire and settled at Chignecto in the decade between
1770 and 1780.

One settled in Fort Lawrence and married Miss
Chapman. The Smiths of Fort Lawrence and Shine-
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micas are descendants of this family. William Smith
of Albert County, who married Parmelia Trueman,
was of this family.

The other John Smith settled near Fort Cumber-
land, bub remained only a short time. He incurred
the enmity of some of the outlaws in the neighbor-
hood, and as a result had his buildings burned, in
one of which a large quantity of goods was stored
that he had brought to the country. This so dis-
couraged him that he left the place and scttled at
Newport, N.S. David Smith, of Amherst, belongs to
this family. ’

OuLrox.

Charles Oulton, the first of the name to settle on
the Isthmus, came to Nova Scotia with his mother
in 1759. At this time Mrs. Oulton was a widow, but
before she had been here long she married Capt.
Sennacherib Martyn. Capt. Martyn had been with
Winslow at the capture of Beauséjour:

Young Oulton was seventeen years old when he
landed at Halifax. Shortly after this he came to
Cumberland, and his name is on the list of the first
grantces of Cumberland Township, in 1763. He
settled in Jolicure on the farm now in possession of
Joseph D. Wells; here, no doubt, his grant was located.

Charles Oulton married a Miss Fillimore, and they
had a family of twelve children, seven daunghters
and five sons. The children’s names were: William,
Charles, Thomas, George, Jane, Sally, Paticnce, Mary,
Charity, Abigal, Betsy, and a twelfth, who died young.
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William marricd a Miss Smith; Thomas a Miss
Trenholn : George a Miss King; Charity a Mr
Williams, of Fredericton; Abigal a Mr Tingley, of
Albert County, N.B.; Mary a Mr. Frank Siddall;
Patience a Mr. Smith ; Jane also married a Mr. Smith ;
Sarah a Mr. Fields; Betsy a Mr. Bulmer. A daugh-
ter of Mrs. Williams married a Mr. Fisher, also of
Tredericton, and they had five sons: Edwin, Henry,
George, Peter, and the late Judge Fisher.

George, the youngest son, inherited the homestead
in Jolicure, and was for many years one of the lead-
ing men in the parish. He married Miss King, of
Westmoreland Point, by whom he had three sons:
Thomas E., Cyrus, and Rufus. Squire Oulton, as
George was usually called, was one of the most genial
of men. In figure he was tall and straight. He had
an open countenance, a quick step, a hearty laugh,
and a pleasant “good morning” for everyone. He
was just the k'nd of man to make friends. He
enjoyed a good honest horse-race, and was always
ready to bet a beaver hat on any test question that
gave a chance of settlement in that way. Anincident
is told of him in connection with a trip made by his
son Cyrus, which gives one a good idea of the man.
It wascustomary before the days of railroads for the
farmers and traders in Westmoreland to send teams
loaded with produce as far north as Miramichi.
These trips were generally made in the early winter,
and butter, cheese, woollen cloth, socks, mittens, ete.,
found a ready market. The journey usually lasted
ten days or more. Cyrus was scnt by his father,
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Squire Oulton, on one of these journeys. A storm
delayed the party, and more than the usual time was
consumed before the return. When Cyrus returned
he was not particularly prompt in reporting the sue-
cess of the transaction to headquarters. At last his
father asked him about the returns, and Cyrus said -
“ Well, to tell you the truth, father, I did not bring
any money back with me. I met a number of good
fellows and had to stand my shave with the others,
_and the money is all gone.” There was silence for a
minute and then the Squire replied, “ That is right,
Cyrus, always be a man among men.”  That was the
last of the affair, but it is probable that Mr. Oulton
chose some other agent to market the next load of
produce.

In later years Cyrus used to enjoy telling the fol-
lowing story, based on one of his boyish experiences:
“ His father had been trying to buy a pair of cattle
from Mr. Harper, in Sackville. They could not agree
on the price, and Mr. Oulton had come away without
purchasing. The next day he decided to send Cyrus
over to get the oxen, with instructions to offer Mr.
Harper twenty seven pounds for them, but if he
would not take it, to give him twenty-eight. Cyrus
started away on horseback, in great spirits, full of
the importance of his mission. He rode as quickly
as possible to Mr. Harper’s, and as soon as he saw that
gentleman delivered at once his full instructions, that
his father wanted the cattle, and if he would not
take twenty-seven pounds for them he would give
him twenty-eight. Cyrus got the cattle, but not for
twenty-seven pounds.”

| A PP S
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The Oulton name is largely represented in Jolicure
at the present time, and most of those who bear it are
energetic, industrious, and successful farmers. A few
of the name have tried other professions and have
succeeded. Geo. J. Oulton, Principal of the Moncton
Schools, and one of the most capable teachers in the
Province, is a Jolicure boy, and a descendant of
Charles Oulton.

KEILLOR.

Thomas Keillor camé to Nova Scotia from Skelton,
Yorkshire, in 1774. His wife’s maiden name was
Mary Thompson. He settled near Fort Cumberland,
on the farm now known as the “ Fowler homestead.”

Mr. Keillor had five children—three sons, John,
Thomas and Thompson, and two daughters, Elizabeth
and Ann. John married a Miss Weldon and settled in
Dorchester, where he and his descendnts occupied a
prominent place for many years. The name became
extinet in that parish in 1899 at the death of Mus.
Thomas Keillor.

Thomas married a Miss Trenholm and settled at
Ambherst Point. He had a number of sons. Several
of the family moved to Ontario. Robert married a
Miss Dobson and remained on the homestead. His
descendants still own the farm at Awmbherst Point.
Coates married a Miss Jones and settled at Upper
Point de Bute. His second wife was a widow from
Miramichi. One of Coates’s sons moved to Upper
Canada, and the name is still found there. Some of
the descendants, but none of the name, now live in
Point de Bute.
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Thompson died when a young man fromn a severe
cold caught while hauling wood from the fakes. Ann
married Amos Fowler, and Elizabeth married Willian
Trueman, as stated in another place.

The Keillors were men of integrity, with a good
deal of combativeness in their make up, and not noted
for polished address. The following story is told of
one of the Keillor boys: One morning when taking
a load of pork to the fort, at the time the Eddy rebels
were at Camp Hill, he was met by a young man on
horseback. The young man, after eliciting from Mr.
Keillor where he was taking the pork, ordered him
to turn about and take it to the rebel camp. This
Mr. Keillor refused to do point blank. In the parley
and skirmish that followed Mr. Keillor managed to
dehorse his man, bind him on the sled, and forthwith
delivered him safely at the fort with his carcasses of
pork. The young man proved to be Richard John
Uniacke, who afterwards became onc of the most
celebrated of Nova Scotia’s public men. In after
years, when Mr. Uniacke had become Attorney-
General of Nova Scotia, an able lawyer, and & good
loyal subject, he was conducting a case in the Am-
herst Court-house. This same M. Keillor was called
forward as a witness, and during the cross-examina-
tion, when things were probably getting a little un-
comfortable for the witness, he ventured to say to
Mr. Uniacke:

“T think we have met before, sir.”

Mr. Uniacke replied rather haughtily, “ You have
the advantage of me, I believe.”
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“And it is not the first time I have had the advan-
tage of you,” replied Mr. Keillor.

“When was this 2” asked Mr. Uniacke, in a tone
that showed how fully he considered himself the
master of the situation.

Mr. Keillor replied, “ At the time of the rebellion,
when I delivered you, a rebel and a prisoner, to the
fort along with my pork.”

It is said that the Attorney-General left the further
conduct of the case to his subordinates.

Thomas, the brother who settled in Amherst, was
once warned as a juryman to attend court, to be held
in a building little better than a barn. When M.
Keillor was chosen on a cause, and came forward to
the desk to be sworn, he refused absolutely to take
the oath. When remonstrated with, he said, “I will
never consent to hold the King’s Court in a barn.”
And this juryman, who was so zealous of the King’s
honor, was allowed to have his own way. The out-
come of this was that soon after the county erected
at Amherst a suitable building for a court-house.

WARD.

The name Ward was early on the Isthmus. Nehe-
miah was one of the first grantces of Cumberland.
Jonathan Ward, the first to settle in Point de Bute,
came from New England in 1760. It is said his
coming to this country was occasioned by his falling
in love with a young lady whose parents objected to
his becoming their son-in-law. The lady, however,
was willing to accept her lover without the parents’
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consent. An elopement was planned and carried out,
the young couple coming to Cumberland to set up
housekeeping. Mrs. Ward did not live very long
after her mariage, and left a young daughter. This
daughter was twice married, first to a Mr. Reynolds,
and after his death to an Englishman named Merrill.
From this union came the Merrills of Sackville, a
name quite common in that parish seventy-five years
ago, but now extinct.

Jonathan Ward married, as his second wife, Tabitha
——, a young woman who accompanied his first wife
when she left her home in New Haven. They settled
in Upper Point de Bute, and lived to a great age, Mr.
Ward being ninety-six at his death. Stephen, the
only sor, inherited the home place and married a
Miss Folsom. The Folsoms were from New York,
and one of them came to Prince Edward Island to
attend to business for the firm. While there he mar-
ried. Soon after this event Mr. Folsom seems to have
been caught by the land craze that few men escaped at
that date, and got a large grant of land in Antigonishe
County, Nova Scotia. Before they got fairly settled
in their new home, Mrs. Folsom died, leaving a
daughter. Mr. Folsom soon after left his grant of land
and with his little daughter came to Fort Cumberland.
Leaving her with friends he went away and was
never heard of again. It was supposed he was lost
at sea.

The Wards were originally from Wales. Of
Stephen Ward's family, Henry and William settled
at Point de Bute, and Nathaniel at Wood Point, N.B.




236 THE CHIGNECTO ISTHMUS.

Dickson.

Major Thomas Dickson, the first of the name on
the Isthmus, was one of the New England soldiers
present at the taking of Fort Beausdjour in 1755.
The family were originally from the north of Ireland,
and emigrated to the old colonies.

Major Dickson served under General Amherst, and
his family had in their possession up to a few years
ago a document in which General Amherst comihis-
sioned Major Dickson to do certain work that neces-
sitated great risk and skill if it were to be successful.

Thomas Dickson’s name is on the list of the first
grantees of Cumberland Township, and he received a
grant of a large block of land about a mile above
Point de Bute Corner, on which he afterward settled.
He married a Miss Wethered, and had a family of
ten children—James, Dalton, Thomas, Charles, John,
Robert, Nancy, Mary, Sarah, and Catherine. Mary
married a Mr. Harper, Nancy a Mr. Gleanie, Sarah a
brother of Col. John Allan, and after his death
Thomas Roach, Esq., of Fort Lawrence ; James married
Susanna Dickson, and remained on the homestead.
Of the other sons, Thomas Law settled in Amherst
and represented the county for some years in the
Provincial Legislature; Robert, Charles and John
entered the British navy. John was shot in an en-
gagement in the English Chsnnel. Robert was
drowned in Shelburne Harbor. His vessel was lying
in the stream, and he, while in the town, laid a wager
that he could swim to the ship. He attempted it, but
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lost his life in the effort. Charles left the navy
and settled in Machias, where he left a large family.

Shortly before the capture of Quebee, Major Dick-
son was sent out from Fort Cumberiand to disperse a
<and of Acadians who had bec.a reported by one of
their number as camping near the Jolicure Lakes
with the obJect of raiding the settlers. The Major
with his men started out in pursuit, the IFrenchman
acting as guide. The camp was found deserted, and
the party started on the return home. When they
reached the Le Coup stream, an affluent of the Aulae,
they found the tide had risen so much that they were
unable to proceed farther in that direction, so turning
to the left, they followed the main stream to where
there was a crossing. While preparing to ford the
stream they were suddenly fired upon by the Aco-
dians, who where in hiding behind the dyke. All
the party were killed save Major Dickson and the
Acadian guide. Both were made prisoners, and as
soon as the woods was reached the Acadian was
scalped and the Englishman was told that he “must
walk alone.”

Then starting north they made only necessary
stops until they reached Three Rivers, in Quebec.
Here the Major was handed over to the French officer
in charge at that place, and was put under guard, but
trea,ted well, as had been the case on the journey from
Nova Scotia. Possibly roasted muskrat would not
be considered an appetizing diet, but the major found
it kept away hunger, and that was no small consid-
eration in a journcy of five hundred miles without a
commissariat department.
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The prisoner had not been many days at Three
Rivers when he received word that Quebec had been
taken by the English, and he was again a free man.
He soon made his way back to Fort Cumberland, and
was present at the defence of the fort during the
attack of the Eddy rebels and did good service on
that day.

The Dicksons were men who thought for them-
selves. James, a son of the first James, was a teacher
for a time, and in his later years did all the convey-
ancing in the neighborhood, such as the writing of
deeds and wills. He was an omnivorous reader, and,
like Silas Wegg, was inclined to “ drop into poetry.”
Some of his efforts in this direction on local happen-
ings caught the ear and had the ring that stirred the
emotions. Titus, the only grandson of the major,
lives on the old farm, and though eighty-three years
of age, is still vigorous in mind. The writer is in-
debted to him for some of the facts given in this
sketch.

ATKINSON.

There were two Atkinson families that came to
Nova Scotia about the year 1774, one from Middlesex,
the other from Yorkshire.

The Middlesex family settled in Fort Lawrence.
Capt. S. B. Atkinson, a descendant of this family,
writes: “ My great-grandfather was a man of consid-
erable substance in the County of Middlesex, Eng-
land, known as gentleman farmer, and dubbed
“Esquire.” The tradition is he married a Lord’s
daughter, whose title would be Lady , and as
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her family would not recognize either her or her
husband, they left the country in disgust.”

Mr. Atkinson came to Nova Scotia alone in 1774,
and prospected the Province. It was a_ beautiful
summer and autuinn, and he was delighted with the
country. After securing a grant of land in Fort
Lawrence, in the old Township of Cumberland, he
returned to England and made arrangements to move
his family to his new domain the following spring.
To accornplish this he chartered the good ship
Arethuse, and put on board of her his family and
farm tenants, all of his belongings, household goods,
and farming utensils, and after his safe arrival in
Nova Scotia, located on what is now known as the
Torry Bent farm.

Capt. Atkinson, in his letter, gives some interesting
information relative to the family after settling in
thiscountry. He says: “ My grandfather’s name was
Robert. He was the sailor of the family. He served
his apprenticeship to the sea out of England, and
followed his father to America, sailing as master prior
to 1800.” His wife was Sarah, daughter of Obediah
Ayer, generally known as Commodore Ayer, noted
Yankee rebel, one of two brothers from Massa-
chusetts.

Mr. Ayer held an officer’s commission in Washing-
ton’s army in 1776, and was also Commodore of a
privateer out of Boston in 1812. In consideration of
his service in the war of 1776, the United States
Government gave him a grant of land in Ohio, at
that time one of the territories. Some years ago his
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heirs undertook to look up the records, but found
they had been burned in the Capitol during the War
of 1812. “Only for that little incident,” Capt.
Atkinson says, “I might have owned the site where
Cleveland now stands or otherwise—probably other-
wise.”

For services in 1812 Commodore Ayer was granted
a pension, but died before any payments were made
to him. His necarest connections, however, received
two hundred dollars a year as long they lived.

Capt. Robert Atkinson sailed his last voyage, from
Kingston to Jamaica, in 1804, and died at that port of
yellow fever. His widow returned to Sackville,leav-
ing her son Edwin, their only child, with his grand-
father in Fort Lawrence, where he remained until he
was twenty-one years of age.

Mr. Atkinson had three sons besides Robert, who
lived with him in Fort Lawrence. Thomas moved
to Kent County, where his descendants still live.
Willian and John remained in Fort Lawrence, and
the Atkinsons there now are descended from these
brothers. Capt. Stephen Atkinson, from whom most
of the information about the family has been obtained,
is a master mariner. and has commanded some fine
ships in his day. He has now given up the sea and
spends a part of his time in Sackville.

The Atkinson family from Yorkshire settled first
at River Hebert, Cumberland County, N.S. Rebert
was the founder of the family. He did not remain
in River Hebert for any length of time, but purchased
a farm in Sackville, and moved his family there.
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This farm was afterwards sold by his son Chris-
topher, and is now the site of the Mount Allison
educational institutions.

Robert was married and had three children when
he came to Nova Scotia. He was twice married, and
was the father of fourteen children. Thomas, Chris-
topher, Elizabeth, Sallie, Joseph, Robert, William,
John and Stephen were the names of the first family.
Several of the sons settled in Sackville. Christopher,
after selling his property in Sackville, purchased a
farm in Point de Bute, and moved to that place. He
had a large family of boys. Robert (second) moved
to Shediac. One brother went o the United States
and joined the Latter-Day Saints. Joseph married
Ann Campbell, the daughter of Lieutenant Campbell,
a Waterloo soldier, and settled at Wood Point. They
had ten children, six sons and four daughters. Isaac,
Nelson, Hance, William and Joseph all became
master mariners, and were fine navigators. Woe be
to the sailor who fell into their hands and did not
know his duty or refused to perform it!

The family still have in their possession their ances-
tor Campbell’s sword and some other relics belonging
to the old soldier.

The Atkinsons have always been a strong, vigorous
and self-reliant family, and have made a good record
in this new country.

LOWERISON.

The following information regarding the Tower-
isons was secured chielly from Robert Lowerison, of
16
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Sackville, a great-grandson of the first Richard Low-
erison.

Richard Lowerison, the first to come to America,
was born in Yorkshire, England, in the year 1741,
and married Mary Grey in 1762. Ten years later
Mr. Lowerison sailed from Liverpool, Eng., bound for
Halifax, where he landed on the 1st of May. He
settled on the Petitcodiac River, in Westmoreland
County, N.B, but the frequent raids made by the
Eddy rebels in that district caused him to purchase
and remove to a farm adjoining the western bounds
of the Garrison lands of Fort Cumberland. The
buildings first erected by him have long since dis-
appeared. The farm has been occupied by his son
Thomas, by his grandson James, and at present by
William Miner.

Six children survived Richard and Mary Grey
Lowerison—Elizabeth, who married William Don-
caster, and settled at Amherst Point; Anne, who
married John Carter, and settled east of Fort Cum-
berland ; Thomas, who married Hannah Carter, and
occupied the homestead; Richard, who wmarried
Abigail Merrill, and after spending twelve years
between the old home, Amherst Point, and Mapleton,
moved to Frosty Hollow, Sackville, on September
18th, 1817, on the farm now occupied by his son,
Thomas Lowerison, and his grandson, Bradford
Carter; Joseph, the third son of Richard, married
" Mary Siddalland settled near Mount Whatley, about
two miles from the homestead.  Mary married James
Carter, who for a time kept a public house in Dor-
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chester, but afterwards moved to Ambherst, Nova
Scotia.

Richard Lowerison and his wife attended the
Methodist church in Point de Bute, as may be seen
in the deed given by William Chapman to John
Wesley. He acted as precentor in the old stone
“ Mecting House” He died February 24th, 1825, and
was buried in the Point de Bute Cemetery. Mary
Grey Lowerison, born in the East Riding of York-
shire, England, died September 16th, 1834, and lies
beside her husband.

Mr. Lowerison must have had some means when
he came to the country, for while living near Fort
Cumberland he did an extensive business in sending
beef cattle to Halifax. His partner for a time was a
man named Rice. He seems first to have deceived
Mr. Lowerison, and then robbed him by running
away with the proceeds of three droves of cattle,
leaving Mr. Lowerison accountable for the -cattle,
with no cash on hand to meet the bills. The worry
from this affected his mind to such an extent that he
never fully recovered. The Lowerison name, until
quite recently, was pronounced as if spelled Law-
rence. The family has not increased greatly in the
new country.  Although the sons had large families,
there are very few grandchildren. Robert Lowerison,
of Sackville, is the only living member of a large
family. Captain Richard Lowerison, of Amherst, is
a descendant.  Captain Thomas, Joseph, and Siddall,
grandsons of Richard, represent the name at West-
morcland Point.
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The Lowerisons were always understood to be men
of their word.

FILLIMORE.

John Fillimore came from New England to Fort
Lawrence, N.S, in 1763, and soon after settled in
Jolicure. He had a number of sons, two of whom,
John and Spiller, settled at home—John on the home-
stead, and Spiller on'an adjoining farm.

At the close of the Revolutionary War, Spiller sold
his farm and returned to the United States. John
married Jemima Tingley, of Sackville, and had a
family of twelve children. W. C. Fillimore, of West-
moreland Point, and Lewis Fillimore, of Amherst, are
grandsons of John.

The Fillimores came originally from Manchester,
England, to Long Island, New York.  Captain
John, father of John, who came to Nova Scotia, was
once commissioned by the State of Counecticut to
clear the coast of pirates, who were causing a good
deal of trouble at the time. So well did Captain
Fillimore perform the duty that the town of Nor-
wich presented him with a handsome cane as a mark
of their appreciation of his services. This cane is
still in possession of the family.

The Fillimores are a long-lived race of men, and
have shown themselves well able to hold their own
in the competition of life. The name has given a
president to the United States.
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MINER.

Sylvanus Miney, the first of the name on the
Isthmus, was of New England stock. He and Robert
King, “Schoolmaster King,” as he was generally
called, came from Windsor on foot to Mount Whatley,
N.B, about 1810. Mr. Miner’s father died when he
was 2 boy, and his mother apprenticed her son to a
blacksmith. His mother was a Miss Brownell, of
Jolicure.

When young Miner had completed his apprentice-
ship he came to Jolicure by invitation to see his
uncle, and afterwards settled at Mount Whatley. He
was twice married. His first wife was a Miss
Chureh, of Fort Lawrence; his second, Miss Styles,
from Truro, N.S. The sons, James, William and
Nathan, now represent the name at Mount Whatley.
Mr. Miner was an upright man, and successful in his
business of blacksmith and farmer.

Dosson.

The Dobsons were among the first of Yorkshire
emigrants to arrive in Nova Scotia. There were two
brothers, George and Richard. George brought with
him a wife and grown-up family. His daughter
Margaret was married to William Wells before the
family left England. Richard was a bachelor, and
tradition says he had been a soldier. George pur-
chased a farm in Upper Point de Bute. Neither of
the brothers lived long in their new home. Richard
died in February, 1773, and George in July of the

AL -
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same year. George’s will is dated the 24th July,
1773, and is recorded the 24th November by John
Huston. It is witnessed by Mark Patten and J.
Allen.

George had four sons, George, David, Richard and
John, and two unmarried daughters, Elizabeth
and Mary. George and John settled at Point de
Bute. Richard sold his share of the homestead to
John in 1795, and moved to Cape Tormentine, where
he secured a large tract of land and became one of
the substantial men of the place. A large number of
his descendants are in that locality at the present
time. The Dobsons, of Cape Breton, N.S, are
descendants of Richard. John sold his farm and
moved to Sussex, King’s Co., N.B. George Dobson, of
Sussex, is a grandson of John. David went to Hali-
fax. George remained on the homestead at Point de
Bute, and the Dobsons of Jolicure are descendants of
George by his son Abraham.

Mrs. Dobson, the widow of George (first) married
a Mr. Falkinther. He did not live long, and Mrs.
Falkinther, who was said to be a very fine looking
woman, had one of her grand-daughters to live with
her during the last years of her life. Her grand-
children called her “ Grandmother Forkey.”

“0ld Abe,” as Abraham was familiarly called, was
a character in his day. He used to make annual and
sometimes semi-annual trips to St. John to dispose of
his butter and farm products, and was the kind of
man to get all the enjoyment out of these journeys
that was in them. It was said that he had large {eet,
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and that carly in life one of them was run over by a
cart wheel, making it larger than the other. One
day, while sitting in a St. John hotel, with the smaller
foot forward, a man, noticing the size of it, said, “1
will make a bet that that is the largest foot in the
city.” “Done,” said Old Abe. The bet was made,
when Mr. Dobson brought forward the other foot and
won the wager.

Abraham was one of the best farmers in the town-
ship. He named his eldest son Isaac, and had Isaac
name his eldest son Jacob. Perhaps the likeness to
the old patriarch ended here. He had a large family
of boys, to all of whom he gave farms. His youngest
son, Robert, was drowned in the Missiquash Valley one
December morning as he was skating to his farm on
the Bay Verte Road.

The Dobsons were good men for a new country,
and did not take life too seriously. Jacob, Frank,
Alder, Alonzo and John Dobson and their fawmilies
represent the name now in Jolicure. Dr. Gay Dobson,
of Poughkeepsie, N.Y., U.S, is a descendant. John,
a brother of Abraham Dobson, left no sons.

JONES.

William Jones came from Wales. He was one of
the first settlers at Point de Bute Corner. He niarried
Mary Dobson, a daughter of George Dobson. They
had a large family. Ruth, their youngest daughter,
married Stephen Goodwin and lived on the homestead.
Stephen Goodwin came from St. John to Point de
Bute with his mother, who was a widow. She sub-

R
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sequently became the second wife of Christopher
Atkinson. By this marriage she had three sons,
George, Abel and Busby, and one daughter, Nancy,
who became the wife of John Faweett, Esq., of Upper
Sackville. J. H. Goodwin, of Point de Bute, is a son
of Stephen Goodwin.

TINGLEY.

Palmer Tingley emigrated from Kingston-on-the-
Thames to Malden, Mass., in 1666. Josiah Tingley, a
descendant, came to Sackville, N.B,, in 1763. William,
a grandson of Josiah Tingley, married Elizabeth
Horton and settled in Point de Bute in 1794. He
bought land from Josiah B. Throop. The witnesses
to the deed were Joseph and Ichabod Throop. Like
most of the early settlers, Mr. Tingley raised a large
family, and all his sons became farmers. Four of
them, John, Harris, Caleb, and William, settled near
their father. Josiah settled in Jolicure, Joshua at
Shemogue, and Issac at Point Midgic. There were
four daughters. Ann married Joseph Irvine, of
Tidnish; Mary, Cyrus MecCully, Amherst, N.S;
Helener, William McMorris, of Great Shemogue ; and
Margaret, Asa Read, also of Shemogue. There were
eleven children in all, and their longevity will surely
bear comparison with that of any family in Canada,
and is well worth recording:

John Tingley, born 1794, died 1874, aged 80.
Harris  © « 1795, « 1875, « 80.
Joshua ¢ “ 1797, « 1897, “« 100.
William © “ 1799, <« 1868, “ 69.
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Ann Tingley, born 1801, died 1881, aged 80.
Mary  « “ 1803, « 1890, « 87.

Josiah  « « 1807, « 1888, ¢ 8l.
Helener « “ 1809, still living in 1902,
aged 93.
Isaac « “ 1812, died 1891, aged 79.
Margaret « “ 1816, still living in 1902, aged
86.
Caleb  « “ 1803, died 1830, aged T5.

The Tingleys are generally adherents of the Baptist
Church. Robert, Obed, Harvey, William, Alfred and
Err are grandsons of William Tingley and represent
the name in Point de Bute and Jolicure.

SIDDALL.

Ralph Siddall came from Yorkshire to Nova Scotia
in 1772, and soon after, in company with Richard
Lowerison, settled at “The Bend,” now the town of
Moncton, N.B.  The Eddy rebels proving too strong
in that locality for the loyal Englishmen, they soon
returned to the protection of Fort Cumberland, and
eventually settled near the fort. Mr Siddall had a
family of five children—two sons, Ralph and Franeis,
and three daughters. The daugiters married, respec-
tively: Thomas Carter, Cook, and James
Deware. The Dewares of Jolicure belong to this
family. Ralph (second) married ——— Ayer and had
two sons, Edward and William, and three daughters.
William settled on Gray’s Road, near Wallace.
Edward remained on the homestead. One of the
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daughters married Joseph Lowerison, another
Ephraim Rayworth; one remained single. Francis
Siddall settled first on the farm now owned by James
Colpitts, near Point de Bute Corner, and married
Mary Oulton, by whom he had a family of five
children, Ralph, Stephen, Charles, Susan and Ex-
perience. Susan was twice married—first to Mariner
Teed, of Dorchester, N.B.,, second, to Hugh MecLeod.
The late John Teed, of Dorchester, was a son of
Mariner and Susan Teed. Experience married Wil-
liam Copp, of Bay Verte Road. The Copps were
from New England, and settled first in Jolicure.
Hiram, Harvey and Silas Copp, of Sackville, Albert
and George, of Bay Verte, are sons of William Copp.
Ralph Siddall (third) married Susan Oulton and re-
mained on the homestead at Westmoreland Point,
which he named “The Crow’s Nest.” Mrs. Sid-
dall is mnow living, at the age of eighty-six.
Charles married Louisa Chappell, of Bay Verte,
and is still living, at the ripe age of ninety-two
years. Godfrey and Bill, of Bay Verte, N.B, and
Charles, of Sackville, are his sons. Stephen mar-
ried a Miss Brown and had a large family. His
youngest son, George, is the only one living in the
vieinity of the old home. Stephen had a remarkable
memory, and greatly enjoyed a good sermon. He
followed the sea for a number of years. After settling
down at home, near Fort Cumberland, he was
* appointed to an office in the Customs, which he held
to his death. Few men could tell a story better than
Capt. Stephen Siddall.

i
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BROWNELL.

Rev. J. H. Brownell writes: “The present Brownell
family are unable to tell definitely when their grand-
father came to this country, but I find it recorded in
¢ A Biographical Sketch of the Loyalists, by Lorenzo
Sabine, in Vol. I, which I have by me, that in the
year 1783 two brothers came from Vermont to New
Brunswick. Joshua Brownell went to St. John, and
Jeremiah came to Westmoreland, and settled in Joli-
cure. He married Annie Copp. They were the parents
of nine children. Their names, etc., are as follows:
Aaron married, first, Vinie Dixon; they had one girl.
His second wife was Margaret Weldon; they had two
sons and five daughters. He settled in Dorchester.
John married Eunice Polly; they had two sons and
seven daughters. He settled in Jolicure.  Jeremiah
married Rebecca Dixon ; they had seven sons and six
daughters. He settled in Northport, N.S. Thomas
never married, and lived in Jolicure. William mar-
ried Annie Davis; they had five sons and five
daughters. He settled in Northport, N.S. Sarah
married Thomas Weldon. They lived in Jolicure for
a time, and then moved away. When Weldon died
Sarah came back and lived with Thomas. She had
six children, one son and five daughters. Edward
married Margaret Adams; they had thirteen children.
He settled in Jolicure. Annie married George Church;
they lived in Fort Lawrence, and had four sons and
five daughters, Lovinia married Jesse Church, and
lived in Point de Bute for a time, then moved to
Ambherst. They had five sons and seven daughters.”
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My information, up to the reccipt of this letter, was
very positive that Jeremiah Brownell came to Nova
Scotia in 1763, with the Fillimores and others, landing
at Fort Lawrence. The family were adherents of the
Presbyterian Church, and took an active part in
building and sustaining that chureh in Jolicure. The
name has given two ministers to the denomination,
Rev. J. H. Brownell, of Little Shemogue, N.B,, and
Rev. Hiram Brownell, of Northport, N.S.

Kina.

Thomas King came from a small village near Hull,
Yorkshire, with his uncle, Christopher Harper, in
1773. Before starting for America Mr. Harper hired
his nephew, who was a blacksmith, to work for him
for three years for forty pounds sterling. When Mr.
Harper found wages were high in this country, he
released his nephew from the bargain, and young
King worked several years in the Government
Armory at Fort Cumberland. He married his cousin,
Miss Harper, and they were the parents of six chil-
dren, one son and five daughters. The son, Thomas,
married a Miss Chandler; Jane married George
Oulton; Fanny Thomas Bowser; one remained single;
of the remaining two, one married Otho Read, and
the other Jesse Read. Thomas King (second) owned
a large farm that joined the Garrison land e had
a family of two daughters and four sons, . «wne, -——,

~ Watson, Edward, James and Samuel. None of the
sons, and but one of the daughters, married. Edward
and Samuel occupy the old place, and are the only
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members of the family now living. The « King boys,”
as they were called, were ‘well read and good eonver-
sationalists. James was a school-teacher in his carly
years, and had a local reputation as a mathematician.

RyaN.

Daniel Ryan came from Ircland to Nova Secotia
soon after the Expulsion, and settled near Point de
Bute Corner. He married a Miss Henry. They had
a family of eight—Daniel, Henry, James, William, and
four daughters One daughter married Joseph Black,
of Dorchester, N.B.; another married a Mr. MeBride;
another, William Trenholm, of Point de Rute. William
settled in Little Shemogue; Henry moved to Hastings,
Cumberland, N.S.; James married Christina Forster,
of Fort Lawrence, and lived for a time on the old place
About 1813 he moved to Millstream, King’s Co., N.B,,
where the family for many years occupied a prominent
place in public affairs.

OGDEN.

The Ogdens were U. E. Loyalists. Johu (first)
came from Long Island, New York, in 1790, and
settled in Sackville, N.B,, on the farm owned by the
late Bloomer Ogden. An uncle of John Ogden spent
the latter part of his life in prison rather than s wear
allegiance to the United States. John married Nancy
Fawecett, a daughter of Mr. John Fawecett, Sackville,
and had eight children—John, William, Henry,
Thomas, Bloomer, Robert, Ann and Jane.

John (second) settled in Port Elgin. Edward
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Ogden, of Sackville, is a son of John. Amos and
William of the same place are sons of Henry. The
late Henry Ogden, of Jolicure, was connected with
this family.

TowNSEND.

John Townsend came from Prince Edward Island
and settled in Upper Jolicure carly in the last century.
His descendants are living there now. The Town-
sends are of English descent.

RoBINSON.

The Robinsons were an English family that settled
in Cornwallis, N.S,, about 1780. Edmund Robinson,
a son, removed to Parrsboro’. His wife was Miss Rand,
a relative of the Rev. Silas Rand, the Miemac mission-
ary. John Robinson of Point de Bute is a grandson
of Edmund Robinson. ’

PHALEN.

John Phalen came early to this country. He was
educated for Holy Orders, but never entered the
Church as one of its ministers. He was married in
Halifax, and taught school in Point de Bute for a
number of ycars. His son, John C. Phalen, was a
member of the home of Thomas Trueman, of
Pomt de Bute.  Jehn married Prissilla Goodwin, of
Bay Verte, and had a large family. He settled at
Bay Verte. John Phalen, of Amherst, is son of
John C. Phalen. The Phalens of Westmoreland and
Cumberland Counties are descendants of John. One
of the name is in the Methodist ministry.
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WiLLiaM DAvVIDSON.

William Davidson came from Dumfries, Scotland,
to this country in company with James Amos, in
1820. Mr. Amos landed at Charlottetown, but after-
wards settled on the Murray Road, Botsford, and
Mr. Davidson on the Bay Verte Road, alongside of
John Monro. The Davidsons were a most intelli-
gent family. The late Hugh Davidson of Tidnish
was a member of this family and the Davidson
brothers of Tidnish are sons of Hugh and William.

TURNER.

William Turner, who settled in Bay Verte Road,
cane from *he United States about the year 1820
oi 1825. The Turners of Bay Verte are among his
lineal deseendants. Rev. E. C. Turner, of the New
Brunswick and FPrinee Edward Island Conference,
belongs to this family.

Roaci.

Thomas Roach was born in 1768, in Cork, Ireland,
where he spent his early years. He was cducated
for the priesthood, and could speak fluently in sev-
eral languages. About the year 1790 he accompanied
his father to Nova Scotia, and settled in Fort Lawrence.
The elder Mr. Roach did not remain long in Nova
Scotia, but pushed on to New York. His son never
heard from him alter they parted at Halifax.
Thomas Reach was very successful in business and
for many years was onc of the lealing men in the
Methodist Church on the Isthmus. He was clected
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a representative to the Provincial Parliament five
times in succession, and served the people in that
capacity from 1799 to 1826.

Mr. Roach was married four times. His family
of four sons and three daughters was the fruit of
his first marriage. Ruth, daughter of Charies Dixon,
Sackville, was his first wife; his seecond, Mys. Sarah
Allen; third, Mary Dixon, of Onslow, and his fourth,
Charlotte Wells. Mr. John Roach, of Nappan, and
Dr. Roach, of Tatamagouche, are grandsons of Thomas
Roach.

SILLIKER.

William Silliker was a U. E. Loyalist {rom Connec-
ticut, and came to Bedeque, P. E. Island, in 1783,
where he spent the last years of his life. His son,
William C. Silliker, moved to Bay Verte in the early
part of the last century. This son was a wmaster
mariner, and spent most of his life at seca. He mar-
ried Amelia Chappell, and had a family of three
children, two sons and one daughter. The Sillikers
of Bay Verte are descended from Captain Silliker.
Alderman Silliker of Amherst lso belongs to this
family.

HEewsoN.

James Hoytte H wson snd his mother came to
Nova Scotia in 1783 with a parby of Loyalists, and
settled in Wallace. His father, Richard Hewson, who
was an officer in the British army, was killed in a negro
insurrection in the south. Mrs. Hewson and her
young son were sent north to live with friends,
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which explains how they came to be with the Loyalists.
Mrs. Hewson’s maiden name was Hoytte. They soon
sold their property in Wallace and removed to Fort
Cumberland, then one of the centres of trade in
the new country. Here Mrs. Hewson opened a little
store and also taught a school, and her son worked as
clerk for Titus Knapp. Mrs. Hewson was suceess-
ful in her trade venture, and in 1796 she and her
son bought from Spiller Fillimore, his farm on Joli-
cure Point, which has been known ever since as the
Hewson farm. This property is still in possession of
the family, and has been the home of four genera-
tions. James Hewson married Jerusha Freeman, of
Anherst, and had six children—Richard married
Seraphina Bent, of Fort Lawrence, and live:d at River
Philip, N.S.; James married Phebe Wry, and
remained in Jolicure: William married Elizabeth
Chandler, and inherited the homestead ; Olive mar-
ried George Darby, of Bedeque, P. E. Island;
Jerusha married George Baxzter, Land Surveyor,
and a Loyalist, and lived in Ambherst; Phebe max-
ried John Schurman, of River Philip, the grand-
father of President Schurman of Cornell University,
Ithaca, N.Y. John Hewson, of Jolicure, Dr. William
and Watson, of Point de Bute, and Dr. Charles Hew-
son, of Amherst, are sons of William Hewson.

REaD.

Several persons answering to the name of Read
came to the Isthmus soon after the Expulsion.

Thomas Read, who was one of the Yorkshire emigrants
17
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of 1774, settled on the River Hebert. In 1786
Eliphlet Read and Joseph Read were residents of
Sackville. In 1788 Stephen Read was one of the
Trustees of the Stone Church (Methodist), at Point de
Bute. In 1800 an Eliphlet Read lived in Jolicure.
He married a Miss Converse and had a large family.
Johnson Read, of Jolicure, and William Read* of
Ambherst, are grandsons of this Eliphlet.

Wry.

John Wry emigrated from Yorkshire to Nova
Scotia about 1780, and settled in Sackvillee. He
bought from William Maxwell the farm on which the
Brunswick House now stands and made his home
there. The Maxwells were from New England, and
had been in the country some years. John Wry
married a Miss Maxwell. The late Christopher Wry
of Jolicure was a son of John Wry. The Wrys of
Sackville are descendants of John.

Y

BoWwsSER.

Thomas Bowser was one of the Yorkshire emigra-
tion of 1774, and settled in Sackville. His son,
Thomas, married Fanny King, and lived on Cole’s
Island. Arthur and Blair Bowser of Point de Bute
and John and Bliss of Jolicure are grandsons of
Thormas (second).

*Joseph Read, of Bay Verte, writes: William Read, from
New England, came to Sackville about the year 1760. His sons
were Benjamin, Joshua, Eliphalet, and William, the latter my
grandfather. Grandsons: Eliphalet, William, Jamcs, Caleb,
Harris, Asa, and John, the Jast mentioned being my father.



THE FIRST SETTLERS OF CUMBERLAND. 259

LOWTHER.

Tradition says that the Lowther name was brought
to England by one Colonel Lowther, in 1688. This
Colonel Lowther was one of the trusted soldiers that
the Prince of Orange brought with him from Holland,
and was afterwards allotted an estate in Devonshire.
From there the family spread to other parts of Eng-
land. William Lowther, who settled in Westmore-
land, N.B., came from Yorkshire, in 1817. He was
accornpanied by three brothers and one sister. The
three brothers and the sister settled in Cumberland
County, N.S. William had a family of nine children.
William (second), married Luey Chapman and settled
in Great Shemogue. George married Mary Pipes and
settled at the Head of Amherst. Mary married
Joseph Carter, of Point de Bute. Hannah married
Edward Smith, of Amherst Head. Sarah Thomasina
married Rufus Carter, of Point de Bute. Rufus first
married Sarah Pipes; his second wife was Elizabeth
Lowther. Jane married Richard Pipes, of Nappan.
Titus married Phoebe Carter, and remained in West-
moreland. Catherine married William Kever, and
went to Minnesota.

ALLAN.

Benjamin Allan was a Scotchman who came to
Cumberland from the United States about the time of
the Revolutionary War. There is evidence that he
was with Wolfe at the taking of Quebec. If so, he
was probably one of the disbanded British soldiers
that found their way to Canada at the close of Ameri-
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can War. He married a Miss Somers, of Petitcodiac,
at the Bend, and finally settled at Cape Tormentine.

Mrs. Allan was a very large woman, of pure Dutch
stock, with, it is said, a marked tendency to stand
upon her rights. Tradition also says that the pugi-
listic tendencies of the family were inherited from
the mother, as the father was a very quiet, meek-
mannered man. It might be that domestic felicity
was more likely to be attained by such a demeanor.
The Allan family consisted of eight sons and three
daughters—Ephraim, Jonas, James, Matthew, Liff,
Dan, George, and Ben were the names of the boys. It
is told of Matthew that once when he was “on a time,”
the press gang took him and his boor companion on
board a man-of-war and induced them to enlist.
When the young men came to themselves they were
in great trouble, and one night, when the ship was
lying near one of the West India Islands, they jumped
overboard with the hope of reaching the shore by
swimming. Allan succeeded, and after spending some
days on the island in hiding, he found a vessel which
brought him back to Halifax, from which place he
soon found his way home, none the worse for his ex-
perience. His companion was never heard from.
A great many of the name are now living at the Cape
where their ancestor first settled.

CHAPPELL.

The Chappells were early in the country. There
were two brothers, Eliphet and Jabez  Eliphet settled
at Bay Verte, and had a family of four sons and five
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daughters. George and Bill, two of his sons, married
sisters, Jane and Polly, daughters "of Wiiliam Wells,
of Point de Bute. Georse’s children were William,
George, Joshua, Watson, Susanna, Peggy, Maria, Ann,
Amelia, Almira and Jane. George married Betsy
Freeze ; Susanna, — Strang ; Peggy,John Rawarth;
Maria, Rufus Chappell; Amelia, Nelson Beckworth;
Ann, William Fawecett; Almira, Rufus Oulten, M.D.
Jane did not marry. Bill Chappell’s sons were Bill,
Rufus, James and Edwin. His daughters. Fanny
(Mrs. Capt. Crane), Matilda (Mrs. Edward Wood),
Caroline (Mrs. John Carey), Louisa (Mrs. Charles
Siddall).

The Chappells were a prominent family in Bay
Verte for many years, and have a good record there.
BerTs.

Three brothers by this name emigrated from Eng-
land to New York shortly before the Revolutionary
War, Twoof the brothers fought in that war on the
English side, and in 1783 came to Nova Scotia.
Isaac settled at Wallace, Cumberland, and his brother
settled on the Miramichi River, in New Brunswick,
where the name is still found. George Betts, of Point
de Bute, is a son of Benjamin and a grandson of the
brother who settled at Wallace.

IrvVIN.

Joseph Irvin was another of the North of Ireland
men that came to Old Cumberland early in the last
century. He settled first on the north-west side of
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the Point de Bute ridge, where the road makes
a slight angle to cross the marsh to Jolicure. Herehe
and his friend, Isaac Doherty, kept a store and built a
vessel. The locality was called Irvin’s Corner in the
early days. Mr. Irvin married Ann Tingley, and soon
after moved to Tidnish, where he spent the remainder
of his life asa farmer. His family consisted of seven
sons and three daughters. Three of his sons, Joseph,
Edwin and James, ‘'now represent the name in
Tidnish.
HayivLToN.

Robert Hamilton was born in Tyrone County, Ire-
land, and emigrated to New Brunswick in the year
1824, settling at Tidnish, He had a family of
four children, Gustavus, Mary, Eliza and Eleanor.
His son, Gustavus, married Eleanor Goodwin, and
remained on the home farm, which is now owned by
his son, Isaaec G. Hamilton. Rev. C. W. Hamilton, of
St. John, and Dr. Hamilton, of Montreual, are grand-
sons of Robert Hamilton. Robert Hamilton had a
brother, Gustavus, who was a Methodist local preacher,
and for many years was a valuable assistant to the
regular minister at Point de Bute when that circuit
included the present Bay Verte circuit.
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TorMER RESIDENTS oF OLD CUMBERLAXD, NONE OF
WHOSE DESCENDANTS OF THE NAME
Live THERE Now.

Burys.—John Burns was from Ireland. He came
to New Brunswick in the early part of the last cen-
tury, and settled at Mount Whatley. He married
a Miss Harrison, and had a family of six children.
He carried on a large and profitable mercantile busi-
ness for a number of years. There are none of the
name here ab present.

PacE—William Page lived at Mount Whatley for
some years in the early part of the last century, and
carried on quite an extensive business in wood-work
and dry goods.

SxiTH—Dr. Rufus Smith lived ncar Fort Cumter-
land and had a lerge medical practice on the Isthmus.
He belonged to one of the Loyalist families, and
represented the County of Westmoreland in the
Assembly at Frederieton for a perviod of tifteen years,
from 1816. His remains lie in the cemetery at Point
de Bute.

CHANDLER.—Col. Joshua Chandler, of New Haven,
graduated at Yale College in 1747. He was a member
of the Connecticut Legislature. Being loyal, he left
when Gen. Tryon, was obliged to evacuate that place.
His property was valued at £30,000 sterling, and was
confiscated. He settled with his family at Annapolis,
N.S. He and two daughters and a son were ship-
wrecked going from Digby to St. John, in March, 1787,
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The son was drowned in his efforts to swim to the
land, while the father and the two daughters perished
from cold and exposure after they had reached the
shore. The British Government allowed the surviving
children, Sarah, Mary, Thomas, Samuel and Charles,
each £1,000 sterling. Sarah married Wm. Botsford,
father of the late Judge Wm. Botsford, and grandfather
of Senator Botsford; Mary married Col. Joshua Upham,
afterwards Chief Justice of New Brunswick. Thomas
Chandler, M.P.P., a lawyer of eminence, died at Pictou.
His wife, Elizabeth Grant, was an aunt of Sam. Slick,
whose name was Thomas Chandler Haliburton.
Samuel Chandler was also in the Legislature of Nova
Scotia for many years, representing Colchester
County. Hemarried Susan Watson. His eldest son
was the late Judge James W. Chandler, of Westmore-
land, Charles H. Chandler was Sheriff of Cumberland
for thirty-eight years. Among his children were
Sheriff Joshua Chandler, of Ambherst, and the late
Lieutenant-Governor E. B. Chandler, of Dorchester.
The three sons of Col. Joshua Chandler in the early
part of the last century, lived in the township of
Cumberland for a time and conducted a general
trading business. Their brother-in-law, William
Botsford, was also a resident of the townsbip at the
same time.

McMonaGLES.—The McMonagles lived for a time in
Cumberland and afterwards moved to Sussex, where
the name is still found.
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Fors rErR.—George Forster was from Yorkshire and
settled in Amherst, N.S. One of his sons scltled
in Fort Lawrence, and another, Ralph, in Point de Bute.
Ralph subsequently went to Upper Canada. The
Forsters were Methodists, and it is doubtful if any
of that Yorkshire band of Bible loving men and
women equalled the Forsters in their veneiation for
the Word of God and its teachings as they under-
stood it.

CarEY.—The Careys belonged to the Scoteh-Irish
immigration that came to Eastern Canada between1815
and 1830. The family landed here about the year
1822. Robert settled near Halifax; John came to
New Brunswick and bought a property at Port Elgin,
near the village of Bay Verte, where he built a grist
and carding mill, and successfully conducted a large
business for many years. He married Caroline Chap-
pell and had a family of seven children. There are
some of the descendants, but none of the name living
in Bay Verte at thisdate. Leslie Carey, of Sackville,
and Everett Carey, of California, are grandsons of
John Carey.

DonEgRTy.

RexToN, KN, July 4th, 1902.
Dear Sir,—Yours to hand yesterday, and in reply
I have to state that the widow Doherty (my grand-
mother) left the Parish of Rag, County Donegal, Ire-
land, about the year 1820, and landed with her family
in Magudavie, walked to St. John, N.B,, and event-
ually got by schooner up to Great Village, N.S, ex-
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cept my father, William, who remained for some time
longer in St. John, but also got to Great Village, N.S,,
and gradually worked his way to Richibucto, where
he had an aunt (Mrs. John MecGregor, and sister to
Murs. Joseph Irvin, of Point de Bute or Tidnish). My
grandmother likely found her way for a time with
part of her large family to Point de Bute, where one
of her daughters (Jane) married Richard Jones, of
that place. One of her daughters (Mary) remained
in Nova Scotia and married George Spencer, and
after a number of years moved to Mill Branch, Kent,
N.B. Grisilda, the eldest daughter, married John
Reid, but I do not know when married, but they re-
sided in Mill Branch, Kent County, from my earliest
recollection. My father, Wiliiam, in time settled on
a farm on the main Richibucto River, and married
Nancy McLeland, of Great Village, N.S., a sister of
G. W. McLelland, who for many years represented
Colchester County in the House of Assembly at
Halifax. My father afterwards moved to the south
branch of the St. Nicholas River, Kent County, and
built an extensive establishment of mills, including
saw, grist and carding mills. Joseph Doherty, the
youngest of the family, located in Buctouche, where
he also established a mill property, now in possession
of John MecKee, but subsequently removed to Camp-
bellton. Isaac Doherty, the eldest of the family, came
to Canada some five years before his mother and the
rest of the family, and he and Joseph Irvin con-
ducted some trade with Newfoundland, and, I think,
built a ship somewhere about Tidnish or DBay

L.
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Verte. Isaac and Joseph married sisters, the former
Cynthia, and the latter Polly Wells.

After my father, William, got settled on the main
Richibucto River, his mother and youngest brother,
Joseph, resided with him; so I don’t think that the
family, except Isaac and Jane, remained very long
in Point de Bute. My grandfather’s name was Wil-
liam, but he never came to America. My grand-
mother’s maiden name was Marjorie Fetters. You
can see that the Doherty family, with the exception
of Isaac and Jane, were not actually settlers or per-
manent residents of Point de Bute. Both Isaac and
Jane (Mrs. Jones) are buried there. Perhaps the
Irvin family can add other facts to what I have
written. With kind remembrance to self and family,
I remain,

Yours very truly,

J. W. DoHERTY, M.D,
Howirp TRrUEMAN, Esq,
Prospect Farm,
Point de Bute.

LATER RESIDENTS oF WHAT Was THE OLD
TownsHIP OF CUMBERLAND.

McCreADY. — Hi1GeINs.—C. F. McCready’s and
David Higgins's ancestors were Loyalists. The
MecCreadys settled in King's County, N.B, and
Higgins, in Colchester, N.S.

SxowpoN.—The Snowdons were originally from
Wales, England.  Pickering Snowdon was a resident
of Sackville in 1786.
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SUTHERLAND.—James Sutherland is of Scotel blood.
Donald Sutherland, his grandfather, came from Suther-
landshire, Scotland, in 1818, and settled in Pictou
County, N.S.

BuLyER.—George Bulmer is a descendant of George
Bulmer, who came from Yorkshire in the ship Dule
of York in the spring of 1772, He came with his
brother-in-law, Williamn Freeze. The Bulmers are said
to be of Norman deseént.

FuLLerTOoN.—Douglas Fullerton’s grandfather was
a Scotchman, coming to Halifax about the year 1790.
He taught school for a number of years. He mar-
ried a Miss Peck and soon after settled down a: a
farmer in Parrsboro’, Cumberland County, N.S., where
many of his descendants live.

DovrLE—James Doyle’s grandfather came from
Ireland and settled at Five Islands, Colchester County,
N.S. '

Hicks—This nawme was early in Nova Scotia. I
find John Hicks in company with three others, pros-
pected Nova Scotia, in 1759, for prospective settlers,
from Rhodes Island and Connecticut, and decided to
take up lands at Pisquid or Windsor.  Josiah Hicks
was a resident of Sackville in 1786. The late Samuel
Hicks of Jolicure came to that place from Sackville
where the name is now in large number.

-
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